# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article	Subject	Page(s)
Article I	General Provisions	1-8
1.1	Definitions	1-2
1.2	Recognition	2
1.3	Nondiscrimination	
1.4	Information	3
1.5	Separability; Minimum Requirements; Negotiations	3-4
1.6	Association Use of Facilities and Services	
1.7	Agency Shop	
1.8	Dues or Service Fees Checkoff	
1.9	Faculty Orientation Week	
1.10	Complete Agreement	
1.11	No Strike or Lockout	
Article II	Management Rights	9
Article III	Faculty Participation in Academic Affairs	10-19
3.1	Departmental Affairs	
3.1.1	Bylaws	10-12
3.1.2	Department Heads	
3.1.3	Assistant and Associate Department Head	
3.2	College Level Affairs	13-14
3.2.1	College Advisory Councils	13
3.3	Academic Senate	14-15, 17
3.3.2	Educational Policy Committee	15-17
3.3.6	Faculty Review Committee	17
3.4	University-Wide Affairs	17
Article IV	Grievance Procedure	18-19
Article V	Faculty Personnel Policies	20-37
5.1	Academic Appointments	20-22
5.2	Academic Titles and Minimum Criteria	
	for Appointment	22-23
5.3	Faculty Appointment Procedure	23
5.4	Faculty Evaluation	23-29
5.4.2	Faculty Personnel Records	29-31
5.5	Tenure and Promotion Policy	31-37
5.5.7	Tenure and Promotion Review Process	34-37
Article VI	Professional Responsibilities	38-43
6.1	Professional Responsibilities	
6.1.1.6	Released-Time Credit	
6.2	Instructional Responsibilities	40
6.3	Academic Advising, Registration, and Student Consultation Responsibilities	40
6.3.3	Assigned Responsibilities	
6.4	Academic Freedom and Responsibility	
6.5	Professional Development	
6.6	Consultant and Outside Activities	42

Article	Subject Page	<u>(s)</u>
6.7	Other Provisions	
6.7.3	Distance Education	
6.8	Professional Accomplishments	43
Article VII	Budget Reduction: Layoff and Recall	47
Article VIII	Paid and Unpaid Leaves of Absence	-62
8.1	Sabbatical Leaves	-52
8.2	Other Leaves	53
8.2.2	Annual Leave	53
8.2.3	Personal Leave Days53-	-54
8.2.4	Sick Leave	-55
8.2.5	Family Care Leave	-56
8.2.6	Expert Witness Leave	56
8.2.7	Funeral Leave	-57
8.2.8	Jury Duty Leave	57
8.2.9	Holidays	
8.3	Child Care and Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave 57-	-58
8.4	Military Leave of Absence	
8.5	Personal Leaves	
8.6	Professional Development Leaves	
8.7	Political Activity Leave	
8.8	Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During Leaves 61-	
8.9	Illness or Disability Leave	62
Article IX	Compensation (Salary and Fringe Benefits)	-73
9.1	Salary	63
9.1.1	Minimum Salary	
9.1.2	Salary Increases	63
9.1.2.4	Promotions	63
9.1.2.5	Merit Distribution	63
9.1.2.6	Enrollment Bonus63-	-64
9.1.3	Effective Dates of Salary Increases	64
9.1.4	Compensation for Additional On-Campus Assignments	64
9.1.4.3	Directed Study Courses	-65
9.1.4.4	Faculty Load and Compensation for the Direction of	
	Graduate Research, Practicum, and Theses	65
9.1.5	Compensation and General Provisions for	
	Off-Campus Extension and Field Course Duties	65
9.1.6	Summer College Salary	-66
9.2	Fringe Benefits	
9.2.1	Hospitalization and Medical Benefits	-67
9.2.1.2	Same-Sex Domestic Partner Benefits	67
9.2.2	Short-Term Disability	-68
9.2.3	Long-Term Disability Insurance	
9.2.3.5	Return from Long-Term Disability Leave	69
9.2.4	Life Insurance	-70
9.2.5	Retirement	-71
9.2.6	Bookstore Discount	71
9.2.7	Tuition Scholarships	71
9.2.8	Recreation Membership	-72
9.2.10	General Liability Insurance	72
9.2.11	Dependent Care Assistance Plan	72
9.2.12	Prescription Drug Program	72

Article	Subject	Page(s)
9.2.13	Dental Benefits	72
9.2.14	Optical Benefits	72
9.2.15	Flexible Spending Accounts	73
9.2.16	Parking Fees	73
9.2.17	Taxable Benefits	73
Article X	Discipline and Dismissal	74
Article XI	Duration of Agreement	75
Members of the Neg	otiating Teams	76
Appendices		
Appendix A	Faculty Evaluation Processing Forms	77-79
Appendix B	Request for Authorization to Perform	
	Consultant Service Form	80
Appendix C	Designation of AAUP Released-Time Credit Form	81-84
Appendix D	Bylaw Submission Procedures - Document 1	85
	Bylaw Submission Format - Document 2	86
	Submittal Form for Approval of Departmental Bylaws	87
Appendix E	Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Excerpt)	88
Appendix F	Location of Faculty Records	89
Appendix G	Faculty Evaluation Report Forms	90-92
Memorandum of Un	derstanding	
#1	Re: Electronic Annual Evaluation Process Study Committee	93
#2	Re: Salary Compression Study Committee	94

# **AGREEMENT**

This is an agreement by and between the Northern Michigan University Board of Trustees, the Employer, hereinafter referred to as the "Board," and the American Association of University Professors-Northern Michigan University Chapter, hereinafter referred to as the "Association."

# **ARTICLE I**

# **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

1.1	Definitions		
1.1.1	"Board" means the Board of Trustees of Northern Michigan University, Marquette, Michigan, a state institution of higher education, and its administrative agents.		
1.1.2	"Association" means the American Association of University Professors-Northern Michigan University Chapter.		
1.1.3	"Unit" or "bargaining unit" means the bargaining unit defined in Section 1.2.		
1.1.4	"Faculty member" or "bargaining unit member" or "unit member" means a person employed in the bargaining unit defined in Section 1.2.		
1.1.5	"Time limit" calculations expressed in calendar days exclude holidays, set seasonal bonus days, and all recesses between and during academic sessions.		
1.1.6	Pronouns of masculine and feminine gender include each other.		
1.1.7	Ongoing faculty for a given academic year are the following:		
	a. Instructional faculty who had a full-time assignment for either the fall or winter semester of the previous academic year.		
	(1) Tenured		
	(2) Tenure Earning		
	(3) Continuing		
	(4) Term		
	b. Noninstructional faculty who had a full-time assignment for six (6) months prior to the July 1 immediately preceding the start of the given academic year.		
	(1) Tenured		
	(2) Tenure Earning		
	(3) Continuing		
	(4) Term		
	c. Faculty who the previous year were on the following:		
	(1) Limited appointment		

(2) Reduced appointment

- (3) Professional development leave
- (4) Personal leave or Family and Medical Leave Act Leave (FMLA) or Child Care Leave for one (1) semester or less in the case of instructional faculty and one-half (1/2) the regular appointment for noninstructional faculty
- (5) Sick leave or Family Care Leave
- (6) Sabbatical leave
- (7) Long-term disability leave
- (8) Political activity leave
- 1.1.7.1 Noninstructional faculty who did not have a full-time assignment six (6) months prior to the July 1 immediately preceding the start of a given academic year will not be entitled to the full salary increase for that academic year. Instead, the noninstructional faculty will be given one-twelfth (1/12) of the raise for each month of full-time service up to a maximum of five-twelfths (5/12). Noninstructional faculty with less than one (1) month of service will receive no part of the faculty increase.
- 1.1.8 "Department head" means academic department head or Director of the College of Business, Director of Clinical Laboratory Sciences, Director of Counseling and Consultation Services, Associate Dean of Teacher Education, Associate Dean of the College of Technology and Applied Sciences, or Associate Dean of Nursing Education.
- 1.1.9 "Department" means academic department, Academic Information Services, College of Business, Counseling Center, or School of Education. This definition of department is not meant to imply in any way that the Dean of Academic Information Services or the Dean of the College of Business is a department head and, hence, subject to the contractual provisions covering department heads. In the event that any of the current departments are eliminated or combined, the administration will inform the Association about what departments will include the faculty affected by the eliminations/combinations.
- 1.1.10 "Joint appointment" is an academic appointment for which a faculty member has formal and ongoing teaching responsibilities in two (2) or more departments.
- 1.2 Recognition
- 1.2.1 The Board recognizes the Association as the exclusive collective bargaining representative of employees of the University in the unit described below for the purpose of negotiating with respect to wages, hours, terms, and conditions of employment. The bargaining unit includes:

All full-time Northern Michigan University faculty members who hold academic rank as Instructor, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, or Professor, Professional Librarian, Counselor, or Full-Time Adjunct faculty.

Specifically excluded from the unit are:

All persons not holding academic rank, Graduate Assistants, Tutorial Assistants, Visiting Faculty, Directors, Department Heads, Assistant Deans, Associate Deans, Deans, Assistant and Associate Vice Presidents, Vice Presidents, Associate Provosts, Provost and Vice President, President, and any other supervisors.

1.3 Nondiscrimination

- 1.3.1 The Board agrees to continue to abide by all federal and state laws regarding discrimination in employment. The Board will not knowingly discriminate against any member of the bargaining unit because of the faculty member's sexual orientation, because of membership or nonmembership in the Association or for engaging in activities which may be supportive of or against the Association or any other employee group, providing such activities do not interfere with the proper performance of job duties. The Board will not knowingly aid, promote, or finance any group or organization (other than the Association) which purports to engage in collective bargaining on behalf of faculty members in the bargaining unit. The extent of any aid to the Association shall be as specified elsewhere in this Agreement.
- 1.3.2 The Administration will provide the Association with a copy of the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) Report each year.
- 1.3.3 Each year, the Association may elect to provide its affirmative action analysis and recommendations regarding affirmative action to the Academic Senate. The Academic Senate, in turn, will forward this report with or without benefit of comment to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and the University's Affirmative Action Officer. The Affirmative Action Officer will meet with the Association at its initiative to discuss the report.

#### 1.4 Information

1.4.1 The Board will send to the Association, within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the execution of this Agreement, a list (by department or other administrative unit) stating each faculty member's name, sex, tenure status, rank, date of original appointment at Northern Michigan University, date of tenure (if applicable), date of appointment to current rank, date of birth, highest degree held, salary and fringe benefits, and mailing address. The Board will send the Association a list of any changes in the list (including resignations, retirements, or deaths) on a monthly basis. The Board will also forward to the Association copies of all notices terminating the employment of unit members at the same time such notices are sent to members.

Within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the start of each academic semester, the Board will send to the Association a list of all non-AAUP represented personnel (by department or other administrative unit) who are employed on campus and off campus on a part-time basis under the provisions of Article VI, Section 6.7.1 of this Agreement. This list shall detail the employee's name, courses taught, credit hour load, the employee's class, and full-time equivalency (FTE).

1.4.2 The Board will provide the Association with such additional information from its records as is necessary to enable the Association to carry out its function of bargaining with respect to the wages, hours, and conditions of employment of bargaining unit members; provided, however, that this provision shall not be construed to require the Board to prepare or develop information for the Association or to provide information in any form other than that of copies of already existing records.

In order to enable the Association to meet its responsibilities to assure that bargaining unit members are treated in compliance with state and federal laws regarding discrimination, the Board agrees to meet all reasonable requests by the Association for providing data related to such compliance.

1.5 Separability; Minimum Requirements; Negotiations

In the event that any provision of this Agreement, in whole or in part, is declared to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction or by any administrative agency having jurisdiction, all of the remaining terms, conditions, and provisions of this Agreement which are not rendered meaningless, inoperable, or ambiguous as a consequence of the declaration shall remain in full force and effect.

1.5.1 This Agreement states minimum terms and conditions for employment or continued employment of a member of the bargaining unit, and the Board shall not employ a unit member on terms less favorable to each of them than those stated herein without the consent of the affected individual and the Association.

- 1.5.2 Not more than three (3) representatives designated by the Board and not more than three (3) representatives designated by the Association shall confer at such reasonable times as either party may request to consider problems concerning this Agreement or other matters of mutual concern. Such meetings shall not exceed one (1) in each calendar month except by mutual agreement. The party requesting such a meeting shall give the other party a written request at least one (1) week in advance. Such notice shall specify the agenda of items to be discussed, and no other items shall be considered except by mutual agreement.
- 1.5.3 The parties shall commence negotiations toward a modification of this Agreement no later than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to its expiration date, unless a valid legal question concerning the Association's representational status is raised prior to the commencement of such one hundred twenty-(120) day period, or both parties mutually agree to the commencement of negotiations. Each party shall give the other party written notice of desired contract changes or additions prior to the commencement of such negotiations.
- 1.5.4 The University will consult with the Association on the terms of a severance incentive plan prior to the submission of the plan to the Board of Trustees.
- 1.6 Association Use of Facilities and Services
- 1.6.1 The Association shall be afforded:
  - a. the right to send through the regular University campus mail service, newsletters and such other communications as are necessary to the conduct of the Association's business as a collective bargaining agent, provided such use of the mail shall not cause an unreasonable load on the system and provided such use is legal under state and federal law;
  - use of campus bulletin boards for notices of Association meetings and other official Association business;
  - the privilege of scheduling Association meetings on campus in appropriate facilities free of charge, provided written requests for such space are made a reasonable time in advance and suitable facilities are available at the time requested; special service or equipment to be charged at usual rates;
  - d. the privilege of contracting, at the same rate charged to registered campus organizations, for such of the following services as are needed for the Association's conduct of its business as a collective bargaining agent: printing address labels, label affixing, material folding and insertion, duplicating, copying, audio-visual, computer, food.
  - e. The Board shall provide the Academic Senate with office space, duplicating, on-campus mail services, and half-time secretarial support for purposes specified in Article III, Section 3.3.1.4.
- In order to facilitate the process of academic governance as structured in this Agreement, the equivalent of two (2) FTE positions shall be provided on a released-time basis to be allocated by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs each semester after consulting with the Association. There will be a Letter of Intent accompanying this clause prior to the beginning of each semester which will indicate the specific positions among which released time is to be allocated. Variations in the released-time allocation can be arranged by mutual agreement provided the allocation does not exceed the equivalent of six (6) FTE over the three- (3) year period of the Agreement.
- 1.7 Agency Shop

- 1.7.1 During the life of the Agreement and to the extent the laws of the State of Michigan permit, every bargaining unit member beginning with the month following thirty (30) calendar days after the execution of this Agreement; or thirty (30) days after employment in the bargaining unit, whichever date is later, and monthly thereafter, shall tender to the Association, as a condition of continued employment in the bargaining unit, either periodic and uniformly required Association dues, or, in the alternative, a service fee in an amount not greater than the periodic and uniformly required Association dues, which service fee shall be deposited by the Association in the AAUP Scholarship Fund. All awards and processing from this fund shall be under the exclusive control of the Board.
- 1.7.2 A faculty member shall be terminated at the end of the current semester under Section 1.7.1 of this Article when:
  - a. the Association first has notified the faculty member by letter, explaining that the faculty member is delinquent in not tendering either periodic and uniformly required Association dues or service fees in an amount not greater than the periodic and uniformly required Association dues, specifying the current amount of such delinquency, and warning the faculty member that unless such dues or service fees are tendered within thirty (30) calendar days, the faculty member will be reported to the Board for termination as provided in this Article; and
  - b. the Association has furnished the Board with written proof that the procedure of Section 1.7.1 of this Article has been followed and has supplied the Board with a copy of the letter sent to the faculty member and notice that the faculty member has not complied with the request. The Association must specify further, when requesting the Board to terminate the faculty member, the following by written notice: "The Association certifies that \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ has failed to tender either the periodic and uniformly required Association dues or service fees required as a condition of continued employment under the collective bargaining Agreement and that under the terms of the Agreement, the Board is requested to terminate the faculty member at the end of the semester."
- 1.7.3 The Association shall indemnify and save the Board harmless from any and all claims, demands, suits, or any other action arising from this Article or from complying with any request for termination under this Article.
- 1.7.4 The Board will advise new faculty members of the faculty members' obligations under this Article, in writing, and will provide them with an authorization for deduction of Association Dues or Service Fees form and the address of the Association headquarters.
- 1.8 Dues or Service Fees Checkoff
- 1.8.1 During the life of this Agreement and any extensions thereof, and to the extent the laws of the State of Michigan permit, the Board agrees to deduct periodic Association membership dues or service fees levied in accordance with the bylaws of the Association from the pay of each unit member, who through the Treasurer of the Association, voluntarily executes the following authorization form:

# VOLUNTARY AUTHORIZATION FOR DEDUCTION OF ASSOCIATION DUES OR SERVICE FEES AAUP-NMU CHAPTER

Name	
Department	
increases therein instituted by the Association, as	or to be earned by me Association Dues or Service Fees, and any certified to the Board by the Treasurer of the Association, and to in such manner as may be agreed upon between the Board and the
revocation. If no such written revocation is received	by the undersigned by submission to the Board of a written d, this authorization shall be irrevocable until the termination of the and the Association which is in force at the time of delivery of this
Check one:	Signature of Unit Member
Union Dues	Address
Service Fee	Date of Signature
	Date of Delivery to Board

1.8.2 The following certification form shall be used by the Association when certifying membership dues or service fees:

#### CERTIFICATION OF ASSOCIATION TREASURER

I certify that the membership biweekly pay period.	dues or service fees for unit members is	per
	Date	
	Association Treasurer	
	Date of Delivery to Board	

1.8.3 Payroll deduction shall be made only from the pay of unit members each biweekly pay period; provided, however, the initial deduction for any unit member shall not begin unless both (1) a properly executed "Voluntary Authorization for Deduction of Union Dues or Service Fees" and (2) the amount of the dues or service fees (computed on a biweekly rate) certified by the Treasurer of the Association has been delivered to the Board at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the last payday of the calendar month.

Changes in the amount of the dues or service fees must be delivered to the Board at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the last day of the biweekly pay period in which the change will become effective.

- 1.8.4 All sums deducted by the Board shall be remitted to the Treasurer of the Association at an address given to the Board by the Association, once each biweekly pay period following the period in which the deductions were made.
- 1.8.5 The Association agrees to make whatever adjustments are necessary directly with a faculty member who may, as a result of this deduction procedure, pay more or less than the Association dues or service fees.
- 1.8.6 The Board shall not be liable to the Association by reason of the requirements of this Article for the remittance or payment of any sum other than that constituting actual deductions made from the pay earned by the unit member. In addition, the Association shall indemnify and save the University harmless from any liability resulting from any and all claims, demands, suits, or any other action arising from compliance with this Article, or in reliance on any list, notice, certification, or authorization furnished under this Article.
- 1.9 Faculty Orientation Week

The Board will provide allotted time not to exceed a total of two (2) hours for the Association to call a meeting of bargaining unit members during faculty orientation week each fall.

# 1.10 Complete Agreement

This collective bargaining Agreement represents the complete agreement between the parties and supersedes any and all prior agreements, understandings, customs, and practices. This Agreement incorporates all the mutually-agreed-to subjects of negotiation, and both parties acknowledge that the parties were free to discuss all matters of concern dealing with wages, hours, and working conditions. The parties further acknowledge the parties' mutual right during the term of this Agreement, to initiate good faith negotiations on any matters of concern dealing with wages, hours, and working conditions which are not covered by this Agreement and were not the subject of any proposals by either party during the negotiations leading to this Agreement. This collective bargaining Agreement may be amended, modified, or supplemented only by a written document signed by authorized representatives of both parties.

# 1.11 No Strike or Lockout

The Association agrees that it will not engage in or sanction or support any strike, work stoppage, work slowdown, or other job action which in any way interferes with the normal operation of the University. The Board agrees that it will refrain from locking out members of the bargaining unit or from any threat thereof.

## **ARTICLE II**

# **MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

Subject only to any limitations imposed by the express and specific terms of this Agreement, the Board hereby retains and reserves unto itself all powers, rights, and authority to manage, direct, and control the University and its program, properties, facilities, and employees, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the rights:

- 1. to hire all employees, to determine the employees' qualifications and compensation and the conditions for the employees' continued employment, and to dismiss, demote, discipline, promote, transfer, assign, lay off, and recall all such employees;
- to establish, modify, and abolish programs and courses of instruction, as deemed necessary or advisable by the Board;
- 3. to determine class schedules, the hours of instruction, and the duties, responsibilities, and assignments of faculty and other employees with respect thereto;
- 4. to reassign, at its discretion, department heads, deans, and other administrators who hold academic rank in a department to full-time faculty status in that department.

#### **ARTICLE III**

#### **FACULTY PARTICIPATION**

#### IN

#### ACADEMIC AFFAIRS

- 3.1 Departmental Affairs
- 3.1.1 Bylaws
- 3.1.1.1 The bylaws of a department will constitute the means whereby that department agrees to conduct its internal affairs and by which it shall address procedures and standards for faculty appointments, evaluations, promotions, and tenure recommendations. Departments thus have the freedom and the flexibility to conduct the departments' internal affairs according to the bylaws they create, so long as those procedures are in compliance with the general standards and procedures specified in Articles II and V hereof.

Departmental bylaws shall describe specific standards for promotion which confirm levels of achievement in the areas of assigned responsibility, professional development, and service commensurate with each higher rank and which shall be defined by example. While reflective of the differences in their fields, the standards specified in the bylaws in each department shall be comparable to the standards in departmental bylaws throughout the University, i.e., the circle of comparison shall be the University community.

- 3.1.1.2 Creating Bylaws for New Departments
- 3.1.1.2.1 Faculty in newly created departments shall propose a set of bylaws within the first six (6) months of operation so as to permit the orderly transaction of departmental business, of faculty evaluations, and of promotion and tenure recommendations.
- 3.1.1.2.2 If the faculty in a new department are unable to develop bylaws that are approved within one (1) year, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall establish bylaws by modifying the last proposed bylaws in order to achieve compliance with the contract; the Provost and Vice President shall provide a written justification for modifications to the departmental faculty and to the other parties involved in the approval process.
- 3.1.1.3 Initiating the Modification of Bylaws for Existing Departments
- 3.1.1.3.1 A department may propose changes in its bylaws at any time during the academic year.
- 3.1.1.3.2 The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs may require a department to review and/or change its bylaws if:
  - a. An outside consultant or review team involved in a program review or accreditation visit finds the standards of professional competence specified in the promotion and tenure standards section of the bylaws have become obsolete because of:
    - (1) changes in the standards of accreditation
    - (2) changes in technology

An example of such obsolescence is: In the department of Engineering Technology, the development of graphics abilities in computers may make a teacher of graphic arts without the capacity to use computers professionally impaired.

What is not an example of such obsolescence is a change in publication standards, such as the number, if any, of publications required for tenure or promotion.

- b. Changes are made in this Agreement that affect departmental bylaws "in a substantive way."
- c. The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs determines that the standards for faculty appointment, evaluation, tenure, and/or promotion recommendations do not require levels of achievement or performance consistent with those described in bylaws throughout the University community, i.e., within the "circle of comparison" as referenced in Section 3.1.1.1.
- 3.1.1.4 Standards and Procedures for Gaining Approval of New Bylaws or Changes in Old Bylaws
- 3.1.1.4.1 The document, "Format for Submittal and Final Approval of Departmental Bylaw Proposals" (see Appendix D for document) contains:
  - a. A standard format for printing bylaw proposals.
  - b. A submittal form that must accompany all proposals. Proposals not printed in standardized format or not accompanied by a submittal form will be returned to the department for reworking.
- 3.1.1.4.2 The document "Procedure for Submitting and Securing Final Adoption of Departmental Bylaw Proposals" (see Appendix D for document) specifies the procedure for fulfilling the requirements that departmental faculty provide:
  - To its department head and dean, copies of all bylaw proposals as well as any revisions made to them in the approval process.
  - b. To the participants in the approval process, the statements of acceptance or nonacceptance by the participants at other levels in the approval process.

#### 3.1.1.4.3 Step One: Grievance Officer

Departments shall submit all proposals first to the Grievance Officer whose acceptance or nonacceptance will be based on whether or not the proposals contravene the Agreement. The Grievance Officer shall provide a written response to any proposals, including those that are modified at some point in the approval process, within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the proposals; if a response is not received within thirty (30) days, the proposals shall be sent to the next level by the department head.

- a. If found acceptable by the Grievance Officer, the proposals shall then be sent by the department to the next level.
- b. If found unacceptable, the Grievance Officer shall specify the reasons for its unacceptability in a written response to the department and arrange for a conference with the department to discuss the proposals.
  - (1) The department may then choose to modify its proposals until they are accepted by the Grievance Officer.
  - (2) The department shall, however, have the right to forward its proposals to the next level even if they are not accepted by the Grievance Officer.
- 3.1.1.4.3.1 After review by the Grievance Officer, proposals other than those concerned with the specification of standards for promotion and tenure shall move to Step Three.

#### 3.1.1.4.4 Step Two: College Advisory Council (CAC)

After review by the Grievance Officer, proposals for bylaws concerning the specification of standards for promotion and tenure shall be sent to the appropriate CAC whose acceptance or rejection shall be based upon whether or not the specifications of standards are equivalent to those of other departments in the college. The CAC shall send a written response to the department within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the proposal. If it does not, the department may send its proposals to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.

- a. If the CAC finds the proposals acceptable, the department shall forward the proposals to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- b. If the CAC finds the proposals unacceptable, the CAC shall specify the reasons in its written response to the department and arrange for a conference with the department to discuss the proposal.
  - (1) The department may make modifications in its proposals until they are acceptable to both the CAC and the Grievance Officer.
  - (2) The department shall, however, have the right to submit its proposals to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs even if they are not found acceptable by the Grievance Officer and the CAC.

#### 3.1.1.4.5 Step Three: Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs

After review by the Grievance Officer and/or the CAC, all proposals shall be sent to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. The Provost and Vice President's approval of all proposals other than those concerning the standards for promotion and tenure shall be whether or not they contravene the Agreement. The Provost and Vice President's approval of proposals concerning tenure and promotion standards shall be based on whether or not the proposed specifications of standards contravene the Agreement and whether or not they are equivalent to the standards of quality used in other colleges within the University. The Provost and Vice President shall send a written response to the department within thirty (30) days of the receipt of proposals. If a written response is not received within thirty (30) days, the changes shall be considered the official bylaws of the department.

- a. If the proposals are approved, they become the official bylaws of the department.
- b. If the proposals are disapproved, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall specify the reasons in writing and arrange for a conference with the department. The Provost and Vice President may invite the department head, the dean, a representative of the CAC, and the Grievance Officer to the conference.
  - (1) If the conference leads the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs to accept the proposals, they become the official bylaws of the department.
  - (2) If the conference does not result in an agreement on the proposals and if the proposals concern the standards for promotion and tenure, the department may appeal the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs decision to the Faculty Review Committee (FRC) within thirty (30) days of the conference. The FRC will have thirty (30) days to review the appeal and communicate its decision. If it does not communicate its ruling and the reasons for it within thirty (30) days, the Provost and Vice President's decision will be considered upheld.
  - (3) If the FRC supports the department's appeal, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall accept the FRC's judgment unless the Provost and Vice President has serious and compelling reasons for not doing so. Unless the Provost and Vice President communicates such serious and compelling reasons to the FRC and department within thirty (30) days of receiving the FRC's ruling, the FRC's decision will be considered upheld.

Such bylaws shall remain in effect unless amended in accordance with the procedures described above or superseded by changes in this agreement.

#### 3.1.2 Department Heads

- 3.1.2.1 When a department head position becomes vacant, the dean of the college, after consultation with the department, shall formulate specific guidelines regarding replacement procedures. These shall include:
  - a. the specification of whether internal and/or external candidates shall be considered;
  - b. desired qualifications;
  - c. budgetary considerations; and
  - d. the size of the pool of recommended candidates that will be submitted to the dean for consideration.
- 3.1.2.2 The department will formulate its recommendation(s) among all candidates and forward same to the dean, with supporting rationale. When the department is able to find more than one (1) acceptable candidate, the department may rank order its list of acceptable candidates and give reasons for its ranking. If the department is able to find only one (1) acceptable candidate, it shall recommend that candidate. The dean will review the departmental recommendation(s) with the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. If the department's recommendation(s) is approved by the Provost and Vice President, the Provost and Vice President shall recommend the appointment of the candidate to the President of the University. If the University does not accept the recommended candidate(s), the University has the right to declare the search process has ended.
- 3.1.2.3 In the event a department head position is not filled in a timely fashion through the preceding procedures, the Board may appoint an acting department head for one (1) year; further, the Board has the right through this procedure to appoint the same individual to additional one- (1) year terms if the procedures specified in Sections 3.1.2.1 and 3.1.2.2 fail to produce agreement.
- 3.1.2.4 Department heads, directors, and the Dean of Academic Information Services will be evaluated triennially by the faculty in the appropriate academic unit.
- 3.1.3 Assistant and Associate Department Head
- 3.1.3.1 If such position is authorized by the dean, Assistant and Associate Department Heads shall be faculty members who currently hold academic rank in the department or administratively merged departments to be served. In administratively merged departments, the assistant or associate department head shall normally be from a department other than the department in which the department head has faculty rank.
- 3.1.3.2 The department head in conjunction with the faculty will determine the desired qualifications for the position of assistant or associate department head. This individual will be selected by the department head with the advice of the department or administratively merged departments.
- 3.2 College Level Affairs
- 3.2.1 College Advisory Councils
- 3.2.1.1 Each departmentally organized college (or academic unit not affiliated with a departmentally organized college) shall have a College Advisory Council (CAC). The CAC in each college shall be selected from among the college's faculty provided that two thirds (2/3) of the membership of each CAC must hold the rank of Associate Professor or above and be tenured. CAC members who are not tenured may not participate in tenure reviews, and CAC members below the rank of Associate Professor may not participate in promotion reviews for faculty members seeking a rank higher than that currently held by that CAC member. However, in a college where the above requirement would exclude a department from representation on its CAC, an exception may be made; the bylaws of that CAC will address such exceptions.

- 3.2.1.1.1 Because Academic Information Services, the College of Business, and Engineering Technology, are academic units that are not part of colleges with other academic departments covered by this Agreement, recommendations from these units that would otherwise be sent to a CAC (were they part of a college with multiple departments) will instead be sent to the next level in the administrative process.
- 3.2.1.1.2 For the purposes of bargaining unit member evaluation, tenure, merit and equity distribution, promotion, determination of sabbatical leaves, and bylaw review, Counseling and Consultation Services shall be considered a department in the College of Professional Studies; workload for Counseling and Consultation Services faculty shall be governed by Article VI, Section 6.1.1.2; in all other matters in this Agreement, Counseling and Consultation Services shall be considered as a department in the Academic Affairs Division. Any teaching done for an academic department by a member of Counseling and Consultation Services is subject to evaluation by that department.
- 3.2.1.2 Each CAC shall review all recommendations of departments for promotion, tenure, or termination as provided in Article V.
- 3.2.1.3 Each CAC shall act in an advisory capacity to the dean on matters affecting the operation and implementation of the college's academic programs or on matters referred to it by the dean.
- 3.2.1.4 CAC bylaws and procedures shall be reviewed and approved by the FRC. If the FRC rejects the bylaws or procedures of the CAC or any portion thereof, it shall inform the CAC in writing how the bylaws can be revised to satisfy its objections.
- 3.3 Academic Senate
- 3.3.1 There shall be an Academic Senate whose function shall include: (a) advising and making recommendations to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs on matters of faculty-wide concern, (b) communicating items of concern to respective constituencies, and (c) informing the academic community of issues under consideration.
- 3.3.1.1 Such Academic Senate shall be governed as to procedures by its own bylaws and shall establish a subcommittee structure to carry out its responsibilities in accordance with such bylaws. Nonmembers may attend Academic Senate meetings by invitation.
- 3.3.1.2 The Association hereby chooses to delegate the following areas of its responsibility as set forth in this contract, which are acknowledged by the Association to be matters for which the Association would otherwise be responsible, to the Academic Senate:
  - a. Recommendations for curriculum or program changes as set forth in Section 3.3.1.6 or other than those set forth in Section 3.3.2.3.
  - b. Recommendations for curriculum or program changes, other than those described in Section 3.3.1.6, which entail reduction or reallocation of existing academic positions and/or programs, in situations other than those provided for in Article VII, as referred to it by the Educational Policy Committee (EPC) as specified in Section 3.3.2.3.
  - Recommendations for program changes, including the initiation of new majors or minors or other changes, which require or may require additional funds.
  - d. The faculty approval of the list of students who have fulfilled the requirements for degrees to be conferred. No student shall be awarded a degree bearing the explicit endorsement of the faculty unless such endorsement has the approval of the Association.
  - The review and ranking of faculty proposals for academic study and research, as set forth in Section 3.3.6.
- 3.3.1.3 The Academic Senate shall not be responsible for nor deliberate upon promotion, tenure, faculty sabbatical leaves, or working conditions including salaries and other economic benefits.

- 3.3.1.4 The Academic Senate shall be established, which shall be composed as follows: one (1) faculty member from each department (two [2] from departments of twenty [20] or more) elected by the faculty of that department; the deans of the colleges; one (1) department head from each college; one (1) academic administrator to represent graduate programs; the Dean of Academic Information Services; and four (4) students appointed by ASNMU. The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and an AAUP and MEA liaison shall serve in an ex officio, nonvoting capacity. Members of the Academic Senate shall have at least three (3) years at the University, if possible. Students may be appointed to appropriate committees of the Academic Senate.
- 3.3.1.5 The Academic Senate shall annually elect an Executive Committee from its membership, with the provision that the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and the AAUP liaison will be voting members.
- 3.3.1.6 Recommendations for curriculum or academic program changes shall be submitted to, acted upon, and forwarded to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs by the Academic Senate. Curriculum or academic program changes are those involving such matters as changes in course titles or numbering; changes of departmental prerequisites; introduction or deletion of courses in the major, minor, or elective category; evaluation of student performance; and academic program content defined so as to include the structure of an academic program as it relates to certification, degree requirements, subject matter, and/or any other recognized professional criteria as determined by the faculty qualified to teach the program. In addition, the Academic Senate is responsible for making recommendations concerning the consideration of new majors and minors. Finally, the Academic Senate is responsible for recommendations concerning academic uses of University computer resources, academic calendars, proposals for faculty grants and curriculum development grants as provided in Article VI, Sections 6.5.2.5 and 6.5.2.6, faculty endorsement of the awarding of earned degrees, as well as other academic matters brought before it for consideration.
- 3.3.1.7 All recommendations of the Academic Senate shall be forwarded to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs who will normally implement such recommendations. Should the Provost and Vice President find reason to take exception to an Academic Senate recommendation, the Provost and Vice President will initially return the matter to the Academic Senate for further consideration with a statement of the Provost and Vice President's concerns. Should the Academic Senate renew the recommendation, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs may reject the recommendation for serious and compelling reasons, which the Provost and Vice President shall communicate to the Academic Senate in writing.
- 3.3.1.8 When recommendations of the Academic Senate have a potential impact on workload, they must be submitted to the Board and the Association for review.
- 3.3.1.9 Initial recommendations regarding matters described in Section 3.3.1.6 may be advanced by individual faculty, academic departments, administrators, and ASNMU.
- 3.3.2 Educational Policy Committee
- 3.3.2.1 An Educational Policy Committee (EPC) shall be established, which will have fourteen (14) members. Seven (7) faculty members shall be appointed by the Association with the following representation: two (2) from the College of Arts and Sciences; one (1) from the College of Business; two (2) from the College of Professional Studies; one (1) from the College of Technology and Applied Sciences; and one (1) member at large. The deans of the Colleges of Arts and Sciences; Business; Professional Studies; Technology and Applied Sciences; and Graduate Studies and Research shall be members. Two (2) additional administrative members shall be appointed by the President of the University. A chairperson shall be elected by and from the membership of the EPC. One (1) of the EPC faculty members will be designated by the Association to attend the Academic Council meetings.

- 3.3.2.2 The responsibilities of the EPC shall include advising the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and keeping the Association informed on mission statements, on short- and long-term academic program planning for the University, and on financial considerations attendant to implementation of new programs such as majors and minors. In particular, the above-described responsibilities of the EPC shall include concern with and making recommendations on such matters as: enrollment patterns and projections, the allocation of budget for the support of academic programs, the generation of credit hours within colleges and academic departments, and staffing requirements within colleges and academic departments.
- 3.3.2.3 Recommendations for curriculum or academic program changes, which entail or would result in reductions or reallocations of existing academic positions and/or programs for reasons other than financial exigency, must be submitted to the EPC for review. The Academic Senate and the EPC shall not act on recommendations contemplated under Section 3.3.2.3 until an academic plan has been submitted by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs to the Academic Senate for review and response nor shall the Provost and Vice President act upon this academic plan until the Academic Senate has had reasonable opportunity to respond. After an initial determination of the potential reductions or reallocations of positions, the EPC shall submit the proposed curriculum or academic program changes to the Academic Senate for review. The Academic Senate will forward its recommendations relative to the academic merit of the proposed changes to the EPC. The EPC shall consider said recommendations calling a joint conference committee if desired. The EPC shall forward its recommendations to the Provost and Vice President. The recommendations of the EPC shall be accorded great weight by the Provost and Vice President and shall normally be followed. Should the Provost and Vice President find reason to take exception to the EPC's recommendation, the Provost and Vice President will initially return the matter to the EPC for further consideration with a statement of the Provost and Vice President's concerns. Should the EPC renew the recommendations, the Provost and Vice President may modify or reject the recommendations for serious and compelling reasons, which the Provost and Vice President shall communicate to the EPC and Academic Senate in writing.

Recommendations shall be reviewed following a calendar prepared by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. This calendar shall allow adequate review at each deliberative step specified therein. If the calendar the Provost and Vice President has established is not complied with and no modification is agreed upon, the matter shall proceed to the next step without benefit of recommendation from the body failing to comply with the requirements of the calendar.

- 3.3.2.3.1 In the event that the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs determines that a recommendation under Section 3.3.2.3 will result in the layoff of a faculty member, the Provost and Vice President shall, before issuing a recommendation under Section 3.3.2.3, notify the Association of the proposed layoff and shall consult with the Association to identify the faculty member affected. The faculty member shall be identified according to the criteria, but not the processes, set forth in Article VII. The Association shall have thirty (30) calendar days from the receipt of the notice of proposed layoff to assist in the identification of the faculty member to be laid off. A notice of layoff shall be issued by the Board to the affected faculty member at the same time the Provost and Vice President communicates the recommendation to the EPC under Section 3.3.2.3.
- 3.3.2.4 The Academic Senate and the EPC shall have access to all information which they reasonably need to accomplish their tasks and may invite the appropriate personnel for consultation in the accomplishment of their tasks.
- 3.3.2.5 Curriculum or academic program changes involving reduction or reallocation of existing academic faculty and/or programs in situations provided for in Article VII shall be governed by the procedures in Article VII.
- 3.3.2.6 Before laying off any faculty member when financial exigency has not been declared, the University shall consider the alternatives listed below:
  - a. Shared load between departments and colleges
  - b. Annualized appointments to include extension teaching
  - c. Reassignment to another department or college

- d. Retraining
- e. Supplementation of teaching with nonteaching duties
- f. Transfer to a vacant nonteaching position in conformity with any applicable union contract or personnel policy
- g. Reduced appointment
- h. Early retirement
- 3.3.3 Academic Policy and General Faculty Affairs
- 3.3.3.1 The Academic Senate may make recommendations to the Association on such matters of academic policy or of general faculty concern as the Academic Senate may choose. Consultation between the Board and the Association on such matters shall follow the procedures described in Article I, Section 1.5.2.
- 3.3.4 Honorary degrees bearing the explicit endorsement of the faculty must have the approval of the Association.
- 3.3.5 The Association shall make recommendations to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs on all University-funded faculty proposals for academic study and for research. The available University funds will be allotted annually by the Provost and Vice President based on this review and ranking; provided, however, that the Provost and Vice President may reject a particular proposal for serious and compelling reasons which the Provost and Vice President shall communicate to the Association in writing.
- 3.3.6 Faculty Review Committee
- 3.3.6.1 There shall be a Faculty Review Committee (FRC) composed of members chosen from the bargaining unit whose function shall be to act on recommendations for promotion, tenure, and sabbatical leave, to act on appeals of CAC's sabbatical leave recommendations and deans' tenure and promotion recommendations, and on appeals concerning bylaws forwarded to it pursuant to Section 3.1.1.4.5. In carrying out its duties, the FRC may choose to meet with the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and/or the Grievance Officer of the Association.
- 3.3.6.2 The Faculty Review Committee (FRC) will be comprised of not more than seven (7) members at the rank of Associate Professor or above as designated by the bargaining unit. At least two (2) members must hold the rank of Professor and not more than one (1) member may be nontenured.
- 3.4 University-Wide Affairs
- 3.4.1 faculty participation in discussions on matters of university-wide concern shall be achieved through membership on university-wide advisory bodies which may be established by the board. faculty recommended to participate in the work of such university-wide advisory bodies shall be selected in such manner as the association shall determine. the association shall recommend at least two (2) faculty members for each faculty position available on committees which discuss matters of university-wide concern.

#### **ARTICLE IV**

#### **GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 4.1 A grievance is a complaint by the Association, on behalf of one (1) or more faculty members or in its own behalf, concerning an alleged violation of this Agreement. All grievances shall be adjusted through the grievance procedure provided in this Article.
- 4.2 In computing any time limit herein specified, Saturdays, Sundays, holidays, and set seasonal bonus days will be excluded. Unless extended by mutual written agreement, the time limits specified herein shall be the maximum time allowed. Failure to comply with time limits on the part of the Board's administrative agent shall permit the grievance to proceed to the next step.
- 4.3 A faculty member (or group of faculty members) who claims that the contract provisions have allegedly been violated shall initially seek to resolve the problem by informal means and/or through administrative channels, with, however, the right to prompt reply to the faculty member's inquiries.
- Failing resolution of a problem by informal means, the Association shall initiate the grievance procedure by filing a written grievance in the Office of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. The grievance shall be signed by the appropriate Association representative and the faculty member(s) involved shall concisely state the facts upon which the grievance is based and the contract provisions which have allegedly been violated and shall specify the relief or remedy sought. The grievance shall be filed within fifteen (15) days after the Association or the faculty member(s) on whose behalf the grievance is filed became aware, or reasonably should have become aware, of the action complained. If the grievance is not served within that time, the grievance is barred. In no event shall monetary adjustments of a grievance cover a period prior to ninety (90) days before the filing of the written grievance.

The requirement that grievances be filed within fifteen (15) days is modified to permit the suspension in the counting of days for that period of time beginning when the Association notifies the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs that informal efforts are being pursued on a specifically described potential grievance in an effort to resolve it, and ending when either the Association notifies the Provost and Vice President that informal efforts have ended, or the Provost and Vice President notifies the Association that the counting of days will begin again at the point where they were suspended.

- 4.5 Procedure and Time Limits
- 4.5.1 Step One
- 4.5.1.1 Following receipt of the written grievance, the Board-designated administrative agent shall arrange a meeting to discuss the grievance with the grievant(s) and with the appropriate representative of the Association. This discussion shall be completed within ten (10) days after the grievance is filed. If the grievance is adjusted to the satisfaction of the Board and Association, the adjustment will be reduced to writing and signed by the designated administrative agent and the representative of the Association. If there is no mutually agreeable adjustment, the designated administrative agent shall provide the Association representative with a written answer stating the reasons for denial of the grievance.
- 4.5.2 Step Two: Review Board
- 4.5.2.1 If the grievance is not adjusted in Step One, the Association may, within five (5) days of the Step One written answer, submit the grievance through the Office of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs or the Provost and Vice President's designated representative to a Review Board. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, membership on the Review Board shall be limited to three (3) administrative staff members designated by the Provost and Vice President and three (3) bargaining unit members designated by the Association. The Review Board shall promptly arrange a meeting to discuss the grievance and the written answer and appeals.

This discussion shall be completed within fifteen (15) days after the filing of a request to have the grievance considered in Step Two. If the grievance is satisfactorily adjusted, the adjustment will be reduced to writing and signed by the appropriate representatives of the Board and the Association. If there is no mutually agreeable adjustment, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs or the Provost and Vice President's designated representative shall provide the Association with a written answer stating the reasons for denial of the grievance.

- 4.5.3 Step Three: Binding Arbitration
- 4.5.3.1 If the grievance is not satisfactorily adjusted in Step Two, the Association may submit the grievance to binding arbitration. Within ten (10) working days of the Association's receipt of the written response of the Board at Step Two, the Association shall serve upon the designated administrative agent its written notice of intent to arbitrate. If within ten (10) working days following the written notice of intent to arbitrate the parties are unable mutually to agree upon a selection of an arbitrator, the Association may thereafter request a List for Selection of Arbitrator from the American Arbitration Association at its Detroit office and an arbitrator shall be selected in accordance with American Arbitration Association Rules and Procedures. The arbitration will be conducted under the then current Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. The Board and the Association may agree to expedited, streamlined, or any other arbitration procedures on a case-by-case basis.

The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the Board, the Association, and any faculty member(s) involved and may be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction. The arbitrator's decision shall be based solely upon the express and specific provisions of this Agreement, without addition, subtraction, or modification. The Board and the Association will bear the Board's and Association's own expenses individually including transcripts, if ordered, and will share equally the fees and expenses of the arbitrator and the American Arbitration Association.

- 4.6 Any adjustment of a grievance agreed upon by the Board and the Association at any stage of the grievance procedure shall conclusively dispose of the grievance and shall be binding upon the Board, the Association, and any faculty member or members involved.
- 4.7 Failure to appeal a grievance from one step to the next within any of the time limits specified above shall bar the grievance.

# **ARTICLE V**

#### **FACULTY PERSONNEL POLICIES**

- 5.1 Academic Appointments
- 5.1.1 Initial Faculty Appointments

There shall be three (3) types of initial faculty appointments:

- a. Tenure Earning appointments are subject to the University tenure policy in Section 5.5. Faculty with these appointments have a probationary status.
- b. Term appointments shall normally be made for two (2) years subject to satisfactory evaluation. Term appointments for less than two (2) years may be made for such reasons as late resignation, illness of regular faculty, enrollment requirements, program demands, or replacements for leaves of absence and sabbatical leaves. Persons employed on two- (2) year Term appointments shall be given first consideration for newly authorized two- (2) year Term appointments, provided they meet the qualifications specified for the position and have had satisfactory annual evaluations. Persons on two- (2) year Term appointments who already hold the appropriate terminal degree shall be given serious consideration for new Tenure Earning positions, provided they meet the qualifications specified for the position and have had satisfactory annual evaluations.
- c. Tenured appointments.
- 5.1.2 Continuing Contract Appointments
- 5.1.2.1 Faculty members who have completed six (6) years of full-time service in a Term contract status for the same department at the University and are reappointed in that department shall be eligible for Continuing contract status appointment. Faculty funded by grants or contracts shall not be eligible for Continuing contract status.
- 5.1.2.1.1 Faculty members who meet the qualifications of Section 5.1.2.1 will have the option of converting to Continuing contract status by notifying the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs in writing not later than October 30 in the year the faculty members become eligible.
- 5.1.2.1.2 Continuing contract status faculty may be dismissed only for just cause.
- 5.1.2.1.2.1 Continuing contract status faculty may be laid off only if the faculty member's position is eliminated.
- 5.1.2.1.2.2 Continuing contract status faculty whose positions will be eliminated at the end of the winter semester must be notified not later than the previous December 1 of the University's intent to lay the faculty members off. Incumbents in positions to be eliminated at the end of the fall semester must be notified not later than the previous April 15. Continuing contract status faculty with ten (10) or more years of service at the University shall be afforded nine (9) months' notice of layoff. The layoff of Continuing contract status faculty shall be governed solely by the provisions of Section 5.1.2.
- 5.1.2.1.2.3 Continuing contract status faculty who are laid off shall have the right to be recalled for a period of two (2) calendar years from the date of the faculty members' layoff if the faculty members' position is reestablished.
- 5.1.2.2 Continuing contract status positions may be converted to Tenure Earning positions based on demonstrated need pursuant to Section 5.5.1.2. Any Continuing appointment created after July, 1995 which is converted to a Tenure Earning position shall be filled only after a national search is conducted for the Tenure Earning position.

- 5.1.2.2.1 Faculty on Continuing contract status, whose positions are converted to Tenure Earning appointments and who are appointed to fill the Tenure Earning position may receive credit for prior service consistent with Section 5.5.1.6, and years of experience applicable for appointment consistent with Section 5.2.
- 5.1.2.3 Continuing contract status faculty may apply for promotion if the faculty members meet eligibility requirements.
- 5.1.2.4 Continuing contract status faculty may apply for professional development leave if the faculty members meet eligibility requirements.

#### 5.1.3 Reduced Appointment

5.1.3.1 Any faculty member who has been awarded tenure may request a Reduced appointment.

A Reduced appointment is an appointment requiring action of the Board, in which, by mutual agreement between the faculty member and the Board, a Tenured faculty member may be assigned a fraction of the Tenured faculty member's normal workload and receive a proportional fraction of the Tenured faculty member's salary. The faculty member on a Reduced appointment retains tenure and is entitled to the rights, privileges, and protections accorded any other Tenured faculty member. The faculty member on a Reduced appointment shall meet a proportional share of the Tenured faculty member's departmental responsibilities which shall be specified at the time the Reduced appointment is approved.

Reduced appointments are granted for a specified period, and they may be renewed only by mutual agreement between the faculty member and the Board; otherwise the faculty member must return to full-time status. A faculty member on a Reduced appointment must inform the faculty member's department head by March 1 of the last year of the specified period of the faculty member's commitment to return to full-time status or to request a continuation of the Reduced appointment.

During the period a faculty member is on a Reduced appointment and to the extent allowable according to the University's agreement with the carrier and law, a faculty member is entitled to University-paid retirement, life insurance, short-term disability, and long-term disability based on the faculty member's Reduced appointment salary. If the faculty member elects to participate in the University's medical, dental, or optical coverages, the University will pay a percentage of the contribution/premium in proportion to the faculty member's reduced appointment. The remainder of the contribution/premium is the responsibility of the faculty member.

#### 5.1.3.2 Limited Appointment Status

Any Tenured faculty member with a minimum of ten (10) years of full-time service at the University may, by mutual agreement between the faculty member and the Board, be assigned not less than one-quarter (1/4) of the faculty member's normal workload and be provided a corresponding proportion of the faculty member's salary. The faculty member shall be required to establish a termination date when applying for Limited appointment status. In exceptional circumstances not adequately addressed by Reduced appointment status or Family Care Leave, a faculty member may be granted a Limited appointment status with a defined date for return to full-time, regular status if approved by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. The mutual agreement of the Board and the faculty member on Limited appointment status is required to return to a full-time status or to a different fractional appointment.

During the period a faculty member is on Limited appointment status and to the extent allowable according to the University's agreement with the carrier and law, the University will provide the same contribution/premium as it does for full-time faculty for medical, dental, and optical coverage. Life insurance, short-term disability, and long-term disability coverage shall be provided based on the faculty member's Limited appointment salary. Faculty members will receive as salary 15.64 percent of the amount that is the difference between the faculty members' full-time base salary and the faculty members' Limited appointment salary.

Faculty members who, under exceptional circumstances as specified above, are granted a Limited appointment status with a defined date for return to full-time, regular status, shall be provided life insurance, short-term disability, and long-term disability based on the faculty member's salary in effect immediately prior to the start of the Limited appointment status.

A faculty member on Limited appointment status shall be eligible to apply for curriculum and research grants and professional development monies. Such a faculty member shall only earn prorated credit for sabbatical eligibility. For example, if a faculty member is on a two-thirds (2/3) Limited appointment status and receives a full-year sabbatical at one-half (1/2) pay, the faculty member will receive one-half (1/2) of two-thirds (2/3) of the faculty member's salary. A faculty member on Reduced or Limited appointment status is not eligible for an overload assignment unless the Reduced appointment derives from the provisions of Article VII, Section 7.10.

#### 5.1.4 Joint Appointment

- 5.1.4.1 One of the departments will be designated the primary department. That department will be responsible for conducting the faculty member's annual evaluation and recommending the faculty member for promotion, tenure, or termination. The other department(s) shall provide written contribution(s) to the faculty member's annual evaluation and to recommendations for tenure, promotion, or termination.
- 5.1.4.2 The faculty member in a Joint appointment shall not be required to meet a higher standard than other faculty to achieve promotion and tenure. As a consequence, when evaluating a faculty member for tenure, promotion, or termination, evaluators shall take into account any unusual workload arising from the appointment.
- 5.2 Academic Titles and Minimum Criteria for Appointment

Full-Time Adjunct: A provisional appointment, normally not to exceed two (2) years, reserved for individuals who do not meet minimum criteria for other ranks but who have special attainments, skills, or experience. The University shall consult with the Association before offering any position as a Full-Time Adjunct and it is the intention of the parties not to proliferate appointments under this academic title.

Instructor: An earned Master's degree from an accredited institution (hereafter "accredited institution" shall be understood as an institution which is accredited by one [1] of the six [6] regional accrediting agencies and the recognized accrediting agency for the discipline, where appropriate) or a foreign educational institution whose degree is recommended for acceptance by the dean of the college upon concurrence of the department head and the faculty of the department in which the appointment will occur, and, in most instances, active candidacy for a terminal degree at an accredited institution. In most disciplines the earned doctorate constitutes the terminal degree; however, in those disciplines in which the doctorate is not normally required, appropriate criteria, including specification of degree requirements, shall be stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. These may include special attainments, skills, or experience particularly valuable to the academic unit. Probationary appointments to this rank shall not exceed a maximum of seven (7) years.

Assistant Professor: An earned doctorate from an accredited institution or other terminal qualifications appropriate to the position as stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. Exceptions may be made because of unusual scholarly and/or professional achievements.

Associate Professor: An earned doctorate from an accredited institution or other terminal qualifications appropriate to the position as stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs; normally six (6) years of full-time higher education experience at the rank of Instructor or above; evidence of teaching excellence and significant scholarly or creative professional achievement. Exceptions may be made because of unusual scholarly and/or professional achievements.

Professor: An earned doctorate from an accredited institution or other noteworthy qualifications for the position as stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs; normally, twelve (12) years of full-time higher education experience at the rank of Instructor or above; evidence of teaching excellence and distinguished scholarly or creative professional achievement. Exceptions may be made because of unusual scholarly and/or professional achievements.

Professor Emeritus: The title of "Professor Emeritus" is an honorary title conferred by action of the Board upon the nomination by the nominee's departmental faculty, department head, dean, or the Board. It shall only be awarded in recognition of an outstanding academic career and noteworthy contributions to the University to those who have retired after having been granted tenure at the University. According to the needs of the University, a Professor Emeritus may be called upon to serve one (1) or more one- (1) year appointments. Each such one- (1) year appointment shall not be subject to the usual notification requirements for reappointment. The provisions of this Section shall not be construed to guarantee employment to any emeritus faculty member in any academic year beyond the fiscal year in which the emeritus faculty member retires.

Visiting Appointments: A temporary appointment of an individual holding academic rank at another institution of higher learning, which shall not exceed two (2) consecutive years.

#### 5.3 Faculty Appointment Procedure

- 5.3.1 When authorization for a departmental position is given, the dean of the college shall provide the department head with specific staffing guidelines. These shall include budgetary considerations and, in some cases, desired qualifications. All appointments with academic rank, except for academic administrators and Board-initiated faculty appointments, shall originate within a department in accordance with the bylaws. All candidates proposed or recommended by the Board shall be given full consideration within the staffing guidelines and in accordance with Sections 5.3.2 through 5.3.4. The Board retains final appointment authority in all such Board-initiated appointments.
- 5.3.2 In conducting its search for a person to fill a position, the department, through the department head, must provide clear documentation that it has made a good faith effort to comply with existing federal and state laws regarding discrimination in employment and institutional procedures.
- 5.3.3 When interviews of candidates for the position have been completed, the department, through the department head, shall forward to the dean a written recommendation listing the department's candidate(s) in order of preference and the reasons for the preference. This communication should also include for each candidate a recommended salary range, initial appointment rank, and any special considerations. In the event that the dean rejects the department's recommendation(s), the dean shall request further recommendation(s).
- 5.3.4 When agreement is reached and all conditions of the appointment have been agreed to by the department head, dean, and Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, an Employment Agreement will be sent by the Provost and Vice President to the chosen candidate clearly specifying the type of appointment, salary, credit for prior service, degree, and/or tenure conditions. The Provost and Vice President shall also send a letter of appointment detailing expectations and responsibilities of the position. The terms of appointment shall normally follow the departmental recommendations specified in Section 5.3.3. Any deviation from these recommendations shall be communicated to the department.

#### 5.4 Faculty Evaluation

- Formal, written evaluations shall be completed for each faculty member at the direction of the department head in accordance with departmental bylaws and this Agreement. Nontenured faculty and Tenured Assistant and Associate Professors will be evaluated annually and Tenured full Professors will be evaluated every three (3) years. However:
  - a. New faculty may need to be evaluated three (3) times in the faculty members' first two (2) years to permit the necessary evaluation to meet the notification deadlines contained in Section 5.5.3.

- b. A Tenured Full Professor, the departmental evaluation committee, or the department head may request one (1) or more annual evaluations prior to the scheduled three- (3) year formal review. Such a request shall be nongrievable.
- 5.4.1.1 "Evaluation period" is a phrase used to describe a period of time during which a faculty member teaches and/or performs assigned duties and engages in professional development and service.

The normal evaluation period for faculty members is the calendar year. Evaluators are instructed to base the evaluation on the faculty member's performance during that calendar-year period.

- 5.4.1.1.1 Evaluation for other than promotion or tenure review shall be conducted in accordance with the following schedule:
  - February 1: The faculty member submits the evaluation to the departmental evaluation committee.
  - April 1: The departmental evaluation committee submits the evaluation to the department head.
  - April 30: The department head submits the departmental evaluation together with a statement of concurrence or nonconcurrence to the faculty member for review and comment.
  - May 15: The faculty member submits the signed evaluation to the department head with comments as appropriate.
  - May 20: The department head submits the faculty evaluations to the dean.
  - June 30: The dean signs the faculty evaluations and submits comments, if any, to the faculty member.
  - September 15: The faculty member may respond to any comments made by the dean.

Should the faculty member, evaluation committee, department head, or dean fail to adhere to the preceding schedule, the process shall proceed to the next step unless an extension is granted by the administrator or committee at the next step. Failure to receive the appropriate evaluation materials will be noted in writing in the next evaluator's statement and become part of the cumulative record for promotions and tenure.

- 5.4.1.1.2 For faculty members applying for tenure, the evaluation period covers multiple years, starting when the Tenure Earning appointment commences at the University unless prior service credit has been granted at the time of hire as provided in Section 5.5.2.1. For faculty with prior service credit toward the probationary period, the evaluation period must include that prior service time.
- 5.4.1.1.3 The evaluation period for tenure ends the day before the first day of fall semester classes during the calendar year in which the application is initiated, and performance or accomplishments after that date cannot be considered by the evaluators. The evaluation schedule for tenure and promotion applications is set forth in Section 5.5.8.
- 5.4.1.1.4 For faculty members applying for promotion, the evaluation period covers multiple years, starting when employment commences at the University (with the faculty member having the option to include the evaluation of employment at a prior institution), or on the first day of fall semester classes in the calendar year when the last successful promotion application was initiated at the University, whichever date is later.
- 5.4.1.1.5 The evaluation period for promotion ends the day before the first day of fall semester classes during the calendar year in which the application is initiated, and performance or accomplishments after that date cannot be considered by the evaluators.

Example (referencing a work in progress): An applicant for promotion or tenure has written a book-length manuscript during the evaluation period and submitted it to a publisher for review and hopefully for publication. The applicant's editor replies that the company would like to publish the book in the future. The applicant should list this achievement as an unpublished manuscript, not as a book, since it is not yet published as a book. Editor evaluations received during the evaluation period may also be attached.

The evaluation schedule for promotion applications is set forth in Section 5.5.8.

- 5.4.1.1.6 Following the application for tenure and/or promotion the first normal evaluation period shall be for a period from the first day of the fall semester in which application was made through the end of the next calendar year. (Approximately sixteen [16] months.)
- 5.4.1.2 Evaluation of a faculty member shall be based on and consistent with: the expectations, goals, and any special assignments or criteria stated in the initial letter of appointment; the departmental bylaws; previous evaluations; and the judgmental criteria specified in Section 5.5.5. The annual evaluations will be part of an ongoing record of the faculty member's progress toward promotion and/or tenure.

The evaluation shall focus on the faculty member's effectiveness in meeting assigned responsibilities (including teaching where applicable), professional development, and service endeavors as outlined in the Agreement and in the department's bylaws.

5.4.1.2.1 For teaching faculty, the evaluation shall include student evaluations from each course.

The collection of student evaluations shall be prescribed so that the anonymity, security, completeness, and integrity of the student responses are preserved. If the process of collection is not specified in the bylaws, it shall be under the direction of the department head in consultation with the appropriate departmental faculty committee.

The final student evaluations shall be collected not earlier than the final week of the class nor later than the end of the final exam week.

The department head shall direct the creation of such summary analyses of the student evaluations as deemed necessary for consideration by the department evaluation committee.

Faculty access to student evaluation materials will be prevented until after grades for the course have been submitted and the time period for posting grades has concluded.

5.4.1.2.2 The evaluation shall address any needs for improvement in the faculty member's performance, and discuss assistance or counseling that has been or should be given to the faculty member.

Evaluation statements shall conclude with a recommendation regarding continued appointment or termination of appointment for a faculty member progressing toward tenure. The evaluation statement shall indicate whether the faculty member is making the expected progress, and what goals or criteria must yet be achieved in order to be recommended for tenure and/or promotion. In the case of applications for promotion and/or tenure, there should be a recommendation regarding the application, accompanied by reasons for the recommendation.

At the departmental level, it is possible for new material to be added to the evaluation materials. Either the faculty member may wish to make available additional information to the departmental evaluators, or the evaluators may ask the faculty member for information which the faculty member may have that would aid in the evaluation (the faculty member may choose to make this information available). These materials shall be attached to the Part II statement by the faculty member.

Each evaluation prepared by a faculty member not applying for promotion and/or tenure shall include Parts I, II, III, IV, and V. For a faculty member applying for promotion and/or tenure, Parts VI, VII, and IX will be added by evaluative bodies during the evaluation process. Each part of the evaluation is described in subsequent sections of this Agreement.

Evaluation materials should be placed in numeric order, followed by the appendix and a copy of the departmental bylaws. The use of index tabs for each part is recommended.

#### 5.4.1.4 Faculty Evaluation Report – Part I

A set of official documents providing complete and valid information, including:

- a. For a faculty member preparing an annual evaluation:
  - NMU Faculty Evaluation Processing Form (see Appendix A of the Agreement)
  - faculty information page (Faculty Information Report Basic Data Form)
- b. For a faculty member applying for promotion and/or tenure:
  - NMU Faculty Evaluation: Promotion and/or Tenure Processing Form (see Appendix A of the Agreement)
  - faculty information page (Faculty Information Report Basic Data Form)
  - letter of appointment and/or Employment Agreement from the University
  - where appropriate, a position description listing duties and responsibilities
  - where appropriate, documentation outlining any changes in duties and responsibilities
  - if any of the above are not available, or otherwise deserve some commentary, the faculty member should include a page with appropriate explanation
  - table of contents covering the narrative in Part II, the Appendix to Part II (see Section 5.4.1.5.e),
     and the Backup Materials to Part II (see Section 5.4.1.5.f).

#### 5.4.1.5 Faculty Evaluation Report – Part II

A required statement, limited to eight (8) pages for evaluations and twenty-five (25) pages for tenure and promotion applications, by the faculty member, including the following:

- a. A general information section describing:
  - the faculty member's years in various ranks at this University and at other universities;
  - other relevant professional experience;
  - a listing of higher education degrees received (or progress toward degrees);
  - any other relevant educational experience.

Faculty who are expected to complete a terminal degree must include a clearly stated plan and timetable for completing the terminal degree.

Applicants for promotion or tenure must verify that they meet the minimum eligibility requirements outlined in the Master Agreement and/or bylaws regarding years of experience and professional degrees.

When applying for promotion and/or tenure, a statement highlighting this fact as well as an explanation of how the faculty member intends to structure the evaluation material.

b. A statement establishing the relative emphasis to be placed on professional development and service.

- c. A narrative statement describing the accomplishments in assigned responsibilities, professional development, and service. This statement cites the relevant sections of the bylaws and clearly shows how the expectations of the bylaws have been met (or in annual evaluations, how the faculty member is attempting to meet those expectations), and how these accomplishments relate to plans identified in prior evaluations.
  - (1) For teaching responsibilities, a description and qualitative assessment must be included and should be based upon the following:
    - (a) Teaching effectiveness as determined by the department bylaws
    - (b) Student evaluations. Student evaluation material should include:
      - the student evaluation process (including when the information was acquired),
      - a sample copy of any evaluation form(s),
      - arithmetic scores and quantitative analysis if rating scales were used, a condensed narrative report of student comments if those were obtained,
      - other information from student evaluations as appropriate,
      - a short qualitative assessment of the student evaluations.

Student evaluation sheets should not be submitted in raw form; however, they should be available to any evaluation committee or person upon request. Additional material may be placed in the Appendix or in Backup Materials.

- (c) Colleague evaluation information
- (2) A description and qualitative assessment of advising responsibilities
- (3) A description and qualitative assessment of additional assigned responsibilities (e.g., curriculum coordination, assessment activities; see Section 6.4.1)
- d. A statement of plans for the coming evaluation period. The faculty member is asked to be specific in identifying assignments and plans in teaching or other assigned professional responsibilities, professional development, and service. The faculty member should note when such plans are contingent upon University or outside support (e.g., travel, sabbatical request, Fulbright application, released time for research);
- e. An Appendix to the Part II narrative, consisting of important documents referred to in the narrative which evaluators would find essential to understanding or substantiating the narrative, such as letters of support, reviews of publications, copies of publications or presentations, etc. This appendix should be placed at the end of the evaluation document. This appendix is limited to eighty (80) pages, bearing in mind that the evaluations and their appendices must be hand-carried by many reviewers. Material too lengthy to be included within this eighty- (80) page limit may be placed in Backup Materials.
- f. For promotion and/or tenure applications, faculty members must submit Backup Materials which include evaluations for prior years that are part of the evaluation period. Backup material may also include bulky manuscripts, reports, copies of published articles or reprints, and slides or art works that cannot readily be duplicated. Backup Materials should be available first in the department, then in the appropriate dean's office, and later in the AAUP office so evaluators can consult them.

#### 5.4.1.6 Faculty Evaluation Report – Part III

Each yearly evaluation of a faculty member shall include a statement by the departmental evaluation committee. The committee should begin their evaluation by examining parts I and II prepared by the faculty member. This statement by the committee must contain the following:

- a. Confirmation of the faculty member's years of experience and educational achievements. For probationary appointments, this would confirm where the faculty member currently is in terms of the probationary timeframe. In an application for promotion and/or tenure, this would be a confirmation of precisely how the faculty member meets or does not meet the eligibility criteria for promotion and/or tenure.
- b. Confirmation of the beginning and ending dates of the evaluation period;
- Confirmation of the faculty member's relative emphasis for professional development and service as required by Section 5.5.5 of the Master Agreement and other relevant requirements of the departmental bylaws;
- d. Evaluative judgments about the faculty member's performance in meeting the criteria and goals specified in the Master Agreement, departmental bylaws, and in prior evaluation statements. The evaluative judgments will be used as a basis for establishing a record of progress towards meeting the requirements for tenure and/or promotion. In applications for promotion and/or tenure, the committee will determine whether the faculty member has met the judgmental criteria and goals specified in the Master Agreement, the departmental bylaws, and in prior evaluation statements.
- e. Clear, explicit language that evaluates the faculty member's performance in terms of the three (3) areas (teaching and/or assigned professional responsibilities, professional development, and service) listed in the Master Agreement and in departmental bylaws. This material should cite the relevant sections of the bylaws and clearly show how the expectations in the bylaws have been met or not met regarding significant achievements and effective performance.
- f. For teaching responsibilities, an assessment of teaching effectiveness based upon an interpretive analysis of student evaluations (quantitative analysis where rating scales are used, and assessment of comments from students where available) in the context of the specific teaching situation and other information such as a teaching portfolio or observations by colleagues;
- g. Assessment of the faculty member's effectiveness in advising and any additional assigned responsibilities;
- h. Evaluation statements shall conclude with a recommendation regarding continued appointment or termination of appointment for a faculty member progressing toward tenure and/or promotion. The evaluation statement shall indicate whether the faculty member is making the expected progress, and what goals or criteria must yet be achieved in order to be recommended for tenure and/or promotion. In the case of applications for promotion and/or tenure, there should be a recommendation regarding the application, accompanied by the reasons for the recommendation.
- i. A signature section showing the name of the chairperson of the departmental evaluation committee, as well as the names of all other members of the committee, and a place for the chair's signature (as well as for the signatures of all members of the committee in promotion and/or tenure cases).

## 5.4.1.7 Faculty Evaluation Report – Part IV

This part of the faculty member's evaluation is a statement by the department head which addresses Section 5.4.1.2 and Section 5.4.1.6. items (a) through (h). The department head must sign this statement.

#### 5.4.1.8 Faculty Evaluation Report – Part V

a. For evaluations not involving applications for promotion and/or tenure:

When the department has completed its evaluation, the faculty member shall review the completed evaluation before it leaves the department and has the right to add any written comments or pertinent material, which shall be appended to the Part V form. The faculty member will then sign the Part V form.

The faculty member's complete evaluation will then be forwarded by the department head to the dean. The dean reviews the evaluation and may choose to write a statement addressing some or all of the issues raised in the evaluation materials consistent with Section 5.4.1.2 and Section 5.4.1.6 items (a) through (h). If the dean chooses to write a statement, it shall be attached to Part V form. The dean signs the Part V form, after which a complete copy is given to the faculty member who may respond to the dean's statement by September 15 (see Section 5.4.1.1.1). Additional copies will be distributed as follows: one (1) copy for the departmental personnel file, one (1) copy for the dean's personnel file, and one (1) copy for the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.

b. For evaluations involving applications for promotion and/or tenure:

When the department has completed its evaluation, the application is considered complete. No additional information or material shall be added. The faculty member has the right to review the completed evaluation and must sign the Part V form acknowledging the same. This prohibition about adding new material does not preclude any evaluation body/person from seeking to obtain information that would clarify material in the completed evaluation, including but not limited to asking the faculty member to provide that clarification in writing. Example: An evaluation body desires to know whether a publication was juried or not.

Should a question arise as to whether the information desired represents an attempt at clarification or seems to represent a desire for new information, the inquiring party should put the question to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and to the Grievance Officer of the Association; the information request may not be pursued unless both agree that it is indeed a matter of clarification.

Recommendations for tenure and/or promotion shall be forwarded separately as described in Sections 5.5.7 and 5.5.8 of the Master Agreement.

The faculty member applying for promotion and/or tenure and the faculty member's department must provide ten (10) copies (original and nine [9] copies) of the completed evaluation materials (Parts I through V, Appendix, and departmental bylaws) for all applications forwarded to the college level.

- 5.4.1.9 These evaluations shall form a cumulative record for the basis of all recommendations of continuing appointment (including tenure and promotion) or of termination.
- 5.4.1.10 As promotion and tenure applications advance through the evaluation process, the statements (and appeal letters where they occur) should be added to the evaluation in the following order:

Part VI College Advisory Committee's Statement

Part VII Dean's Statement

Part VIII Faculty Review Committee's Letter

Part IX Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs Letter

5.4.2 Faculty Personnel Records

- A bargaining unit member's "faculty record" shall consist of the "personnel record" as defined in the Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act (see Appendix E), including but not limited to "academic personnel files." The academic personnel files for each faculty member shall be maintained in the offices of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, the dean, and the faculty member's departments (these files will be referred to as the "academic personnel files"). In addition to other material, the official personnel files contain material that is relevant to personnel decisions such as reappointment, tenure, and promotion. In addition to rights provided by the Bullard-Plawecki Act for a faculty member to inspect the faculty member's personnel record, persons authorized in writing by the faculty member shall also have those rights.
- 5.4.2.2 Faculty members may review their personnel record as explained in appendices E and F.
- 5.4.2.3 A faculty member shall have the right to obtain a copy of all material in the faculty member's faculty record at the faculty member's expense. The fee shall be limited to the cost of reproduction and the mailing of the materials requested.
- 5.4.2.4 No unsubstantiated material shall be retained or placed in any faculty member's faculty record. There shall also be no materials that make reference to unsubstantiated or anonymous comments, except for historical references and, then, without conveying substantive content. Anonymous material may be included only when revealing the identity of the person could subject the person to unwarranted treatment by the faculty member, e.g., the identity of students alleging abusive treatment could be withheld as long as they are still members of the faculty member's class. Such material can not, however, be used as the basis for any disciplinary action beyond a written warning.
- 5.4.2.5 Except where prohibited by law, if the University grants permission for a government agency to examine the faculty record of any faculty member, timely notice will be given to the faculty member and the Association as to which files will be examined, the examiner, the agency, the date, and the purpose of the examination.
- 5.4.2.6 If a faculty member's faculty record maintained in the Offices of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs or appropriate dean or department head is subpoenaed, the University shall send timely notice of the subpoena to the faculty member.
- 5.4.2.7 All written material used by the department head, dean or Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs in making recommendations concerning reappointment, tenure, and promotion, and disciplinary matters (discipline and/or termination) shall be contained in the academic personnel file at the time of these recommendations. These materials shall be placed in the file in a timely manner and the faculty member shall be sent a copy of the materials within twenty (20) days of its occurrence. Materials not placed in a file within one hundred eighty (180) days of their receipt may not be added to the file.
- 5.4.2.8 Within twenty (20) days of the addition of material to a faculty member's faculty record, the faculty member shall be sent a copy of that added material if the faculty member was not the originator or addressee, or not specifically copied on the material.
- Pursuant to the Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act, if the faculty member disagrees with information contained in the faculty member's faculty record, removal or correction of that information may be mutually agreed upon by the University and the faculty member. If an agreement is not reached, the faculty member may submit a written statement explaining the faculty member's position. The election of the faculty member not to submit such a written rebuttal does not indicate agreement with the information. If a faculty member elects to file a written rebuttal, the University's failure to respond does not indicate agreement with the faculty member's response.

Faculty members shall have the right to make reasonable additions to the faculty members' faculty record.

#### 5.4.2.10 Faculty Record Maintenance

For the purpose of periodic faculty record maintenance, the designated administrative officer and the faculty member may jointly review the contents of the faculty member's academic personnel file. By mutual agreement and with the written approval of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, individual documents may be removed. However, files may be routinely updated from time to time at the discretion of the designated administrative officer by removal of such routine items as outdated vita, which will be returned to the faculty member.

- 5.4.2.11 The University agrees to take reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of faculty records, pursuant to the following guidelines:
- 5.4.2.11.1 Internal access to faculty records shall be afforded to those University officials, employees, or agents who have a reasonable need for such access pursuant to legitimate University business.
- 5.4.2.11.2 As to external requests for faculty records:
  - a. The University agrees to maintain the confidentiality of faculty records to the extent permitted by law. This provision does not impact upon the University's duty to comply with lawfully issued subpoenas, court orders, discovery demands, garnishments, or other such routine information requests required by law, including routine requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act (the FOIA).
  - b. If the University receives a nonroutine FOIA request for access to faculty records (e.g., a request for specific items from a faculty record which may constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of privacy as provided in a FOIA exception), the University will take reasonable steps to notify the faculty member and the Association of the request. If the University determines it is required to release faculty records pursuant to such a request, it will take reasonable steps to notify the faculty member and the Association of its decision so that the faculty member and/or the Association can respond to the decision before the release of the records, with the understanding that the University must meet statutory time lines.
- 5.5 Tenure and Promotion Policy
- 5.5.1 General Principles
- 5.5.1.1 Tenure is conferred by formal action of the Board upon the recommendation of the President of the University as initiated by the department and/or department head and bearing the prior review of the appropriate faculty committees (department, college, University-wide), dean, and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. No faculty member upon whom tenure status has been conferred shall be discharged except for just cause. (Layoff of Tenured faculty members is dealt with in Article VII; the procedure to be followed in the termination of a Tenured faculty member for just cause is dealt with in Article X.)
- 5.5.1.2 Tenure shall be granted only to those faculty members at the rank of Assistant Professor or higher in positions which are fully funded by state appropriations, unless specifically exempted in the initial letter of appointment. In cases where specific programs are modified by action of governmental or private funding agencies, the granting of tenure may depend on the continuing existence of such programs. All other instances in which the granting of tenure is affected by programmatic changes shall be governed by the procedures described in Articles III and VII.

The University and the Association recognize the unique role that the University serves in providing community college level programs. They also recognize that faculty hired to teach in these programs may be required to have specific qualifications different from the traditional terminal degree qualifications.

Faculty who are appointed to teach courses related specifically to community college level programs (including developmental courses) will be eligible to be considered for tenure if they meet the qualifications set forth in the departmental bylaws and the Master Agreement.

- 5.5.1.3 Tenure shall be granted only to United States citizens, those in process of becoming citizens, or those noncitizens who are permanent residents, as certified by the U.S. Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services.
- 5.5.1.4 In the probationary period for tenure established herein, a leave or leaves of absence totaling two (2) years or less shall not void the continuity of the probationary period.
- 5.5.1.5 Resignation from the University terminates the probationary period for tenure. A faculty member returning to the University after a resignation will receive credit for this service in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.5.2.1.
- Up to three (3) years of service at the University shall be credited toward tenure for faculty members who occupy full-time Term appointments at the University and who are subsequently awarded a Tenure Earning appointment.
- 5.5.1.7 Tenure and promotion shall be based primarily on judgmental criteria specified in Section 5.5.5., in promotion decisions, years of service, and educational preparation shall be given consideration.
- 5.5.1.8 Faculty hired into Tenure Earning positions at the rank of Instructor shall be advanced to Assistant Professor upon completion of the appropriate terminal degree qualifications as specified in their letter of appointment. This advancement will not count as a promotion when considering the faculty member's application for promotion to Associate Professor.

Salary rate adjustments as provided in the letter of appointment to Assistant Professor will be processed at the beginning of the fall or winter semester, whichever immediately follows degree completion.

## 5.5.2 Probationary Period for Tenure

All faculty members on Tenure Earning appointments will have a probationary period not exceeding seven (7) consecutive years. It is possible that, as a result of a negative evaluation based on the judgmental criteria, a faculty member may be issued a notice of termination after any evaluation during the probationary period, provided that the notification meets the timing requirements of Section 5.5.3.

- 5.5.2.1 For purposes of tenure, a newly appointed Tenure Earning faculty member shall, at the faculty member's irrevocable discretion, be given up to two (2) years credit for an equal or greater number of years of full-time prior service at the rank of Instructor or above, including Term appointments at NMU, prior to a Tenure Earning appointment. If appointed at the Associate Professor level or above, the faculty member may be granted a third year of prior service credit. In circumstances where newly appointed faculty have had a professionally related position without academic rank, consideration may be given to the awarding of prior service credit. The number of years credited toward the probationary period shall be stipulated in the initial letter of appointment; however, the maximum amount of prior service credit to be applied to the probationary period shall be three (3) years. Any prior service so credited shall be included in computing the probationary years of service referred to in Sections 5.5.2 and 5.5.2.2.
- 5.5.2.2 In the absence of earlier notice of termination or earlier granting of tenure, a faculty member shall be given written notice not later than May 15 of the sixth year, of (1) tenure granted, (2) intention to grant tenure at the end of the seventh year only upon fulfillment of specified conditions, or (3) to terminate the appointment at the end of the seventh year.

#### 5.5.3 Notice of Termination

If the decision is reached that a faculty member on a Tenure Earning appointment should be given notice of termination, such notice must be given in writing as follows:

a. In the first year of employment that begins with the fall semester, the notification date will be not later than March 1. In the case of any other beginning date, the notification date shall be at least three (3) months prior to the end of the first full year of service.

- b. In the second year of employment that originally began with the fall semester, the notification date for the second year of service will be not later than December 15. In the case of any other beginning date, the notification date shall be at least six (6) months prior to the end of the second full year of service.
- c. After two (2) or more years in the institution, the notification date shall be at least twelve (12) months prior to the effective date of termination.
- 5.5.4 Eligibility Criteria for Promotion
- 5.5.4.1 To be eligible to apply for promotion, a faculty member must meet the following requirements:
- 5.5.4.1.1 Assistant Professor: An earned doctorate from an accredited institution or other terminal qualifications appropriate to the position as stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. Exceptions may be made because of unusual scholarly and/or professional achievements.

Associate Professor: An earned doctorate from an accredited institution or other terminal qualifications appropriate to the position as stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs; normally five (5) years of full-time higher education experience at the rank of Instructor or above, completed prior to application for the Associate Professor rank; compliance with the provisions of Section 5.4. Exceptions may be made because of unusual scholarly and/or professional achievements.

Professor: An earned doctorate from an accredited institution or other noteworthy qualifications for the position as stipulated in the departmental bylaws, subject to the review and approval of the appropriate dean and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs; normally, eleven (11) years of full-time higher education experience at the rank of Instructor or above, completed prior to application for the Professor rank; compliance with the provisions of Section 5.4. Exceptions may be made because of unusual scholarly and/or professional achievements.

- 5.5.4.1.2 The degree and time in rank requirements stated in Section 5.5.4.1.1 should not be interpreted so as to prevent the promotion to a higher rank of faculty members who have served at the University for at least five (5) years prior to 1975-76. For these faculty members, merit, based upon the judgmental criteria documented in the faculty member's cumulative evaluations, shall be the primary consideration for promotion.
- 5.5.5 Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion Evaluation

Faculty who request consideration for tenure or promotion shall present in the annual evaluation supporting evidence as defined in departmental bylaws bearing on the quality of the faculty members' performance since the last promotion in each of the following areas:

- a. Assigned professional responsibilities in such areas as teaching, counseling, or librarianship and other assigned responsibilities such as academic advising or curriculum development and other related duties as specified in the letter of appointment.
- b. Professional development, such as in the four (4) forms of scholarship: the scholarship of discovery; the scholarship of integration; the scholarship of application; the scholarship of teaching. For purposes of evaluation, the four (4) forms are of equal weight. In order to indicate what will be considered as an achievement in each of the forms, departments shall modify their bylaws by giving examples that illustrate achievements that do or do not demonstrate forms of scholarship for the department's discipline.

Examples of what will be considered as professional development in all departments are:

- (1) Research, scholarship, and creative activities directed toward the publication, presentation, or dissemination of new knowledge, techniques, or modes of expression in monographs, professional journals and meetings, formal exhibitions, performances, and recitals that are subject to a peer review and selection process.
- (2) Involvement in professional conferences
- (3) Consulting
- (4) Other appropriate professional activities
- c. Service on departmental, college, and University-wide committees, service to the student body, and service through professional organizations, and professionally related community service.

Departmental bylaws shall describe specific standards for tenure and promotion which confirm levels of achievement in the areas of assigned responsibility, professional development, and service commensurate with each higher rank and which shall be defined by example. While reflective of the differences in their fields, the standards specified in the bylaws in each department shall be comparable to the standards in departmental bylaws throughout the University, i.e., the circle of comparison shall be the University community. Such descriptions must be approved according to the processes described in Article III, Section 3.1.

The most important criterion for tenure and promotion is effectiveness in the area of assigned responsibilities (criterion 1). Continued effectiveness in the area of assigned responsibilities shall be evidenced by the achievement of goals identified in this area in prior evaluations. The second most important criterion for tenure and promotion can be either professional development or service. The relative emphasis on professional development (criterion 2) or service (criterion 3) must be specified in evaluation materials each year, including the year of application. The determination of relative emphasis must be made within the parameters described in the departmental bylaws and will be the result of dialog between the faculty member, the departmental evaluation committee, and the department head. Concurrence with the faculty member's relative emphasis on professional development and service will be provided by the departmental evaluation committee and be subject to approval of the department head.

- 5.5.6 Departmental Eligibility and Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion
- 5.5.6.1 Departments may periodically add to or revise particular departmental eligibility and judgmental requirements in the departments' bylaws subject to the approval of the department head, the CAC, the appropriate dean, and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- 5.5.6.2 Following approval by the appropriate dean and Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, the department's criteria, as specified by the bylaws, will be regarded as official departmental policy to be communicated to all department members and available on request by any faculty member from the appropriate dean.
- 5.5.7 Tenure and Promotion Review Process
- 5.5.7.1 As provided by departmental bylaws, each department shall establish procedures for tenure and promotion review.
- 5.5.7.2 Tenure and promotion review shall be based on the faculty evaluation as outlined in Section 5.5.1.7 and shall reflect the general principles stated in Section 5.5.1.

- 5.5.7.3 The department has the responsibility for initiating and conducting of tenure review for all probationary faculty on Tenure Earning appointments in their department. This review follows a probationary period during which colleagues advise the Tenure Earning faculty member of the faculty member's progress toward tenure through the annual evaluation process. The annual evaluation will also contain a description of the faculty member's current status and any remaining requirements or improvements necessary for achieving a favorable tenure recommendation. A promotion review shall be conducted when requested by a faculty member.
- 5.5.7.4 It is the responsibility of the faculty member being considered for tenure or promotion to demonstrate that the faculty member has met the criteria specified in the departmental bylaws and the faculty member's annual evaluations during the cumulative evaluation process.
- 5.5.7.4.1 In the case of tenure, the cumulative evaluations include the probationary period and any years of prior service credit specified in the letter of appointment.
- 5.5.7.4.2 In the case of promotion, the cumulative evaluations include the period since the faculty member's last promotion as specified in Section 5.4.1.1.4 and 5.5.1.8.
- 5.5.7.5 The departmental evaluation committee shall conduct a review of the qualifications and performance of the faculty member and submit a written report containing all supporting documents and recommendations for the award of tenure or promotion, as stipulated in Section 5.4.1.6. this shall become Part III of the faculty member's annual evaluation.
- 5.5.7.6 The department head shall conduct an independent review of the qualifications and performance of the faculty member, and shall submit an independent report, as stipulated in Section 5.4.1.7. This shall become Part IV of the faculty member's annual evaluation.
- 5.5.7.7 The individual faculty member's tenure or promotion application file must be complete at the time the recommendation of the department, consisting of both the departmental evaluation committee's and the department head's recommendations, is forwarded to the CAC. No additional materials may be added by the faculty member, departmental faculty, or the department head nor be requested by any faculty committee or academic administrator except during the investigation of an appeal of two (2) negative recommendations by the departmental evaluation committee and the department head, or a negative recommendation by any subsequent review body. (See Section 5.5.9 for the appeal process.)
- 5.5.7.8 The CAC shall conduct a thorough review of all candidates for tenure or promotion within the college and shall submit its recommendations to the dean of the college for review and action as stipulated in Section 5.4.1.8. These recommendations shall become Part VI of the evaluation.
- 5.5.7.8.1 Should the CAC not concur with the departmental recommendation for tenure or promotion, the CAC must provide to the candidate and the previous review bodies a specific written statement of how in the CAC's judgment, the candidate failed to meet the criteria specified in Section 5.5.4, Section 5.5.5, or departmental bylaws, along with suggestions on how to strengthen the case for favorable consideration in the future, if applicable. Such a negative finding may be appealed by the faculty member as discussed in Section 5.5.9.
- 5.5.7.9 The dean shall provide a written statement of concurrence or nonconcurrence with the CAC recommendations. As stipulated in Section 5.4.1.10, this shall become Part VII of the evaluation document. The dean shall forward recommendations for tenure and promotion to the FRC.
- 5.5.7.9.1 Should the dean not concur with the CAC's recommendation for tenure or promotion, the dean must provide to the candidate and the previous review body a specific written statement of how in the dean's judgment, the candidate failed to meet the criteria specified in Section 5.5.4, Section 5.5.5, or departmental bylaws, along with suggestions on how to strengthen the case for favorable consideration in the future, if applicable. Such a negative finding may be appealed by the faculty member as discussed in Section 5.5.9.
- 5.5.7.10 The FRC will conduct a thorough review of all candidates for tenure of promotion and shall submit a written report and recommendations to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs for review and action. As stipulated in Section 5.4.1.10, this shall become Part VII of the evaluation document.

- 5.5.7.10.1 Should the FRC not concur with the dean's recommendation(s), the FRC must provide to the candidate and the previous review body a specific written statement of how in the FRC's judgment, the candidate failed to meet the criteria specified in Section 5.5.4, Section 5.5.5, or departmental bylaws, along with suggestions on how to strengthen the case for favorable consideration in the future, if applicable. Such a negative finding may be appealed by the faculty member as discussed in Section 5.5.9.
- 5.5.7.11 The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs (as the Board's agent), following consultation with the FRC, shall determine those faculty for whom tenure or promotion will be recommended to the President and the Board.
- 5.5.7.11.1 Recognizing that promotion recommendations for tenure and promotion advanced by the FRC are the end result of a thorough review process, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall depart from the recommendations of the FRC only for serious and compelling reasons. The Provost and Vice President will notify both the FRC and the faculty member in writing of the reasons for the Provost and Vice President's decision in any case where it departs from the recommendation of the FRC.
- 5.5.8 Timetable for Tenure and Promotion Review Process
- 5.5.8.1 October 1: Faculty applications for tenure or promotion shall be forwarded to the department.
- 5.5.8.2 November 15: Departmental recommendations shall be forwarded to the CAC by the department head if either one of them is positive. Material forwarded shall consist of Parts I-IV. Part V is signed only by the faculty member at this time.
- 5.5.8.3 December 15: CAC's positive recommendations for tenure or promotion shall be submitted to the dean.
- February 1: The dean shall submit the dean's positive recommendations for tenure or promotion to the FRC.
- 5.5.8.5 March 8: The FRC shall forward its positive recommendations for tenure or promotion to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. This shall become Part IX of the evaluation.
- 5.5.8.6 April 8: The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall forward recommendations for tenure or promotion to the Board of Trustees.
- 5.5.8.7 The effective date for tenure and/or promotion is the beginning of the academic year for faculty on an academic-year appointment and July 1 for all other faculty.
- 5.5.8.8 Should the faculty member, evaluation committee, department head, or dean fail to adhere to the preceding schedule, the process shall proceed to the next step unless an extension is granted by the administrator or committee at the next step. Failure to receive the appropriate evaluation materials will be noted in writing in the next evaluator's statement and become part of the cumulative record for promotions and tenure.
- 5.5.8.9 Candidates for promotion or tenure and the Grievance Officer shall be notified of the recommendation, positive or negative, at each step in accordance with the above schedule. The candidates will also be notified of the action of the Board with respect to promotion and tenure recommendations by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- 5.5.9 Appeals
- Any faculty member who is denied tenure or promotion may appeal to the next highest committee or authority up to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs; however, negative recommendations will be forwarded to the next level only if appealed in writing by the faculty member. Such written appeal must be submitted within fourteen (14) calendar days of the receipt of the negative recommendation by the faculty member. In the event that the appeal receives a positive recommendation, the committee or person reversing previous recommendations shall forward to the committee/faculty member the reason(s) for the reversal of the negative recommendation.

- When a faculty member is notified in writing of a negative recommendation, such a notice shall be sent by certified mail. In the event the certified letter notifying the faculty member of a negative recommendation is not received, the fourteen- (14) day period for appeal shall begin to run not later than the date of notice by the University from the post office that the certified letter was refused or unclaimed.
- 5.5.9.3 At the department level: Candidates not recommended for tenure or promotion by the departmental committee or a department head shall be provided a written statement of the reason(s).

When both the departmental evaluation committee and the department head do not support a tenure or promotion application, the application will not go forward to the next level unless there is a formal written appeal; when one (1) but not both of the recommendations at the departmental level is negative, the application will automatically go to the next level (CAC) and no appeal is necessary or permitted.

- 5.5.9.4 CAC Level: The CAC shall make its own investigation and determination of appeals of departmental decisions. The CAC may refer the faculty member's appeal to the faculty member's department for further consideration. The CAC may request additional supporting materials for clarification of the previous bodies' decisions, the application, or the appeal. The CAC may overrule the department's recommendation only for reasons based on the evidence relative to the achievement of the criteria specified in Section 5.5.5. The CAC shall forward a copy of the appeal, additional supporting documents, and its report to the candidate and prior evaluatory bodies.
- 5.5.9.4.1 Faculty not recommended for tenure or promotion by the CAC may submit a written appeal of the recommendation(s) of the CAC to the dean.
- 5.5.9.5 Dean Level: The dean shall make a separate investigation and determination of appeals of the CAC and shall advise the faculty member of the dean's determination. The dean may refer such appeals to the CAC for further consideration. The dean may request additional supporting materials for clarification of the previous bodies' decisions, the application, or the appeal. The dean may overrule the CAC's recommendation only for reasons based on the evidence relative to the achievement of the criteria specified in Section 5.5.5. The dean shall forward a copy of the appeal, additional supporting documents, and the dean's report to the candidate and prior evaluatory body.
- 5.5.9.5.1 Faculty not recommended for tenure or promotion by the dean may submit a written appeal of the recommendations of the dean to the FRC.
- 5.5.9.6 FRC Level: The FRC shall make its own investigation and determination of appeals of the dean's recommendations. The FRC may refer such appeals to the dean for further consideration. The FRC may request additional supporting materials for clarification of the previous bodies' decisions, the application, or the appeal. The FRC may overrule the dean's recommendation only for reasons based on the evidence relative to the achievement of the criteria specified in Section 5.5.5. The FRC shall forward a copy of the appeal, additional supporting documents, and its report to the candidate and prior evaluatory body.
- 5.5.9.6.1 Faculty not recommended for tenure or promotion by the FRC may submit a written appeal of the recommendation of the FRC to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- 5.5.9.7 Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs Level: The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs will make a separate investigation and determination of appeals of the FRC. The Provost and Vice President may request the FRC to reconsider its recommendations. The Provost and Vice President may request additional supporting materials for clarification of the previous bodies' decisions, the application, or the appeal. The Provost and Vice President shall depart from the recommendations of the FRC only for serious and compelling reasons. The Provost and Vice President shall forward a copy of the appeal, additional supporting documents, and the Provost and Vice President's report to the candidate and prior evaluatory body.

### **ARTICLE VI**

## PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES

- 6.1 Professional Responsibilities
- 6.1.1 The Board and the Association agree that the primary professional responsibility of faculty members is teaching, professional library work, or professional counseling, depending on the position. They agree that research, scholarship, and creative activities; professionally-related service; and professional development are also faculty responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Board and the Association to foster an atmosphere of intellectual inquiry and growth. It is the responsibility of the Board to provide support to fulfill these responsibilities.
- 6.1.1.1 Full-time instructional faculty members shall normally be assigned to a twenty-four (24) credit-hour teaching load (or its equivalent) during the regular academic year (fall and winter semesters). In most instances, twelve (12) hours is the normal credit-hour load for each regular semester. It is recognized that it may not be possible to establish the same credit-hour production for each faculty member. Department heads, after consultation with departmental faculty, are responsible for structuring assignments to take into account large sections in single courses, laboratory supervision and planning, supervision of special learning activities, supervision of field activities, clinical experience, or administrative duties.
- 6.1.1.1.1 Off-campus teaching assignments during the academic year shall be based on the programmatic needs as determined by the dean, department head, and the Director of Continuing Education and Sponsored Programs. When accreditation standards dictate limitation on off-campus overloads, the Board reserves the right to assign qualified members of the bargaining unit to off-campus courses as part of load, but no faculty member can be assigned more than one (1) on-load extension course in an academic year without mutual consent. In other cases, these courses may be offered to qualified members of the bargaining unit or to qualified adjuncts as extension courses. The department head and dean have final authority to determine such assignments.
- 6.1.1.1.2 Individual instructional faculty members may have the normal twenty-four (24) credit hour on-campus teaching load assignment for the two- (2) semester academic year reassigned to include spring, summer, overload, and/or off-campus courses at no additional compensation only at the written mutual agreement of the dean, the department head, and the faculty member.
  - Under this reassignment option all semesters involving a reduced teaching load shall carry an equivalent reduction in all noninstructional duties.
- 6.1.1.1.3 If a new department is created which requires faculty in that department to teach labs or clinics or if there are proposed changes in an already existing department which would alter the credit hour value of labs or clinics and the faculty and the Administration cannot come to agreement concerning the credit hours to be assigned for teaching such labs or clinics, the matter will be referred to a committee consisting of two (2) representatives from the Board and two (2) from the Association. This committee shall review the proposals of the departmental faculty and the Board in light of the current work practices in AAUP-represented academic departments at the University. The committee shall submit its recommendation to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs who will follow the recommendations of the committee unless the Provost and Vice President has serious and compelling reasons for not doing so. If the Provost and Vice President does not follow the recommendations of the committee, the Provost and Vice President will indicate the Provost and Vice President's reason in writing to the committee and the department.
- 6.1.1.2 The normal workload for noninstructional faculty shall be forty (40) hours per week, with specific work schedules determined by the department head or dean after consultation with the faculty member.
- 6.1.1.3 In the case of faculty members who are assigned combined instructional and noninstructional responsibilities, an appropriate proration shall be made consistent with Sections 6.1.1.1 and 6.1.1.2.

- 6.1.1.4 All faculty shall have departmental, college, and/or University-wide committee responsibilities and shall participate in at least one (1) commencement exercise each academic year.
- 6.1.1.5 There shall be no fixed scheduling of the times which faculty members shall be required to discharge the faculty members' professional responsibilities, except as provided in Section 6.3 and except as required by scheduled class assignments and the fixed scheduling of other events which faculty members are required to attend by this Agreement.

### 6.1.1.6 Released-Time Credit

In order to provide released time for faculty research, professional development, curriculum development, and to supplement sabbatical time and pay combinations, tenured faculty and faculty with Tenure Earning or Continuing positions may earn and accumulate released time credit as described in Sections 6.1.1.6.1.1 through 6.1.1.6.5. This program for earning and accumulating released time is intended to qualify as a compensatory time plan within the meaning of Section 547(E)(11)(A)(I) of the Internal Revenue Code but shall not be interpreted as a reference to compensatory time as used in the Fair Labor Standards Act.

- 6.1.1.6.1 Released-time credits may only be earned for teaching overload classes (defined in Section 6.1.1.6.2) for which no monetary compensation is received according to the following system:
  - a. One (1) released-time credit shall be earned for each credit hour for on- or off-campus credit.
  - b. Released-time credit may be earned for graduate thesis direction as provided in Section 9.1.4.4.
  - One-quarter (0.25) released-time credit shall be earned for each three- (3) or four- (4) credit course taught as a directed study.
  - d. A faculty member may not accrue more than twelve (12) credits of released time during the life of the Agreement.
  - e. In order to teach any course for released-time credit, a faculty member must sign a statement on the form for released-time credit indicating that the released time earned will be used for research, professional development, curriculum development, or to supplement sabbatical time and pay combinations. (See Appendix C for form.) A faculty member must submit and have approved a specific plan describing how the released time will be used for research, professional development, curriculum development, or to supplement sabbatical time and pay combinations prior to commencement of the course for which released-time credit is requested. If an approved plan for the use of released-time credit cannot be fulfilled, the faculty member and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs will seek to find a mutually agreed upon substitute plan to utilize released time prior to the faculty member's retirement.
  - f. Released time is subject to one hundred percent (100%) forfeiture if not used as provided above, except it will be paid upon the faculty member's total disability after approval for benefits by the University's long-term disability carrier, or upon the employee's death while in active University service (i.e., prior to effective date of retirement or other termination). Upon death, the released-time credit will be paid to the individual designated by the faculty member on the NMU Employee Authorization to Disburse Earnings and Allowances Form on file in the Human Resources Department. Released time paid at disability or death will be paid at the rate earned.
  - g. A faculty member cannot accept an overload or additional assignment while utilizing accrued released time.
- 6.1.1.6.2 An overload course is a course assigned to a faculty member by the department head which is in addition to the normal assigned professional responsibilities.
- 6.1.1.6.3 If faculty members wish to use released-time credits which have been or will have been earned before the beginning date of the sabbatical, the faculty member must apply for a full-year, half-pay (1/2) or three-quarter- (3/4) pay option and indicate on the sabbatical application the amount of released time to be used as a supplement.

- 6.1.1.6.4 A faculty member intending to use four (4) hours or less of released time must seek the approval of the department head six (6) months in advance and have a plan for the use of the released-time credit on file (Section 6.1.1.6.1.e). Approval of the plan shall be discretionary with the department head.
- 6.1.1.6.5 The faculty member's plan for the use of more than four (4) hours of released time, other than as a sabbatical supplement, must be approved by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs six (6) months in advance and have a plan for use of the released-time credit on file (6.1.1.6.1.e). Approval of the plan shall be discretionary with the Provost and Vice President. For example, approval by the Provost and Vice President must be obtained to combine eight (8) hours of accrued released time with a four- (4) hour teaching assignment in order to fulfill the normal twelve- (12) hour teaching assignment for a semester.
- 6.2 Instructional Responsibilities
- 6.2.1 Instructional objectives, course requirements, and the testing methods and criteria to be used in grading shall be communicated to students by means of a syllabus at the beginning of each semester (or session). Copies of syllabuses shall be on file in the department office.
- 6.2.2 Students shall be provided timely appraisal of the students' progress in each course and shall be provided an opportunity to review all written work on which they have received grades (including final exams which shall be retained by the instructor for one [1] year).
- 6.2.3 Faculty shall meet their assigned classes at their scheduled times for the entire period and for the full length of the semester. Any change in time or location of a scheduled class must have prior approval of the department head, and the faculty member is expected to give students timely notification of the change.
- 6.2.3.1 All student-initiated appeals of grades shall follow the procedure described in the Northern Michigan University Student Handbook.
- 6.3 Academic Advising, Registration, and Student Consultation Responsibilities
- 6.3.1 Faculty shall have registration and advising responsibilities before the beginning of classes and during the semester (or session, if applicable), including advance registration periods.
- Faculty recognize that being available for consultation with students is essential for student learning and hence an important responsibility. Faculty will be available for consultation a minimum of twelve (12) hours a week; some of these hours may be arranged individually or through the departmental office; others, however, must be held at regular and posted times at a designated professional location, e.g., faculty office or laboratory.
- 6.3.3 Assigned Responsibilities
- 6.3.3.1 Faculty may have additional assigned responsibilities such as curriculum coordination or outcomes assessment activities when such responsibilities are mutually agreed upon by the faculty member and administration.
- 6.4 Academic Freedom and Responsibility
- 6.4.1 The Board and the Association subscribe to the following statement which sets forth principles of academic freedom and associated responsibilities of individual faculty members:

The faculty member is entitled to full freedom in research and in the publication of the results, subject to adequate performance of the faculty member's other academic duties; but research for pecuniary return should be based upon an understanding with the authorities of the institution.

The faculty member is entitled to freedom in the classroom in discussing the course subject, but the faculty member should be careful not to introduce into the teaching controversial matters which have no relation to the course subject.

- 6.5 Professional Development
- 6.5.1 Faculty members shall be expected to engage in appropriate professional development activities as specified in the annual evaluation.
- 6.5.1.1 Faculty who receive funds for travel or professional development will prepare a report detailing how this support contributed to professional development or the improvement of academic programs at the University. The report will be made in writing to the department head and submitted as part of the faculty member's evaluation.
- 6.5.2 Academic Support
- 6.5.2.1 The Board shall provide each department with support funds for general operations which shall be allocated by the department head in consultation with the faculty.
- 6.5.2.2 The Board shall continue to provide academic support in the following areas: clerical services, office supplies, equipment, laboratory supplies, duplicating, campus mail services, office space, research, scholarship, and creative projects, curriculum development, instructional improvement projects, professional development, and an allocation for library expenditures.
- 6.5.2.3 The Board shall provide funds at the college level to facilitate bringing academic guests and speakers to the University.
- The Board shall make available to each faculty member for approved professional development \$900 for 2003-04; \$925 for 2004-05; and \$930 for 2005-06. The primary purpose of this fund is to support faculty travel. However, other approved expenditures in support of professional development may be made. These funds shall be allocated to the department by the beginning of the fall semester for each full-time departmental faculty member on academic-year or full-year appointment. Normally these funds shall be allocated to each faculty member by the department head, pursuant to departmental bylaws, in consultation with each faculty member requesting funds. Departments shall have bylaw provisions regulating the length of time an individual faculty member may reserve unspent professional development funds allotted to the individual faculty member.
- 6.5.2.4.1 Departmental monies allocated for faculty travel or professional development under Section 6.5.2.4 and not expended during the fiscal year will be carried forward for faculty travel or professional development in that department in the following fiscal year(s).
- 6.5.2.5 Grant programs for which the University has allocated state funds and released time for research, curriculum development, and instructional improvement shall be awarded to bargaining unit members on a competitive basis in accordance with Article III, Section 3.3.1.6. This provision shall not be construed to alter the practice for released time or supplemental funds from deans or academic department heads.

Additionally, for each year of the Agreement, released time shall be awarded to faculty who can receive released time without requiring that the department hire a replacement for the faculty members. Released time from one (1) four- (4) credit course shall be measured as one ninth (1/9) of the salary of the faculty member receiving released time.

6.5.2.6 The Board shall allocate funds each year of the Agreement for curriculum development and instructional improvement. Allocations for curriculum development and instructional improvement shall be made by the Office of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs in consultation with the Academic Senate.

Additionally, released time shall be awarded to faculty who can receive released time without requiring that the department hire a replacement for the faculty members. Released time from one (1) four- (4) credit course shall be measured as one-ninth (1/9) of the salary of the faculty member receiving released time.

- 6.5.2.7 The Board shall allocate for supplemental travel \$35,000 for 2003-04, \$35,000 for 2004-05, and \$35,000 for 2005-06. Support for faculty travel will be in cases where the faculty member is invited to present a paper or has a significant role in a conference or meeting or in cases where a faculty member attends a special seminar or meeting. Applications for supplemental travel support shall be made through the appropriate dean to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- 6.5.2.8 The Office of Graduate Studies and Research shall provide, insofar as possible, clerical and logistical support to faculty members seeking and submitting grants from outside funding agencies or organizations. In order to ensure timely submission of grant applications, faculty shall adhere to the guidelines of the Graduate Studies and Research Office.
- 6.5.2.8.1 University research proposals funded by an outside agency shall not be denied approval or rescinded by the Board except for serious reasons.
- 6.5.3 In each academic year the University will allocate two hundred forty (240) clock hours of released time for Academic Information Services faculty for the purposes of research, publication, and curriculum development. Curriculum development shall include new course preparations. Faculty members may submit applications for such released time to the Dean of Academic Information Services along with a plan of work for the released time. Approved applications will be awarded released time within the stated limit.
- 6.6 Consultant and Outside Activities
- 6.6.1 Faculty members shall undertake consulting and outside work commitments under the following conditions:
- 6.6.1.1 Prior to accepting any consultation or outside work assignment during the faculty member's appointment period, a faculty member shall advise the faculty member's department head and dean in writing of the scope and duration of the assignment to be undertaken and the employer or agency to be served. Forms for such purpose are available in each dean's office. (See consulting form in Appendix B.)
- 6.6.1.2 Such work must not interfere with the faculty member's assigned University responsibilities, both classroom and nonclassroom, nor involve a conflict of interest.
- 6.6.1.2.1 In recognition of the difficulty for faculty assigned to the Library and the Counseling Center of identifying time for consulting which does not conflict with assigned work time, the University shall allow four (4) days per year times the number of full-time faculty assigned to the Library or Counseling Center for the purposes of consulting at reasonable times. The available consulting days shall be calculated and distributed separately for the Library and for the Counseling Center. The scheduled dates for such consulting must be mutually agreeable between the faculty member and the faculty member's department head
- 6.6.1.3 A maximum of eighteen (18) working days may be devoted to outside consultation activities during the regular academic year (fall and winter semesters).
- 6.6.1.4 Equipment, supplies, materials, and clerical services utilized in outside work shall be provided by the faculty member and not by the University. Assistance with such work by University employees should normally be outside regular department working hours and with compensation. Any deviation from this is subject to concurrence with the employee and approval by the department head or direct supervisor.
- 6.6.1.5 If, in the opinion of the department head or dean, outside consulting or outside work interferes with the regular University duties of the faculty member, said faculty member shall be instructed to terminate or substantially modify such work as a condition of continuing employment on a full-time basis or to accept a reduced appointment or to accept a leave of absence without pay for a specified period.
- 6.6.1.6 Exceptions to Sections 6.6.1.1, 6.6.1.3, and 6.6.1.4 may be permitted only by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- 6.7 Other Provisions

- 6.7.1 Except in extenuating circumstances or as a result of acts not within the control of the University, all professional library service, professional counseling, and the teaching of all credit courses which count toward degree programs shall be the exclusive work of the bargaining unit, with the following exceptions: that credit courses which count toward degree programs may also be taught by department heads, academic administrators, visiting professors, graduate assistants, research assistants, part-time instructors, and coaching staff.
- 6.7.2 The Board and the Association agree that under the terms of this Agreement the Association has important academic governance responsibilities. The exercise of such responsibilities shall be considered University service and shall be evaluated as described in Article V.
- 6.7.3 Distance Education
- 6.7.3.1 "Distance education" courses are those credit-bearing courses delivered to and taken by students who are not co-located with the faculty member(s) responsible for the course. "Directed studies," as covered elsewhere in the Master Agreement, are excluded from this definition.
- 6.7.3.2 The teaching of credit-bearing distance education courses will be part of a faculty member's assigned load, or be an additional on-campus overload assignment if taught during the fall or winter semester, or be a summer assignment depending upon program needs.
- 6.7.3.2.1 The teaching of credit-bearing distance education courses will be compensated at the directed study rate as specified in Section 9.1.4.3 when the total enrollment in the course is ten (10) or fewer.
- 6.7.3.3 Distance education courses will be developed, approved, and assessed within the same framework of departmental, college, Academic Senate, and administrative oversight as traditional classroom-based courses.
- 6.7.3.4 Unless otherwise negotiated, the faculty member or faculty body who develops course materials for use in distance education shall exercise control, including intellectual property rights, over the future use, modification, and distribution of such instructional material and shall determine whether the materials should be revised or withdrawn from use.
- 6.7.3.5 No distance education teaching assignment may be made unless mutually agreed to by the department head and the faculty member.
- 6.7.3.6 Enrollment maximums for distance education courses will be no greater than for the same or similar level course offered by that department or program unless mutually agreed to by the faculty member, department head, and dean.
- 6.8 Professional Accomplishments

In order to publicize the accomplishments of the faculty to the legislature, funding agencies, prospective candidates, and others, each faculty member will annually provide the Administration a list of the faculty member's accomplishments in a format approved by the Academic Senate.

## **ARTICLE VII**

## **BUDGET REDUCTION: LAYOFF AND RECALL**

- 7.1 In the event that the Board determines that reductions in University expenditures are necessary in order to maintain a balanced budget and that such reductions may involve faculty layoffs, the Board, through the President of the University (hereinafter in this Article referred to as the President), shall inform the President's Council of the estimated reductions in total University expenditures. The President's Council shall assist the President in formulating tentative guidelines for reductions including tentative determinations as to the major budgetary areas in which reductions should be considered and the projected amounts thereof.
- 7.1.1 The Board and the Association agree that layoff of faculty is one of the last and most serious steps an institution of higher learning takes. In the event that the Board determines that in its judgment the layoff of faculty may be necessary in the context of budget reductions as described in Section 7.1, it is understood that the Board will initiate procedures in this Article only in the event that it determines that a demonstrably bona fide financial exigency exists. The Board's judgment that the layoff of faculty may be necessary and the Board's judgment that a bona fide financial exigency exists shall not be reviewable in the grievance procedure.
- 7.1.2 Curriculum or academic program changes which entail reduction or reallocation of existing academic positions or programs for reasons other than budget reduction as described in this Article are governed by the applicable procedures described in Article III.
- 7.2 If the tentative determinations as to the major budgetary areas in which reductions should be considered, referenced in Section 7.1, include proposed reductions in the instructional budget, then the President shall inform the Association of the proposed reductions. The Association shall provide to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs within fifteen (15) calendar days of such notification its written recommendation as to whether a demonstrably bona fide financial exigency exists. In order that due consideration may be given to the recommendations of the Association, the procedures described in Section 7.3 and following will not be initiated for at least twenty (20) days after such notification.
- 7.2.1 The Association may request the Educational Policy Committee (EPC) to review the President's tentative determinations for reductions in the instructional budget or the EPC may review said determinations on its own initiative.
- 7.3 The President's tentative determination for reduction in the instructional budget, including the dollar amount thereof, and a general and concise statement of the reasons, therefore, shall be communicated to the EPC (described in Article III). Based on their ongoing analysis of enrollment patterns and projections, credit-hour data, program staffing requirements, current levels of support, and future program plans, the EPC shall give consideration to the short- and long-term effects of any layoffs. The EPC shall forward its recommendations to the Association, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, and the President within twenty (20) days of receipt of the communication of the said determinations. As used in this Article, the term "instructional budget" shall mean the budgets of all academic colleges/divisions and off-campus credit-hour instruction.
- 7.4 If the President, at the President's discretion, initially perceives that the temporal circumstances are such that the fifteen- (15) day period specified in Section 7.2 or the twenty-(20) day period specified in Section 7.3 may be extended, the President shall in the communications described in Sections 7.2 and 7.3 extend said periods for a specified number of days. If the EPC or the Association perceives a need for more time than is specified, the EPC or the Association may request an extension of the specified time period and the President, at the President's discretion, may grant one (1) or more such requests for extension.

- 7.5 The President or the President's designee shall, in turn, review the EPC's recommendations with the President's Council and shall finalize a plan for meeting the necessary reductions in University expenditures. If such plan provides for reduction in the instructional budget which may involve faculty layoffs, the President or the President's designee shall so inform the EPC and the Association and shall state the amount of such reduction. Normally this plan will reflect the recommendations of the EPC; however, for serious reasons communicated to the EPC, the President or the President's designee may modify these recommendations.
- The EPC shall have thirty (30) calendar days after receiving the plan (as described in Section 7.5) from the President or the President's designee to make recommendations on economies to be effected within the instructional budget. Recommendations shall be formulated for budget reductions within the various academic colleges/divisions and units. Opportunities will be given to concerned departments and colleges (including College Advisory Councils [CACs]) to discuss the proposed reduction with the EPC and to propose alternative solutions to the problem. The EPC's recommendations shall be forwarded to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, with copies of same to the Association.
- 7.7 Within twenty (20) days after receiving notification of the EPC's recommendations, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall communicate to the academic deans the required amount of college or unit reductions. Normally the EPC's recommendations will be reflected in the Provost and Vice President's decisions; however, for serious reasons, communicated to the EPC in writing, the Provost and Vice President may modify these recommendations. Within twenty (20) days thereafter the dean shall formulate a plan for meeting the required reductions within the dean's college/division or unit. During this period, the dean shall consult with the dean's CAC and all departments within the college and shall request written recommendations from the departments. After such consultation, each dean shall recommend to the Provost and Vice President the dean's plan for meeting the required budget reductions and shall solicit from the affected departments their recommendations identifying faculty to be given notification of layoff. The department at its option may choose not to submit such recommendations. recommendations shall normally be consistent with the department's recommendations; however, for serious reasons, consistent with Section 7.11, communicated to the department in writing, the dean may modify the department's recommendations. The dean shall determine those faculty, if any, within the college (or unit) to be notified of layoff, and shall communicate the dean's recommendations to the Provost and Vice President.
- 7.8 Within fifteen (15) days after receiving the budget reduction plans from the deans, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall give notification to the faculty members who are to be laid off. Normally recommendations for layoff advanced by the deans will be implemented; however, for serious and substantial reasons, communicated to the EPC in writing, the Provost and Vice President may modify such recommendations. Copies of all layoff notifications shall be sent to the Association.
- 7.9 It is recognized that the circumstances requiring utilization of the foregoing procedures may be such as to make time an important consideration, and, accordingly, it is agreed that should any committee or person fail to submit the committee's or the person's recommendations within the time periods above specified, the process shall proceed to the next step without benefit of such recommendations.
- 7.10 Full-time faculty members shall not be laid off until after the alternatives below, in order, as applicable, are considered:
  - a. Shared load between departments and colleges
  - b. Annualized appointments to include extension teaching
  - c. Reassignment to another department or college
  - d. Retraining
  - e. Supplementation of teaching with nonteaching duties
  - f. Transfer to a vacant nonteaching position in conformity with any applicable union contract or personnel policy

- g. Reduced appointment
- h. Early retirement

In the case of a faculty assignment which is to be made under the jurisdiction of a different department, the affected faculty member will be considered for rank in another department under the current criteria in that department or for assignment to another position with the University for which the faculty member is qualified. If the faculty member does not meet the current criteria for rank, the faculty member will be so informed in writing. To provide for equity, the affected faculty member will be given a reasonable probationary period in which to qualify for rank in the new department. The faculty member will be informed in writing of the additional conditions the faculty member has yet to fulfill in order to qualify for rank in the new department.

- 7.11 The primary criterion to be used in the implementation of layoffs will be the worth of the faculty member (including, for purposes of this paragraph only, part-time teaching personnel) to the particular program and department. The ability of the department to perform satisfactorily the teaching responsibilities assigned to it must be affected as little as possible. Once this programmatic criterion has been met, termination shall take place in the following order:
  - a. Part-time teaching personnel
  - b. Full-Time Adjuncts
  - c. Instructors without tenure
  - d. Assistant Professors without tenure
  - e. Associate Professors without tenure
  - f. Professors without tenure
  - g. Instructors with tenure
  - h. Assistant Professors with tenure
  - i. Associate Professors with tenure
  - j. Professors with tenure
- 7.11.1 Once programmatic and rank criteria have been met, reduction shall take place first among those with less seniority at the University. Seniority shall be determined according to length of full-time active service at the University from the effective date of appointment within that department. In the event that two (2) or more faculty members to be laid off have the same effective date of appointment, the faculty members' seniority shall be determined by possession of the terminal degree. In cases where both or neither faculty member has the terminal degree, seniority shall be determined by the official date on which their highest degree was conferred.
- Faculty members laid off from a given department or unit shall be recalled to such department or unit in inverse order of the faculty members' layoff, subject always to the faculty member's ability to carry out the full range of assigned professional responsibilities needed at the time of recall. Recall rights expire after two (2) calendar years from the date of layoff, or upon failure to accept within fifteen (15) days an offer of recall made within such two- (2) year period.

Faculty members who are to be laid off will be given notice of layoffs which is in keeping with the periods for termination notices provided in Article V, Section 5.5.3. In extreme situations, it may not be possible to give adequate notice. Except in the most extreme financial circumstances, compensation shall be provided to the faculty member proportionate to the lateness of the notice. (Thus, a second-year faculty member who would ordinarily be notified by December 15 of the faculty member's nonreappointment but who is in fact so notified on April 15, would normally receive an amount of money, in lieu of timely notification, which is the equivalent of multiplying the number of weeks by one-thirty-sixth [1/36] of the base salary rate in the case of academic year appointments or one-fifty-second [1/52] of the annual salary rate in the case of twelve- [12] month appointments.)

### **ARTICLE VIII**

## PAID AND UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

#### 8.1 Sabbatical Leaves

### 8.1.1 Purpose

Sabbatical leaves are granted for the purpose of engaging in activities which will enhance the professional growth and effectiveness of the recipients as members of the faculty at the University.

# 8.1.2 Eligibility

- 8.1.2.1 All full-time faculty members with tenure or full-time faculty members whose positions have been converted from Continuing contract status to Tenure Earning appointments consistent with Article V, Section 5.5.4, who have completed six (6) years of service at the University, are eligible to apply for sabbatical leave. Any exceptions to this will require approval by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and the President of the University and will be made only when in the best interests of the University.
- 8.1.2.2 Years of service will count from the date of full-time appointment at academic rank or from the ending date of the previous sabbatical leave, whichever is the most recent.
- 8.1.2.3 Leaves of absence (excepting exchange, visiting, or postdoctoral research leaves and other approved leaves totaling a year or less or other similar leaves approved in advance by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs) will be excluded in determining years of service counting toward eligibility for sabbatical leaves.
- 8.1.3 Evaluation Criteria
- 8.1.3.1 Professional Development Sabbaticals

Sabbatical leaves may be granted to improve a faculty member's professional competencies through study, research, or other suitable experience.

8.1.3.2 Research, Scholarship, and Creative Works Sabbaticals

Sabbatical leaves may be granted to enable a faculty member to contribute to the faculty member's discipline through activities which will lead to the publication of a paper or monograph or which will result in the production of a creative work consistent with the four (4) forms of scholarship listed in Article V, Section 5.6.3.b.

- 8.1.4 Application Procedure
- 8.1.4.1 Guidelines and Requirements
- 8.1.4.1.1 In making application, the faculty member shall present a plan for the use of the sabbatical leave which shall include (1) the type of leave requested, as specified in Section 8.1.6; (2) a statement on how the proposed activity will satisfy the criterion in Section 8.1.3; (3) a description of the faculty member's professional qualifications to undertake the activity; (4) detailed information concerning the resources or facilities needed to complete the proposed activity; (5) a projected timetable for the work to be completed.

8.1.4.1.2 Consistent with the provisions of Article IX, the Board will to the extent allowable according to the University's carrier and law provide medical, dental, and optical coverage, long-term disability coverage, tuition scholarship, and life insurance coverage for faculty members on sabbatical leave. Such benefits will be based on the salary rate the faculty member would have received if the faculty member had remained on full-time status. A faculty member will receive as salary 15.64 percent of the amount that is the difference between the faculty member's full-time base salary and the faculty member's sabbatical leave salary.

The applicant must agree to inform the University of any other salaries, grants, fellowships, or other financial support the applicant expects to receive or does receive while on sabbatical leave. (The total remuneration from the University and other sources shall not exceed the faculty member's salary for the period of the sabbatical leave.) Funding for the faculty member's travel, relocation, or other extraordinary expenses associated with the sabbatical leave activities shall not be included in the limitation on remuneration nor shall the University be responsible for payment of these.

- 8.1.4.1.3 The applicant must agree to return to the University for one (1) full academic year during the year immediately following the leave period or to repay in full all compensation paid by the University during the period of the leave.
- 8.1.4.1.3.1 Faculty may apply for a professional development leave for a period following a sabbatical leave without having to pay the University for compensation paid during the sabbatical. Upon the conclusion of such a professional development leave, the faculty member shall be required to return for a full academic year or to repay in full all compensation paid by the University during the period of the sabbatical leave.
- 8.1.4.1.4 The applicant must agree to provide the Faculty Review Committee (FRC) and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs within one (1) semester after returning to the applicant's assigned professional responsibilities a complete report (in writing) on the status of the applicant's accomplishments during the leave, with copies to the appropriate department head, College Advisory Council (CAC), dean, and the President of the University.
- 8.1.4.1.5 The applicant must agree that in the event the applicant does not pursue the work according to the specific purpose for which the leave was granted (unless changed or modified upon approval of the FRC and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs) the applicant shall forego a raise in compensation and promotion (if applicable) for a period of one (1) year following the applicant's return to active status. The judgment that the above statement to forego step advancement is applicable shall rest with the FRC, with the provision that the Provost and Vice President, for serious reasons, may overrule the FRC's judgment.
- 8.1.5 Review Procedure
- 8.1.5.1 All applicants for sabbatical leave shall be reviewed and ranked according to the criteria set forth in Section 8.1.3 at the department, college, and University level. No new materials may be added to the sabbatical application once it has left the department except upon the specific request of the CAC or the FRC in processing an appeal.

The department shall evaluate applications in two (2) ways:

- a. The department shall judge whether or not the application meets the purposes set forth in Section 8.1.3 and shall specifically state its judgment in the materials forwarded to the CAC for each application.
- b. The department shall rank order the applications from those most deserving of funding to those least deserving of funding. Applications which do not sufficiently meet the purposes of Section 8.1.3 shall not be included in this ranking.

Departmental evaluations shall be carried out in accordance with the departmental bylaws with one (1) modification. The department head shall serve as a voting member of the departmental body charged with evaluating sabbatical applications. The report of the department shall be submitted to the CAC. The same report shall be sent to each applicant in the department at the same time. If the faculty member believes the department has misjudged or misranked the faculty member's application, the applicant may file an appeal to the CAC. In the appeal process, the burden of proof is on the applicant to provide clear and convincing evidence that the ranking or judgment is mistaken. Such an appeal shall be in writing, shall clearly state the reasons for the appeal, shall be submitted on a timely basis as set forth in this Agreement, and a copy of the appeal shall be submitted, at the same time, to the department head.

### The role of the CAC shall be twofold:

- a. The CAC shall review the departmental judgments and rankings and any appeals filed by applicants. All judgments of the CAC shall be based on this information. The CAC may request clarifying information from an applicant who has filed an appeal. The CAC shall give significant weight to the judgments of the department. The CAC may overrule the judgments of the department only for serious reasons which it shall specify in writing to the department and the applicant.
- b. The CAC shall rank order the sabbatical applications in the college on the basis of its review from the application most deserving of funding to the application least deserving of funding. Applications which do not sufficiently meet the purposes of Section 8.1.3 shall not be included in this ranking.

Except in circumstances where there are serious reasons for overruling the judgments or rankings of the departments, the rankings from the departments shall generally be reflected in the rankings of the college. While this means that the CAC may alter the rankings within a department only for serious reasons, it does not preclude it from ranking an applicant who finished first in one (1) department below an applicant who finished second or lower in another department. College evaluations shall be carried out in accordance with the CAC bylaws with one (1) modification. The dean shall serve as a voting member of the college body charged with evaluating sabbatical applications. The report of the CAC and any separate report by the dean shall be submitted to the FRC. The same report shall be sent to each applicant in the college at the same time. If the faculty member believes the CAC has misjudged or misranked the faculty member's application, the applicant may file an appeal to the FRC. In the appeal process, the burden of proof is on the applicant to provide clear and convincing evidence that the ranking or judgment is mistaken. Such an appeal shall be in writing, shall clearly state the reasons for the appeal, shall be submitted on a timely basis as set forth in this Agreement, and a copy of the appeal shall be submitted, at the same time, to the dean.

### The role of the FRC shall be twofold:

- a. The FRC shall review the college judgments and rankings and any appeals filed by applicants. All judgments of the FRC shall be based on this information. The FRC may request clarifying information from an applicant who has filed an appeal. The FRC shall give significant weight to the judgments of the college. The FRC may overrule the judgments of the college only for serious reasons which it shall specify in writing to the college and the applicant.
- b. The FRC shall rank order the sabbatical applications in the college on the basis of its review from the application most deserving of funding to the application least deserving of funding. Applications which do not sufficiently meet the purposes of Section 8.1.3 shall not be included in this ranking.

Except in circumstances where there are serious reasons for overruling the judgments or rankings of the colleges, the rankings from the colleges shall generally be reflected in the rankings of the FRC. While this means that the FRC may alter the rankings within a department only for serious reasons, it does not preclude it from ranking an applicant who finished first in one (1) department below an applicant who finished second or lower in another department. FRC evaluations shall be carried out in accordance with the FRC bylaws. The report of the FRC shall be submitted to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. The same report shall be sent to each applicant in the bargaining unit at the same time. If the faculty member believes the FRC has misjudged or misranked the faculty member's application, the applicant may file an appeal to the Provost and Vice President. Such an appeal shall be in writing, shall clearly state the reasons for the appeal, shall be submitted on a timely basis as set forth in this Agreement, and a copy of the appeal shall be submitted, at the same time, to the Chair of the FRC.

The role of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs is to review the judgments and rankings of the FRC in consultation with the FRC. Recognizing that sabbatical recommendations advanced by the FRC are the end result of a thorough review process, the Provost and Vice President shall depart from the judgments and ranking of the FRC only for serious reasons. When such an overruling occurs, the Provost and Vice President will notify the FRC, the CAC, the dean, the department head, and the applicant, as well as the Association, of the reasons for the overruling.

All applicants, committees, and academic administrators who have a role in the processing of sabbatical applications shall be notified in writing of the final disposition of all sabbatical applications by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. Applications judged not to have sufficiently met the purposes set forth in Section 8.1.3 shall be enumerated but otherwise shall not be identified.

8.1.5.2 All applications for sabbaticals shall be processed according to the following schedule of the academic year preceding the proposed leave period:

September 15 Applications to department head

September 29 Departmental judgments and rankings to CAC and dean (and approved applications to Office of Graduate Studies Research)

October 6 Appeals of department decisions must be received by CAC

October 21 CAC and dean judgments and rankings to FRC

October 28 Appeals of CAC and dean decisions must be received by FRC

November 11 FRC judgments and rankings to Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs

November 18 Announcement of sabbaticals by Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs

November 29 Final adjustment date for accommodated sabbaticals

8.1.5.3 The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs may accept applications beyond the deadline date. Applications accepted beyond the deadline date will follow the same review procedure and can only be added to the end of the officially approved ranking.

All sabbatical leave proposals approved at the departmental level (under Section 8.1.5.1) shall be simultaneously submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies and Research and the CACs. The Office of Graduate Studies and Research shall communicate to sabbatical applicants existing information regarding external support sources which may be available for travel, stipends, and/or research support. The Office of Graduate Studies and Research shall make every reasonable effort to assist sabbatical applicants with the necessary clerical and logistical support in preparing and processing applications for external funding.

- 8.1.6 Time and Pay Combinations
- 8.1.6.1 For faculty members on academic year appointments:
- 8.1.6.1.1 Two (2) semesters with a fifty percent (50%) reduction in the academic year salary rate, or
- 8.1.6.1.2 One (1) semester with no reduction in pay.
- 8.1.6.1.3 Full-paid sabbaticals are available through annualized contracts as approved by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. Over a twelve- (12) month period, starting with spring session/summer session, the faculty member will receive a two- (2) academic semester (fall and winter) compensation for twelve (12) credit hours of teaching. Only in the event that the twelve (12) credit hours cannot be scheduled during that twelve- (12) month period, will the remaining balance be scheduled during the succeeding twelve (12) months in addition to the normal twenty-four (24) credit hours, but without additional compensation for the balance.

- 8.1.6.1.4 The same arrangement can be made for fall or winter semesters except eighteen (18) credit hours of teaching are required over the twelve- (12) month period.
- 8.1.6.2 For faculty members on twelve- (12) month appointments:
- 8.1.6.2.1 Twelve (12) months with fifty percent (50%) reduction in pay.
- 8.1.6.2.2 Up to six (6) months with no reduction in pay.
- 8.1.7 Support for Sabbatical Leave
- 8.1.7.1 The University will provide eighteen (18) units of sabbatical leave for each academic year in which the FRC ranks and recommends a sufficient number and types of time and pay combination applications to make the offer of eighteen (18) units possible. Sabbatical units will be calculated as follows:

Time and Pay Combination	<u>Units</u>
One (1) semester, no reduction in pay	2 each
Two (2) semester, three-quarter	
(3/4) salary rate	3 each
Two (2) semester, one-half (1/2) salary rate	1 each
Annualized contract, no reduction in pay	1 each
Other time periods, no reduction in pay	2 each
Other time periods, some reduction in pay	1 each

- 8.1.7.1.1 The University will offer at least three (3) one- (1) semester, no reduction in pay and at least one (1) two- (2) semester, three-quarter (3/4) pay sabbaticals for each academic year. Time and pay combinations other than those set forth in Section 8.1.6 of this Agreement are available by mutual agreement. Funds derived from sabbatical leaves shall accrue to the Office of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and may be used to secure full-time or part-time replacements for faculty members who are granted sabbatical leaves.
- 8.1.7.1.2 No provision of Section 8.1.7.1 of this Agreement shall be construed to require the University to provide more than \$175,000 per year of support for sabbaticals over the life of this Agreement as measured by net replacement compensation costs.
  - a. Net replacement compensation cost is the faculty member's full-time budgeted compensation (salary and fringe benefits) less the faculty member's prorated sabbatical compensation (including prorated salary and fringe benefits based on full salary amount) less the cost of instruction replacement (i.e., adjunct, overload, Term appointment).
  - b. Net replacement compensation costs shall not include the value of any released-time credits used to improve sabbatical time and pay combinations. The Association and the University shall meet to review net replacement costs each year.
- 8.1.7.1.3 Costing of sabbatical support shall be for sabbaticals applied for in 2003-04, 2004-05, 2005-06 and offered by the University for the following academic year.
- 8.1.7.1.4 The Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall provide a detailed accounting of net replacement compensation cost to the Association for any year in which the University will not provide the agreed number of units of sabbatical leave because the dollar limit for support has been exceeded.
- 8.1.7.2 No sabbatical leave application shall be denied on the grounds that the contribution of an otherwise eligible applicant is required for the continuance of departmental or division programs.
- 8.1.7.3 Departmental faculty members shall not assume overload teaching responsibilities resulting from sabbatical leaves without additional compensation. Such overload assignments must be approved by the department head and dean.

- 8.2 Other Leaves
- 8.2.1 Faculty exchange leaves approved in accordance with the Michigan Universities Faculty Exchange Program shall be fully funded.
- 8.2.1.1 Designated Individuals

Faculty members may designate an individual, in lieu of a spouse, for whom the faculty member may utilize funeral leave, family care leave, and Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave. The designation of the individual must be on file with the Human Resources Department at least six (6) months prior to utilization of such leave.

- 8.2.2 Annual Leave
- 8.2.2.1 Full-time, twelve- (12) month faculty members accrue paid annual leave (days per year) according to the following schedule at the faculty members' regular rates of compensation:

Years of	Years of Accrual/Year		Max Accrual Limit	
<u>Service</u>	Hours	<u>Days</u>	Hours	Days
1 through 5	120	(15)	180	(22.5)
6 through 10	160	(20)	240	(30)
11 and above	200	(25)	300	(37.5)

- 8.2.2.2 All leave shall be taken at the mutual convenience of the University and the faculty member at a time approved by the department head, with the provision that the faculty member having a greater length of service shall be given priority consideration. The minimum period of leave is one (1) hour.
- 8.2.2.3 Newly appointed twelve- (12) month faculty members are normally allowed five (5) leave days which may be used and deducted from the faculty members' first year's accumulation. In case of termination, other than by death or military leave of absence, with less than six (6) months of service to the University, any used leave will be deducted from the faculty member's final salary check.
- 8.2.2.4 Faculty members who terminate the faculty members' employment, or who transfer to another internal position in which no annual leave may be earned, may take or be compensated for up to the maximum accrual limit specified above. In the event of the faculty member's death the unused annual leave will be paid to the beneficiary as designated on the NMU Employee Authorization to Disburse Earnings and Allowances Form on file in the Human Resources Department, if any, or to the estate. When a faculty member transfers to a position with a lesser maximum accrual limit, the employee will be paid for any annual leave hours above the new maximum accrual limit.
- 8.2.2.5 When a holiday is observed by the University during the time that annual leave is being taken, no annual leave will be charged for the holiday.
- 8.2.2.6 Twelve- (12) month faculty members appointed to positions financed by grants will be governed by the grant provisions for annual leave. Every effort shall be made by the University to negotiate grant provisions consistent with University policy.
- 8.2.3 Personal Leave Days
- 8.2.3.1 Personal leave days are provided so that full-time, twelve- (12) month faculty and faculty assigned to work forty- (40) hour work weeks totaling fifteen hundred sixty (1,560) hours per year (three-quarter [3/4] time) may have paid time off to attend to or care for personal matters.

- 8.2.3.2 Twenty-four (24) hours of paid personal leave will be granted to each twelve- (12) month faculty member and eighteen (18) hours of paid personal leave will be granted to each faculty assigned to work forty- (40) hour work weeks totaling fifteen hundred sixty (1,560) hours per year (three-quarter [3/4] time) on July 1 of each year. Personal leave may be used in one (1) hour increments and may be scheduled as needed by the faculty member with prior approval of the department head. Personal leave cannot be carried over into the following fiscal year and will not be paid upon change in employment status.
- 8.2.3.3 Twelve- (12) month faculty members hired between July 1 and December 31 will be granted twenty-four (24) hours of personal leave on the faculty members' date of hire, and faculty members assigned to work forty- (40) hour work weeks totaling fifteen hundred sixty (1,560) hours per year (three-quarter [3/4] time) will be granted eighteen (18) hours of paid personal leave on the faculty members' date of hire. Twelve- (12) month faculty members hired between January 1 and April 30 will be granted twelve (12) personal leave hours on the faculty members' date of hire, and faculty assigned to work forty- (40) hour work weeks totaling fifteen hundred sixty (1,560) hours per year (three-quarter [3/4] time) will be granted nine (9) personal leave hours on the faculty members' date of hire.

### 8.2.4 Sick Leave

- 8.2.4.1 To assist faculty members who are unable to work because of personal illness, injury, disability, pregnancy, or childbirth, the University provides paid sick leave. Full-time faculty members may use up to two hundred forty (240) hours (six [6] weeks) of sick leave at full salary per fiscal year. Faculty members who have used two hundred forty (240) hours (six [6] weeks) of sick leave and are unable to return to work, as evidenced by a statement from the faculty members' physician, may receive short-term disability as specified in Article IX, Section 9.2.2.
- 8.2.4.2 A faculty member who is unable to work because of personal illness, injury, disability, pregnancy, or childbirth must report this fact to the faculty member's departmental office as soon as practical, preferably before the faculty member misses scheduled work, if that is possible.
- 8.2.4.3 A faculty member who is unable to work for longer than seven (7) consecutive calendar days, or who is repeatedly absent for shorter periods, or whose absences follow a pattern, will be required to provide a physician's statement to the departmental office verifying that the absence is due to illness, injury, disability, pregnancy, or childbirth. In cases of an extended absence, the faculty member must provide information, informed by a physician's opinion, on the anticipated duration of the sick leave. Periodic statements from the attending physician may be requested by the department head.
- 8.2.4.4 If the University believes there is reason to require a second opinion to verify that a faculty member is unable to perform all of the faculty member's assigned duties, the University and the faculty member will select a mutually agreed-upon physician with the cost being paid by the University. If bona fide efforts to find a mutually agreed-upon physician have not been successful within twelve (12) working days from when the faculty member is notified a second opinion is necessary, it is agreed that the Mayo Clinic will be asked to provide an appropriate physician to perform the examination with the faculty member's travel expenses, pursuant to the University policy (see Travel Policies, Regulations and Procedures, effective July 1, 1990 or subsequent revisions thereof), being borne by the University. The faculty member will remain on sick leave or short-term disability and receive the appropriate salary and benefits while the examination is being conducted. Refusal to be examined or allow the physician to release the results of the examination to the Board will constitute sufficient, nongrievable grounds for the faculty member's sick leave or short-term disability benefits to be terminated and the faculty member being placed on an unpaid illness or disability leave according to Article VIII, Section 8.9.
- 8.2.4.5 The department head shall record absences on the biweekly time sheet, regardless of whether the University provides a substitute or the department absorbs the workload.
- 8.2.4.6 A faculty member who has been severely ill or who has been hospitalized because of illness or surgery must provide a medical statement attesting to the fact that the faculty member is able to resume the faculty member's assigned duties, including any medical limitations attached thereto.

- 8.2.4.7 A faculty member who suffers an injury compensable under the Workers' Compensation Act and who is awarded such compensation shall be paid the difference between the faculty member's regular wages and payment received under provisions of the Act for a maximum of six (6) consecutive months. A faculty member who has been disabled for six (6) consecutive months and is unable to return to work may, if eligible, apply for long-term disability benefits (see Article IX, Section 9.2.3).
- 8.2.4.8 In the event that illness or injury prevents a faculty member from fulfilling the faculty member's teaching assignment during the semester, the University shall provide funds to compensate overload assignments assumed by other departmental faculty members or to hire qualified part-time personnel.
- 8.2.4.9 Involuntary Sick Leave
- 8.2.4.9.1 If the fitness of a faculty member to continue in the faculty member's responsibilities becomes questionable for reasons of physical or mental health, the appropriate department head along with the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs and/or the Provost and Vice President's designee shall discuss the matter with the faculty member in personal conference. This conference may not occur until and unless the Association has been notified twenty-four (24) hours in advance. An Association representative may be present at the request of the faculty member, and the faculty member may request Association review of the administrative action taken.
- 8.2.4.9.2 Medical evidence shall be provided only by a qualified physician or psychiatrist who is mutually agreed to by the faculty member and the Board. If bona fide efforts to find a mutually agreed-upon physician have not been successful within twelve (12) working days from when the faculty member is notified an examination is necessary, it is agreed that the Mayo Clinic will be asked to provide an appropriate physician to perform the examination with the faculty member's travel expenses, pursuant to University policy (see Travel Policies, Regulations and Procedures, effective July 1, 1990 or subsequent revisions thereof), being borne by the University. A faculty member does not have the right to refuse to be examined. Refusal to allow the physician or psychiatrist to release the results of the examination to the Board shall constitute sufficient, nongrievable grounds for the faculty member being placed on involuntary sick leave. The University shall pay for any portion of the examination not covered by the University's medical insurance carrier.
- 8.2.4.9.3 In cases in which the continuance of the faculty member, in the judgment of the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs, threatens immediate harm to self or others, the Provost and Vice President shall immediately place the faculty member on involuntary sick leave, and the President of the Association shall be notified of such action.
- 8.2.4.9.4 In order to determine medical status and continuation of compensable leave, a periodic medical status report is required as requested by the Board.
- 8.2.4.9.5 Except as specified in Section 8.2.4.10.2, any action placing a faculty member on involuntary sick leave shall be subject to review under the grievance procedures as specified in Article IV.
- 8.2.4.9.6 In the event the medical examination results in a finding that the faculty member is unable to discharge the faculty member's duties in a competent manner, the Association recognizes that the Board may have to place the faculty member on involuntary sick leave, with entitlement to any applicable sick leave, short-term disability, or long-term disability payments.
- 8.2.5 Family Care Leave
- 8.2.5.1 Faculty members who accrue annual leave may use eighty (80) hours of paid Family Care Leave per fiscal year for the confining illness or injury to members of the immediate family (spouse or designated individual, children, parents, parents-in-law, brothers, sisters) and any person for whose financial or physical care the faculty member is principally responsible. The name of the designated individual must be on file with the Human Resources Department at least six (6) months prior to utilization of such leave per Article VIII, Section 8.2.1.1.

- 8.2.5.1.1 The first forty (40) hours will be at one hundred percent (100%) of base wages. The next forty (40) hours will be at seventy-five percent (75%) of base wages. Faculty members who accumulate annual leave will use accumulated and unused annual leave to make up the difference between the seventy-five percent (75%) Family Care Leave and full salary.
- 8.2.5.1.2 Once a faculty member uses eighty (80) hours of Family Care Leave, additional time required for the care of a family member must be taken as personal days, annual leave (if applicable), floating holiday (if available), or unpaid leave. Because of extenuating circumstances, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs may grant the faculty member additional time without loss of pay. The University reserves the right to review cases on an individual basis and to require documentation.
- 8.2.5.1.3 The first forty (40) hours of Family Care Leave will not be counted toward the twelve- (12) week mandatory protection offered by the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) (see Section 8.3.4).
- 8.2.5.2 Faculty members who do not accrue annual leave may use sixty (60) hours of paid Family Care Leave per fiscal year for the confining illness or injury to members of the immediate family (spouse or designated individual, children, parents, parents-in-law, brothers, sisters) and any person for whose financial or physical care the faculty member is principally responsible. The name of the designated individual must be on file with the Human Resources Department at least six (6) months prior to utilization of such leave per Article VIII, Section 8.2.1.1. The sixty (60) hours will be at one hundred percent (100%) of base wages.
- 8.2.5.2.1 Once a faculty member uses sixty (60) hours of Family Care Leave, additional time required for the care of a family member must be taken as unpaid leave. Because of extenuating circumstances, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs may grant the faculty member additional time without loss of pay. The University reserves the right to review cases on an individual basis and to require documentation.
- 8.2.5.2.2 The first forty (40) hours of Family Care Leave will not be counted toward the twelve- (12) week mandatory protection offered by the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) (see Section 8.3.4).
- 8.2.6 Expert Witness Leave
- 8.2.6.1 On occasions, faculty members are obligated to testify as court witnesses on subjects upon which they qualify as experts. However, faculty members should not seek obligations and are permitted leave to so serve only when subpoenaed to appear.
- 8.2.6.2 In testifying as an expert witness, a faculty member necessarily must make preparation for the case-presumably upon the faculty member's own time-and therefore is permitted to retain personally all fees received, whether paid by the court or by the person, firm, or organization for whose witness the faculty member is subpoenaed. An exception, obviously, is the case of prolonged absence from duty which, as in the case of one rendering consultant services, would call for placing the faculty member on leave of absence without salary for the duration of the absence.
- 8.2.7 Funeral Leave
- 8.2.7.1 If a death occurs among members of a faculty member's family, the faculty member will be excused from work without loss of pay in accordance with the following provisions:
- 8.2.7.2 In the case of a faculty member's parent, spouse or designated individual, child or stepchild, five (5) days are permitted. The name of the designated individual must be on file with the Human Resources Department at least six (6) months prior to utilization of such leave per Article VIII, Section 8.2.1.1.
- 8.2.7.3 A maximum of three (3) days is permitted in the case of a sister, brother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, stepfather, stepmother, half brother, half sister, ward, and dependent persons (foster children or relatives residing in the home).
- 8.2.7.4 One (1) day is allowed in the case of the death of an uncle, aunt, nephew, or niece.

- 8.2.7.5 Because of extenuating circumstances, a department head may grant the bereaved faculty member additional time without loss of pay.
- 8.2.7.6 Permission will be granted to a reasonable number of faculty members who wish to attend the funeral of a fellow employee or former employee, provided the faculty members return to the faculty members' responsibilities after the funeral. Faculty members who serve as pallbearers at the funeral of a colleague or former colleague will not lose pay because of the faculty members' absence.
- 8.2.8 Jury Duty Leave
- 8.2.8.1 Faculty members shall be granted jury leave with pay for the period the faculty members are required to serve. Such leave shall be coordinated with the department head. With the exception of reimbursable expenses, compensation received by the individual for time spent performing jury duty on working days shall be remitted to the University. Checks for jury duty should be endorsed to Northern Michigan University and forwarded to Financial Services with a memorandum that includes the dates of the jury duty. A faculty member is expected to report for regular University assignment when temporarily excused from attendance at court.
- 8.2.9 Holidays
- 8.2.9.1 The following holidays are observed by the University: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and December 25.
- 8.2.9.2 In addition to the holidays stated above, twelve- (12) month faculty members are eligible for the following seasonal bonus days. Each fiscal year the University will schedule six (6) seasonal bonus days. One (1) seasonal bonus day will be the day after Thanksgiving, one (1) will be the day before or after December 25, and one (1) will be the day before or after New Year's Day. It is the intention to designate the week between December 25 and New Year's Day a "Holiday Week." Any additional days may be designated by the University on another date or left as "floating" seasonal bonus days for the faculty members to schedule as the faculty member's desire.
- 8.2.9.3 A holiday or seasonal bonus day falling during a scheduled period of annual leave or sick leave will not be charged against annual leave or sick leave. If a faculty member is absent on the working day immediately preceding or immediately following the holiday, the faculty member will not be paid for the holiday unless the absence is excused.
- 8.2.9.4 No holidays or seasonal bonus days will be "cashed out."
- 8.2.9.5 Whenever one of these holidays falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday will be observed. When the holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday will be observed.
- 8.3 Child Care and Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave
- 8.3.1 Child Care Leave

Faculty members who have been employed for at least one (1) academic year (two [2] full semesters) shall be eligible for Child Care Leave without pay following the birth or adoption of a child.

- 8.3.1.1 Eligible faculty members must exhaust leave available under the provisions of the FMLA prior to being eligible for a Child Care Leave. Such FMLA Leave will be deducted from the period allowed under the Child Care Leave provisions. Faculty members shall have a right to a Child Care Leave extending for a period of three (3) months or one (1) academic semester (with the department head having the discretion of final approval of the period of three [3] months or one [1] academic semester). Child Care Leaves may be renewed, at the discretion of the department head, for a period up to a maximum of one (1) year for twelve- (12) month appointments or two (2) regular academic semesters for less than twelve- (12) month appointments.
- 8.3.1.2 A faculty member shall not receive a salary increase at the end of a year in which the faculty member has been on Child Care Leave for more than one (1) academic semester.

- 8.3.1.3 Child Care Leave time exceeding one (1) semester shall not be counted toward tenure or promotion, but the taking of Child Care Leave shall not otherwise prejudice future tenure or promotion consideration.
- 8.3.1.4 During the period of Child Care Leave, group medical, dental, optical, and life insurance coverage may be continued at the faculty member's expense in accordance with the University's regulations.
- 8.3.1.5 During the period of a Child Care Leave, a faculty member does not earn annual leave or sick leave, and is not eligible for holiday pay.
- 8.3.1.6 In order to be eligible for Child Care Leave benefits, the faculty member shall notify the department head in writing and comply with the following requirements:
  - a. The faculty member shall notify in writing, the faculty member's department head, of the expected date of Child Care Leave, as early as possible, in order that the search for a suitable replacement may begin. Such notice shall include a statement as to whether the faculty member intends to return to a position after termination of the Child Care Leave. Child Care Leave will begin for a female faculty member at the date her doctor determines she is unable to continue her duties or sooner at her request.
  - b. Requests for extension of the initial three- (3) month or academic semester Child Care Leave shall be submitted in writing to the department head within thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the leave.
- 8.3.2 Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave
- 8.3.2.1 A faculty member is eligible for a FMLA Leave if the faculty member has been employed by the University for at least the equivalent of one (1) academic year during the prior twelve (12) months and at least twelve hundred (1200) hours during the twelve- (12) month period immediately preceding the faculty member's request for leave or the date on which the leave commences, whichever comes first.
- 8.3.2.2 Subject to the notice and certification requirements described below, an eligible faculty member may request and will be granted up to twelve (12) workweeks of unpaid FMLA Leave during any twelve- (12) month period for one (1) or more of the following events:
  - a. For the birth of a son or daughter of the faculty member and to care for such child.
  - b. For the placement of a child with the faculty member for adoption or foster care.
  - c. To care for a spouse or designated individual, child, or parent of the faculty member if the former has a serious health condition (the name of the designated individual must be on file with the Human Resources Department at least six (6) months prior to utilization of such leave per Article VIII, Section 8.2.1.1), or
  - d. Because of a serious health condition of the faculty member, which renders the faculty member unable to perform the functions of the faculty member's position.
- 8.3.2.3 The taking of a FMLA Leave shall not result in the loss of any employment benefit accrued prior to the date on which the leave commenced; provided, however, that nothing in this sentence shall be construed to entitle any faculty member who returns from leave to the accrual of any seniority or employment benefits during the period of the leave or to any right, benefit, or position to which the faculty member would have been entitled had the faculty member not taken the leave.
- 8.3.2.4 Faculty members who take a FMLA Leave for the intended purpose of the leave shall be entitled, on return from the leave, to be restored by the Employer to the position of employment held by the faculty member when the leave commenced or an equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment.

- 8.3.2.5 During the period of a FMLA Leave, the Employer shall maintain coverage under any group health plan as defined by the FMLA for the duration of such leave and at the level and under the conditions coverage would have been provided if the faculty member had continued in employment for the duration of the leave; provided, however, that the Employer may recover the premiums paid for maintaining coverage for the faculty member under such group health plan during the period of a FMLA Leave if the faculty member fails to return to work for reasons other than the continuation, recovering, or onset of a serious health condition entitling the member to leave under Sections 8.3.2.2 (c) or (d), or other circumstances beyond the faculty member's control. The Employer may require certification of inability to return to work as specified and allowed by the FMLA.
- 8.3.2.6 If the requested leave is for the birth/care of a child, the placement of a child for adoption or foster care, or to care for a spouse or designated individual, child, or parent who has a serious health condition, the faculty member is first required to exhaust any available paid vacation leave and necessity leave (e.g., personal leave days, Family Care Leave). Upon exhaustion of the paid leave, any portion of the remaining twelve (12) workweeks of leave shall be unpaid.
- 8.3.2.7 If the requested leave is due to the faculty member's serious health condition, the faculty member is first required to exhaust any available paid sick leave and short-term disability. Upon exhaustion of the paid leave, any portion of the remaining twelve (12) workweeks of leave shall be unpaid.
- 8.3.2.8 An unpaid family leave of up to twelve (12) workweeks for the birth/care of a child or for the placement of a child for adoption or foster care may be taken at any time within the twelve- (12) month period which starts on the date of such birth or placement of adoption or foster care. However, regardless of when the leave becomes effective, it will expire no later than the end of the twelve- (12) month period. For example, a faculty member who requests a leave at the start of the twelfth month (of the twelve- [12] month period from the date of birth or placement) is entitled to only four (4) workweeks of unpaid leave. Upon request of the faculty member and the recommendation of the department head, the dean may approve an unpaid Child Care Leave as specified in Section 8.3.1 to immediately follow the FMLA Leave providing the faculty member gives at least thirty (30) days' notice.
- 8.3.2.9 Spouses, both of whom are employed by the Employer are limited to a combined total of twelve (12) workweeks of unpaid leave during any twelve- (12) month period for the birth/care of the spouses' child, placement of the spouses' child for adoption or foster care, or for the care of a parent with a serious health condition. However, each faculty member may use up to twelve (12) workweeks of unpaid leave during any twelve- (12) month period to care for the faculty member's child or spouse or designated individual who is suffering from a serious health condition, or if the leave is necessitated by the faculty member's own serious health condition.
- 8.3.2.10 An eligible faculty member who foresees that the faculty member will require a leave for the birth/care of a child or for the placement of a child for adoption or foster care, must notify, in writing, the department head and dean not less than thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the starting date of the leave. If not foreseeable, the faculty member must provide as much written notice as is practicable under the circumstances.
- 8.3.2.11 An eligible faculty member who foresees the need for a leave of absence due to planned medical treatment for the faculty member, the faculty member's spouse or designated individual, child, or parent, should notify, in writing, the department head and dean as early as possible so that the absence can be scheduled at a time least disruptive to the Employer's operations. Such a faculty member must also give at least thirty (30) calendar days' written notice, unless impractical in which case the faculty member must provide as much written notice as circumstances permit.
- 8.3.2.12 If the requested leave is to care for a spouse or designated individual, child, or parent who has a serious health condition, the faculty member may be required to file with the Employer in a timely manner a health care provider's statement that the faculty member is needed to care for the son, daughter, spouse or designated individual, or parent and an estimate of the amount of time that the faculty member is needed for such care.

- 8.3.2.13 If the requested leave is because of a serious health condition of the faculty member which renders the faculty member unable to perform the functions of the faculty member's position, the faculty member may be required to file with the Employer the physician's or health care provider's statement as allowed by the FMLA.
- 8.3.2.14 Under normal circumstances, a class should be conducted from beginning to end by a single instructor. Leaves taken under this Article have the potential of disrupting classes, since the classes will be taught by more than one instructor. In order to keep this disruption to a minimum, the University may deem it wise not to return the faculty member to the classroom for the conclusion of the semester in which a leave is taken. In these cases the University may require the faculty member to transfer temporarily to an alternative position, offered by the University, for which the faculty member is qualified and which has equivalent pay and benefits.
- 8.3.2.15 Leaves taken under Sections 8.3.2.2 (a) or (b) shall not be taken intermittently unless the Employer and the faculty member agree otherwise. Subject to the limitations and certifications allowed by the FMLA Leaves taken under Sections 8.3.2.2 (c) or (d) may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary; provided, however, that where such leave is foreseeable based upon planned medical treatment, the Employer may require the faculty member to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position offered by the Employer for which the faculty member is qualified and that has equivalent pay and benefits and better accommodates recurring periods of leave than the faculty member's regular position.
- 8.3.2.16 A faculty member on an approved leave under this Section 8.3.2 must keep the department head informed regarding the faculty member's status and intent to return to work upon conclusion of the leave.
- 8.3.2.17 In any case in which the Employer has reason to doubt the validity of the health care provider's statement or certification for leaves taken under Sections 8.3.2.2 (c) or (d), the Employer may, at the Employer's expense, require second and third opinions as specified by the FMLA to resolve the issue.
- 8.3.2.18 The provisions of this Article are intended to comply with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 and any terms used from the FMLA will be as defined in the Act. To the extent that this Article is ambiguous or contradicts the Act, the language of the Act will prevail. Except as expressly provided in Sections 8.2.5 and 8.3.1, these FMLA provisions do not impair any rights granted under other provisions of this Agreement.
- 8.4 Military Leave of Absence
- 8.4.1 The University will abide by federal and state laws to rehire employees who entered the armed forces while employed by the University, if they reapply within thirty (30) days from the date they leave active duty.
- Faculty members who have been called into active military service of the Armed Forces of the United States, including the National Guard, Officer Reserve Corps, or similar military organizations, shall be accorded a leave of absence without pay or compensation for such period of service. Any such faculty member shall be restored to the position the faculty member left or a comparable one for at least as many months as there shall remain in the faculty member's employment agreement at the time of the faculty member's entry into active service.
- 8.4.1.2 Military leave time shall not be considered an interruption of service toward tenure; that is, years of service prior to the leave will count toward tenure. However, no credit should be earned toward promotion while on military leave. Exceptions to this policy shall be governed by the applicable federal and state statutes as interpreted by the decisions of the courts.
- 8.5 Personal Leaves
- 8.5.1 As approved by the Board, personal leaves without pay may be granted in cases of exceptional need for up to six (6) months. Any such leave exceeding one (1) semester shall not be counted toward tenure or promotion or for computing salary increments. These leaves may be extended by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs upon recommendation of the dean for up to one (1) year.

- 8.6 Professional Development Leaves
- As approved by the Board, professional study, research, or continuing educational leaves without pay may be granted for up to twelve (12) months, and shall, except for serious reasons, be renewable for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months. Upon the mutual agreement of the faculty member, the administration, and the departmental faculty, the leave may be extended beyond the second twelve- (12) month period. Professional development leave, except leave taken to fulfill a degree requirement as specified in the departmental bylaws or any part of Article V, Section 5.6.2 of this Agreement, will count toward probationary period for tenure, promotion, and salary increment, subject to the review and approval of the department head, dean, and Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. The conditions of appointment which prevailed prior to granting of leave shall likewise prevail when the faculty member returns to active service. A faculty member granted such leave shall provide to the faculty member's department head by January 1 of the year prior to the faculty member's return a written statement of the faculty member's commitment to return to the University. Failure to provide such notification shall be considered as a resignation.
- 8.6.2 A faculty member who is granted a professional development leave is entitled to continue University hospitalization and medical benefits and the Board will contribute to the cost not to exceed the following amounts:

2003-04	\$7,685
2004-05	\$8,184
2005-06	\$8,675

- 8.6.3 A faculty member who is granted a professional development leave is entitled to tuition scholarship benefits for the faculty member, spouse, and dependent children as described in Article IX, Section 9.2.7.
- 8.6.4 The benefits described in Sections 8.6.2 and 8.6.3 are extended to the faculty member with the stipulation that should the faculty member not return to employment at the University for a period of two (2) years the cost of these benefits must be repaid to the University.
- 8.7 Political Activity Leave
- 8.7.1 As citizens, faculty members have the same rights and responsibilities of free speech, thought, and action as all citizens.
- 8.7.2 Prior to formal public announcement of intended candidacy for a political office or an impending political appointment, a faculty member shall so inform, in writing, the faculty member's department head or dean and the President of the University.
- 8.7.3 Faculty members who engage in political activity will be expected to meet all of the faculty members' obligations unless leave of absence without pay is taken for the period involved. Such leave shall not count toward meeting the requirement for any probationary period. In the case of candidacy (including primary contests) for or election to a local or county office, the taking of a leave of absence without pay shall not be required unless the political activity interferes with the faculty member's normal duties. In the case of candidacy for or election to a state or national office or position, a leave of absence without pay shall be required unless it is mutually agreed that the faculty member can continue to fulfill the faculty member's University obligations.
- 8.7.4 University facilities and services are not to be used by faculty members running for political office or in campaigning for specific candidates.
- 8.7.5 For purposes of this contract, "Political Activity" shall denote candidacy for, election to, or appointment to a political position or office.
- 8.8 Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During Leaves

Faculty members granted personal leave, professional development leave, political activity leave, or public service leave will not be provided fringe benefit coverage at the expense of the Board except as specifically provided for in Sections 8.6.2 and 8.6.3. Faculty members who are granted leave of absence without pay should make arrangements for insurance coverage (subject to the carrier's provisions) with the Human Resources Department well in advance of the faculty members' departure from campus.

- 8.9 Illness or Disability Leave
- 8.9.1 Faculty members who are not eligible for or who are denied long-term disability benefits may apply for a leave for illness or disability as follows:
  - a. A faculty member who (1) is unable to work because of personal sickness or injury including pregnancy and pregnancy-related disability and (2) has exhausted sick leave pay and short-term disability benefits under Article IX shall be granted a leave of absence without pay upon request in writing and upon the Human Resources Department receiving satisfactory written evidence of disability.
  - b. The leave of absence shall be for the period of continuing disability, but not to exceed six (6) months.
  - c. The Employer will provide appropriate hospitalization and medical benefits as provided in Section 9.2.1, dental benefits as provided in Article IX, Section 9.2.13, optical benefits as provided in Section 9.2.14, and group life insurance equal to one (1) times the regular annual salary for faculty members on an approved leave of absence due to sickness or disability (including those receiving Workers' Compensation benefits). However, those faculty members who have supplemental life insurance or normally have dental and/or optical premium deductions are responsible for contacting the Human Resources Department regarding maintaining payments at the faculty members' expense.
- 8.9.2 Faculty members who receive benefits under the Long-Term Disability Program will be considered to be on an illness or disability leave to a maximum length of time as specified in Article IX, Section 9.2.3.3.

## **ARTICLE IX**

# **COMPENSATION (SALARY AND FRINGE BENEFITS)**

### 9.1 Salary

#### 9.1.1 Minimum Salaries

The following minimum base salaries shall be established for Ongoing faculty who receive promotions:

	<u>7/1/2003</u>	7/1/2004	7/1/2005
Professor	\$61,092	\$61,703	\$63,708
Associate Professor	49,899	50,398	52,036
Assistant Professor	40,731	41,139	42,476
Instructor	33,939	34,278	35,392

The above minimum base salaries shall apply for all bargaining unit members effective at the beginning of the appointment period for each academic year. Faculty on twelve- (12) month appointments shall have a minimum base salary of one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the amounts listed above.

### 9.1.2 Salary Increases

- 9.1.2.1 Effective January 1, 2004, all Ongoing faculty as agreed to by the Board and the Association, shall have the faculty members' 2002-03 base salaries increased by three-quarters of one percent (0.75%).
- 9.1.2.2 Effective July 1, 2004, all Ongoing faculty as agreed to by the Board and the Association, shall have the faculty members' 2003-04 base salaries increased by one percent (1.0%).
- 9.1.2.3 Effective July 1, 2005, all Ongoing faculty as agreed to by the Board and the Association, shall have the faculty members' 2004-05 base salaries increased by three and one-quarter percent (3.25%).

# 9.1.2.4 Promotions

Faculty members who have received promotions effective at the beginning of the 2003-04, 2004-05, and 2005-06 appointment periods shall have the faculty members' base salaries increased as follows:

<u>2003-04</u>	<u>2004-05</u>	<u>2005-06</u>
\$1,560	\$1,575	\$1,626
2,182	2,204	2,276
3,116	3,147	3,250
	\$1,560 2,182	\$1,560 \$1,575 2,182 2,204

# 9.1.2.5 Merit Distribution

Merit moneys may be distributed by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. These awards will be made according to the criteria published by the Provost and Vice President. Nominations for the awards can be made by an individual faculty member, the departmental faculty, or the department head to the dean of the faculty member's college. The Association will be notified in writing of merit awards. The Board's decisions in making these individual merit awards shall not be grievable.

#### 9.1.2.6 Enrollment Bonus

9.1.2.6.1 An enrollment bonus will be paid to Ongoing faculty based upon the increase in student credit hours (SCH) in 2004-05 and 2005-06 as follows:

If 2004-05 student credit hours (summer, fall, and winter combined) increase at least one percent (1.0%) and less than two percent (2.0%), one-quarter of one percent (0.25%) will be added to base; if 2004-05 student credit hours (summer, fall, and winter combined) increase at least two percent (2.0%) and less than three percent (3.0%), one-half of one percent (0.50%) will be added to base; if 2004-05 student credit hours (summer, fall, and winter combined) increase at least three percent (3.0%), three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) will be added to base. The enrollment bonus will be added to base effective July 1, 2005 prior to calculation of the 2005-06 across-the-board increase.

If 2005-06 student credit hours (summer, fall, and winter combined) increase at least one percent (1.0%) and less than two percent (2.0%), one-quarter of one percent (0.25%) will be added to base; if 2005-06 student credit hours (summer, fall, and winter combined) increase at least two percent (2.0%) and less than three percent (3.0%), one-half of one percent (0.50%) will be added to base; if 2005-06 student credit hours (summer, fall, and winter combined) increase at least three percent (3.0%), three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) will be added to base. The enrollment bonus will be added to base effective July 1, 2006 prior to calculation of the 2006-07 across-the-board increase.

- 9.1.2.6.2 The University and the Association agree to undertake a market study in the 2004-05 academic year to address the issue of salary compression under the guidelines described by Memorandum of Understanding #2.
- 9.1.3 Effective Dates of Salary Increases
- 9.1.3.1 Salary increases shall be effective at the beginning of the respective appointment periods.
- 9.1.3.2 A faculty member on a Term appointment is eligible for salary increases under Section 9.1.2 of the Agreement, so long as the faculty member's appointment represents a continuation of the full-time position held the previous year.
- 9.1.4 Compensation for Additional On-Campus Assignments
- 9.1.4.1 All available on-campus teaching assignments beyond the normal teaching load (see Article VI) shall be offered to qualified members of the bargaining unit before being offered to nonbargaining unit members. However, when accreditation standards dictate limitations on overloads or the bargaining unit member has already had a teaching overload assignment during the academic year, the Board reserves the right to assign these courses to qualified nonbargaining unit members. When assignments are made to nonbargaining unit members, these assignments shall be made only after joint review of qualifications by the department faculty and the department head. The department head and dean have final authority to determine such assignments.
- 9.1.4.2 Effective January 1, 2004, all additional on-campus teaching assignments, other than directed studies, which are concurrent with normal teaching assignments shall be compensated at the rate of .021 x the number of credit hours x base salary with the maximum amount per credit hour of \$1,315 in 2003-04, \$1,328 in 2004-05, and \$1,371 in 2005-06.
- 9.1.4.2.1 No such additional on-campus teaching assignment may be made unless mutually agreed to by the dean, department head, and the faculty member (with the single exception of additional teaching assignments arising from such leave under Article VIII, Section 8.2.4, in which case such assignment shall be made by the dean for not more than one [1] semester).
- 9.1.4.3 Directed study courses which are offered to accommodate an oversight by the University which adversely affects a student or to accommodate other unusual circumstances, if approved by the department head and the dean, will be compensated at the rate of \$80 per credit hour for 2003-04, \$82 per credit hour for 2004-05, \$84 per credit hour for 2005-06 for an undergraduate course; and \$107 per credit hour for 2003-04, \$109 per credit hour for 2004-05, and \$113 per credit hour for 2005-06 for a graduate course. Faculty may offer directed study courses without compensation for reasons other than those stated above.

The request for a directed study course must contain both a description of the plan of study as well as a rationale for it being offered. All directed study courses, whether for pay or on load, must be approved by the department head and the dean and shall normally be limited to one (1) course per semester by each faculty member.

- 9.1.4.4 Faculty Load and Compensation for the Direction of Graduate Research, Practicum, and Theses.
- 9.1.4.4.1 Faculty of record who serve as the director or reader of a graduate thesis, or director of graduate research or graduate practicum, shall be given the opportunity
  - a) to count the effort as part of the normal teaching assignment,
  - b) to designate the effort for compensatory time credit as provided in Article VI, Section 6.1.1.6, or
  - c) to be compensated for the effort according to the following table:

Activity	Assignment	Student Registration	Faculty Load	Salary
MA/MS Thesis	Director	4 credits	0.50 credits	\$400
MA/MS/MFA Thesis	Reader	4 credits	0.25 credits	\$200
MFA Thesis	Director	12 credits	1.00 credits	\$800
Research	Director	1 credit	0.0625 credits	\$50
Practicum	Supervisor	1 credit	0.0625 credits	\$50

- 9.1.5 Compensation and General Provisions for Off-Campus Extension and Field Course Duties
- 9.1.5.1 Effective January 1, 2004, off-campus extension and field courses teaching shall be compensated at the rate of .025 x the number of credit hours x base salary with the maximum amount per credit hour of \$1,315 in 2003-04, \$1,328 in 2004-05, and \$1,371 in 2005-06.
- 9.1.5.2 Off-campus extension and field course assignments shall be based on programmatic needs as determined by the department head, dean, and the Director of Continuing Education and Sponsored Programs. Except by mutual agreement, faculty shall not normally teach more than one (1) field or extension course during the regular academic year, nor shall such assignments be made except by mutual agreement between the Board and the faculty member.
- 9.1.5.3 A faculty member who elects not to accept an offer for an off-campus teaching assignment shall not receive consideration as a matter of right for other additional teaching assignments in that semester (or enrollment period).

A faculty member who accepts and then rejects an off-campus assignment shall not receive consideration as a matter of right for other additional teaching assignments in that semester or for the following semester.

- 9.1.5.5 Reimbursement for meals and lodging shall be in accordance with existing University policies (see Travel Policies, Regulations and Procedures, effective July 1, 1990 or subsequent revisions thereof).
- 9.1.5.6 State vehicles shall be used for transportation if available, otherwise faculty members shall be reimbursed for the use of personal cars according to University policy (see Travel Policies, Regulations and Procedures, effective July 1, 1990 or subsequent revisions thereof).
- 9.1.6 Summer College Salary

- 9.1.6.1 Effective with Summer 2004 Summer College assignments, excepting when Summer College assignments are on load, salary for Summer College assignments shall be compensated at the rate of .0278 x the number of credit hours x preceding academic year's base salary with the maximum amount per credit hour of \$1,698 in 2003-04, \$1,715 in 2004-05, and \$1,770 in 2005-06. Summer salary rates are effective for all courses that commence after July 1 (and prior to June 30) of the respective contract year.
- 9.1.6.2 Summer College teaching assignments shall be based upon programmatic needs as determined by the department head and dean. Summer College assignments shall not be made except by mutual agreement between the Board and the faculty member. Such assignments shall normally be offered to qualified members of the bargaining unit; however, the Board reserves the right to employ nonbargaining unit personnel for such purpose and, further, the Board's decisions in such instances are not subject to review under the grievance procedure.
- 9.1.6.3 Faculty shall not have, in any one (1) year, Summer College appointments which exceed a total of an eight (8) credit-hour teaching load or its equivalent, unless approved by the department head and dean.
- 9.2 Fringe Benefits
- 9.2.1 Hospitalization and Medical Benefits
- 9.2.1.1 The Board will, during the life of the Agreement, maintain and contribute to the cost for the current hospitalization and medical program for full-time faculty members who complete and file an application in accordance with the Board's and the administrators' regulations. The Board's contribution to the health program for each faculty member participating will be as follows:

2003-04	Average cost up to \$7,685
2004-05	Average cost up to \$8,184
2005-06	Average cost up to \$8,675

- 9.2.1.1.1 If the average cost in any of the years is less than the amounts stated in Section 9.2.1.1, the savings or dividend shall be distributed to Association members as specified in Section 9.2.1.1.2.
- 9.2.1.1.2 The savings or dividend (if any) shall be distributed to eligible faculty members in a manner specified by the Association. Within thirty (30) days after the Board has computed the savings or dividend and communicated same to the Association, the Association will notify the Board as to the method of distribution. The method of distribution cannot include an increase in base salary since the savings is a one-time savings.
- 9.2.1.1.3 If the average cost for 2003-04 and/or 2004-05 and/or 2005-06 is greater than the amount shown above, such excess average cost shall be borne by those faculty members (a) who were covered by the health program during such year and (b) who were in active status at the end of such year. A faculty member's share of such excess average cost shall be withheld from the faculty member's compensation during the ensuing year in accordance with the written election filed by such faculty member, provided that the maximum share of excess average cost for a given plan year shall be \$850 in 2003-04, \$900 in 2004-05, and \$1,000 in 2005-06. Any cost in excess of the maximum individual share shall be borne by the Board.
- 9.2.1.1.4 Average cost is defined as the total of claims, administrative fees, reinsurance, Employer's share of FICA, and stop loss premiums divided by the average number of University employees covered during the health plan year. When calculating the average cost per year for the hospitalization and medical program, the Association agrees to recognize \$2.50 per covered faculty member per year to help fund wellness activities of the Health Care/Wellness Committee. The University also agrees to contribute \$2.50 per covered employee per year for this purpose.

9.2.1.1.5 In the event of a faculty member's death, the University shall continue for twelve (12) months the hospitalization and medical benefits for the faculty member's surviving spouse or same-sex domestic partner and dependent children of the faculty member, spouse, or same-sex domestic partner. The surviving spouse or same-sex domestic partner and dependent children of the faculty member, spouse, or same-sex domestic partner are eligible for hospitalization and medical benefits consistent with the provisions of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) by paying the University the necessary premiums for an additional twenty-four (24) months. After expiration of COBRA benefits, an individual conversion policy is available from the carrier.

### 9.2.1.2 Same-Sex Domestic Partner Benefits

- 9.2.1.2.1 Effective September 1, 2000, full-time faculty may enroll their same-sex domestic partner and the partner's IRS dependent children in University hospitalization and medical benefits. Same-sex domestic partners are defined as two (2) individuals of the same gender:
  - who are both eighteen (18) years or older and,
  - who have resided together continuously for at least six (6) months, and
  - who intend to reside together indefinitely, and
  - who are not related by blood, and
  - who have agreed to be jointly responsible for each other's welfare, and
  - who share financial obligations, and
  - who are not involved in any other domestic partnership or marriage.

In order to obtain benefits for a same-sex domestic partner, an enrollment form and an affidavit attesting that the above conditions have been met must be completed.

# 9.2.1.2.2 Taxation of Same-Sex Domestic Partner Benefits

The employer cost of providing benefits of the type described above for same-sex domestic partners is considered ordinary income and is, therefore, subject to taxes, including social security, Medicare, federal, and state taxes.

### 9.2.1.2.3 Confidentiality

The University will keep records containing information on same-sex domestic partners confidential to the extent permitted by law. When applying for same-sex domestic partner benefits, it is important to understand that the law may require disclosure regarding same-sex domestic partner benefits at a public university.

- 9.2.1.3 The designated individual of an Association member as specified in Article VIII, Section 8.2.1.1. shall have access to the health services provided by the Northern Michigan University Health Center. Payment for the cost of such services will be the responsibility of the designated individual.
- 9.2.1.4 All faculty members who have worked full time during the full academic year shall be covered for hospitalization and medical and life insurance benefits and single premium dental and optical insurance until the start of the next academic year whether the faculty members are Ongoing faculty or are separating from University employment. It is understood that continuation of these benefits does not constitute an Ongoing appointment. The Board reserves the right to not renew an appointment.

# 9.2.2 Short-Term Disability

- 9.2.2.1 Full-time faculty members who have been employed by the University for one (1) year and who have used six (6) weeks of sick leave and are unable to return to work, as evidenced by a statement from the faculty members' physician, will receive short-term disability pay at a rate of seventy-five percent (75%) of base annual salary. Faculty members who accumulate annual leave will use accumulated and unused annual leave to make up the difference between the seventy-five percent (75%) short-term disability payment and full salary. Once a faculty member is placed on short-term disability, the faculty member shall cease to earn annual leave.
- 9.2.2.2 A sick leave bank will be established each fiscal year. This bank will be created by the University by setting aside the equivalent of five (5) hours of sick pay for each academic year Ongoing faculty member. This bank will be used on a first come-first served basis by those academic year Ongoing faculty members who exceed the six (6) weeks of full salary sick leave to make up the difference between seventy-five percent (75%) short-term disability and full salary. The balance remaining on June 30 each year, if any, will not carry forward to the following year.
- 9.2.2.3 A faculty member who returns to work after having received short-term disability will be required to requalify for sick leave benefits by working a period of twenty (20) consecutive work days unless the subsequent disability arises from a cause unrelated to the original disability. The only exceptions to this requalification may be made by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs in cases of very serious illness or disability. A faculty member who returns to work, works for less than twenty (20) days, and is unable to perform the faculty member's duties as evidenced by satisfactory medical documentation may receive the faculty member's unused short-term disability benefits.
- 9.2.2.4 Short-term disability benefits will continue until the long-term disability insurance becomes effective, or until the faculty member recovers and resumes regular duties, or until the faculty member dies, but the benefits will in no event continue for a period longer than the first of the month following six (6) consecutive months of total disability or not beyond the end of the regular appointment period.
- 9.2.2.5 Faculty members who are not eligible for long-term disability will be paid under the provisions of the Sick Leave and Short-Term Disability Policies. Once these benefits have been exhausted, salary payments will cease. A faculty member may be eligible for an unpaid illness or disability leave (Article VIII, Section 8.9). Faculty members who have exhausted the sick leave, short-term disability, and illness or disability leave provisions shall have the faculty members' employment terminated.
- 9.2.2.6 Since certain full-time regular faculty members have fiscal year appointments, the benefits provided under this policy will be based on the appointment period.
- 9.2.2.7 The Board will provide full health insurance, life insurance, single premium dental and optical insurance, and long-term disability coverage while a faculty member is on short-term disability.
- 9.2.3 Long-Term Disability Insurance
- 9.2.3.1 The Board shall provide a Long-Term Disability Insurance Program.
- 9.2.3.2 The policy provides for the payment of sixty percent (60%) of the regular appointment period salary rate for all full-time faculty members who, in the opinion of the University's carrier, are considered to be totally disabled. The sixty percent (60%) level is less any and all offsets (Social Security, Workers' Compensation, etc.) as determined by the insurance policy. Coverage is effective on the first of the month following one (1) year (twelve [12] months) of employment.
- 9.2.3.3 The Board shall, consistent with Section 9.2.1, 9.2.13, and 9.2.14, provide hospitalization and medical benefits, dental and optical benefits, and one (1) times regular annual salary as group life insurance as provided by our carriers for those receiving long-term disability benefits as follows. In all cases the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs has the ability to extend the period of employment at the Provost and Vice President's discretion.

- 9.2.3.3.1 Tenured faculty approved for long-term disability benefits will have two (2) years of benefits paid by the University as specified in Section 9.2.3.3 after which time the cost of the premiums will be shared equally fifty/fifty (50/50) by the Board and the faculty member for an additional four (4) years at which time employment and benefits will terminate. Continuation of long-term disability benefits is based on the terms of the insurance policy.
- 9.2.3.3.2 Tenure Earning faculty approved for long-term disability benefits will have two (2) years of benefits paid by the University as specified in Section 9.2.3.3 after which time the cost of the premiums will be shared equally fifty/fifty (50/50) by the Board and the faculty member for an additional two (2) years at which time employment and benefits will terminate. Continuation of long-term disability benefits is based on the terms of the insurance policy.
- 9.2.3.3.3 Faculty members on Continuing contracts approved for long-term disability benefits will have two (2) years of benefits paid by the University as specified in Section 9.2.3.3 at which time employment and benefits will terminate. Continuation of long-term disability benefits is based on the terms of the insurance policy.

Term faculty approved for long-term disability benefits will have benefits paid by the University as specified in Section 9.2.3.3 for the duration of their current Term appointment at which time employment and benefits will terminate. Continuation of long-term disability benefits is based on the terms of the insurance policy.

- 9.2.3.4 Faculty members who receive benefits under the Long-Term Disability Program will be considered to be on an illness or disability leave as specified in Article VIII, Section 8.9 to a maximum period specified above.
- 9.2.3.5 Return from Long-Term Disability Leave

Faculty members who receive long-term disability are considered to be on a leave of absence for illness or disability as specified in Section 8.9 and benefits and employment rights will continue as specified in Article IX, Section 9.2.3.3.

In order to be eligible to return to active employment, a faculty member returning from long-term disability must provide a statement from the faculty member's physician releasing the faculty member to return to work. The University, at its option and without cost to the faculty member, may require that a physician or physicians of its choosing examine the faculty member before returning the faculty member to active employment.

Faculty members returning to active employment may be required to return at the beginning of a semester to minimize the disruption of classes or other assigned responsibilities. Any such delay in the resumption of regular assigned responsibilities will be compensated at the faculty member's base salary. A Tenured or Tenure-Earning or Continuing faculty member returning to active status after being on long-term disability shall be entitled to return to the faculty member's former department for a period of one (1) year. A Term faculty member returning to active status after being on long-term disability shall be entitled to return to the faculty member's former position for the remainder of the Term appointment, if applicable, or employment shall be terminated.

During this time, at the direction of the department head, an assessment of the faculty member's professional competencies will be made within the first twelve (12) months to determine if the faculty member is able to adequately discharge the faculty member's assigned responsibilities. If the faculty member is not able to do so, the faculty member will be returned to long-term disability, if eligible, or offered another vacant position for which the faculty member is qualified with the understanding that this does not supersede any other contractual agreement, or employment shall be terminated.

# 9.2.4 Life Insurance

- 9.2.4.1 The Board shall provide term life insurance equal to a faculty member's salary for the regular appointment period, rounded to the next highest multiple of \$1,000, for all full-time faculty members (and faculty on reduced appointments) who complete the necessary forms for this coverage within thirty (30) days of a new appointment or within thirty (30) days of obtaining full-time status. This coverage shall also include an "Accidental Death and Dismemberment" rider.
- 9.2.4.2 Faculty may, at the faculty members' expense, apply for additional coverage up to five (5) times the faculty members' annual base salary rate with a maximum total amount of coverage of \$500,000.
- 9.2.4.3 Additional coverage may be obtained at the faculty member's expense for the faculty member's spouse and/or dependent children. The amount for the spouse may be up to \$20,000 and for dependent children up to \$10,000.
- 9.2.4.4 The Board's only obligation with respect to all insurance coverage shall be payment of insurance premiums as above provided. The amount and nature of benefits and the commencement and duration of coverage for any program shall be as provided in the master insurance policy and the carrier's rules and regulations.
- 9.2.4.5 The Board has no authority to make changes in insurance coverage and/or carriers without written response from the Association within a reasonable period of time.
- 9.2.5 Retirement
- 9.2.5.1 Full-time faculty members who are eligible to participate in the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association-College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF) retirement program may participate if they elect to do so within ninety (90) days of date of appointment or within ninety (90) days of a change from part- to full-time status. Electing to participate in the TIAA-CREF program is an irrevocable decision. Faculty first hired prior to January 1, 1996 who did not elect TIAA-CREF are covered under the terms and provisions of the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System (MPSERS).

The University shall contribute for TIAA-CREF participants 15.64 percent of salary paid. For participants in the MPSERS program, the University shall pay the amount specified by MPSERS.

Retirement contributions to TIAA-CREF shall be made on a biweekly basis.

- 9.2.5.1.1 The Board agrees to make available supplemental retirement programs in addition to TIAA-CREF's supplemental retirement program.
- 9.2.5.2 To be considered a retiree and eligible for retirement benefits and privileges as a retiree of the University, regardless of the retirement program in which an employee participates, the total of an employee's age and years of service at the University must equal or be greater than seventy (70) as of the retirement effective date and the employee must have a minimum of ten (10) years of full-time service with the University. Individuals who were accepted for the Northern Michigan University 2000-2001 Severance Incentive Plan, regardless of whether their age and years of service were equal or greater than seventy (70), and who terminated their employment during that period of time, are considered a retiree and are eligible for retirement benefits and privileges as a retiree of the University.
- 9.2.5.3 Upon retirement, faculty members will receive a membership card from the NMU Retirees Association which will entitle the faculty members to all the NMU Retirees Association benefits. Persons with emeritus title may also march in academic processions such as commencement, and represent the University on appointment at academic ceremonies of other institutions. Spouses of retirees may also enroll in University courses free of charge.
- 9.2.5.4 Additional Retired Faculty Benefits

#### 9.2.5.4.1 Teaching and Consultation

Retired faculty may request consideration for substitute or part-time teaching. Department heads, with consultation of faculty, are encouraged to invite retired faculty to participate in appropriate seminars, colloquia, scholarly meetings, to serve on appropriate departmental committees, and to serve in academic consultant capacities on campus. Retired faculty may be eligible to serve on appropriate campus and state-wide faculty committees.

#### 9.2.5.4.2 Support Services

The University, through the academic department heads, will consider requests for providing support services and access to facilities by retired faculty. Approvals of such support or access shall not establish any precedent nor provide any assurance that other requests will be honored.

- 9.2.5.4.3 Emeriti groups will have access to campus rooms and facilities for meetings and reunions and opportunity to establish an emeriti association on the same basis as other community groups.
- 9.2.5.5 Retirees who retire under the provisions of the MPSERS are afforded an opportunity to participate in a group health insurance policy for retirees. The retirement system (MPSERS) presently contributes to the cost of this coverage. Arrangements for such coverage are normally made at the time of retirement.

Retirees who retire under the TIAA-CREF program, and who have met the retirement qualifications consistent with University regulations may participate in the group health coverage that is available to regular full-time employees of the University. The cost of this coverage will be paid by the retiree and will be the same as for an active employee, or as established by the Board. Arrangements for this coverage must be made with the Human Resources Department normally at the time of retirement, and payments are to be made to Financial Services. The retiree and spouse, when eligible, must participate in the Medicare Program Part A and Part B.

A spouse and dependent children as defined by the University group health insurance policy, upon the death of the retiree, may also make arrangements to continue health coverage, dependent on the retirement program of the retiree and the rules then in effect.

#### 9.2.6 Bookstore Discount

All faculty members, the faculty members' spouses, and dependents as defined by the IRS shall be entitled to receive a twenty percent (20%) discount on books and a ten percent (10%) discount on all other merchandise purchased at the Bookstore with the exception of items on sale and cap and gown rentals and purchases.

#### 9.2.7 Tuition Scholarships

9.2.7.1 Tuition scholarships will be awarded to faculty members, spouses, and dependent children as defined by the IRS, on a space available basis.

Faculty members, spouses, and dependent children as defined by the IRS shall be allowed to take an unlimited number of credit hours per semester.

- 9.2.7.2 Those who participate in the Tuition Scholarship Program are not eligible to receive additional University funded scholarships or grants.
- 9.2.7.3 In the event of a faculty member's death, the surviving spouse and dependent children, who are participating in the Tuition Scholarship Program at the time of the faculty member's death may continue in the program until completion.
- 9.2.7.4 The unmarried surviving spouse and dependent children of a faculty member who had at least ten (10) years of service at the University may participate in the program until completion.

#### 9.2.8 Recreation Membership

The Board will provide each faculty member, who completes the annual application process, a single recreation membership or single Superior Dome walking pass for the faculty member. The cost of an annual family membership may, in the alternative, be reduced by the cost of a single membership for the family of such faculty member. Once per year, faculty members may sponsor one (1) person, other than their spouse, for a recreation membership at the reduced rate which would otherwise be afforded family members of faculty members.

9.2.9 Existing library and parking policies shall be modified only after prior consultation according to Article I, Section 1.5.2.

#### 9.2.10 General Liability Insurance

9.2.10.1 When performing assigned responsibilities, faculty members are protected against loss due to personal injury or property damage to self or to others in accordance with the provisions of the University's insurance program.

#### 9.2.11 Dependent Care Assistance Plan

All faculty members shall be given the opportunity to participate in a Dependent Care Assistance Plan established by the administration.

#### 9.2.12 Prescription Drug Program

The University agrees to provide a prescription drug card with a \$5 co-pay for generic prescriptions and a \$10 co-pay for nongeneric prescriptions acquired at the University Health Center; a \$10 co-pay for generic prescriptions and a \$20 co-pay for nongeneric prescriptions acquired off-campus. A mail-order option will also be available.

#### 9.2.13 Dental Benefits

The University agrees to contribute the full cost per faculty member of a single plan premium for eligible faculty members for a defined dental plan for all participating full-time faculty members.

Participation in the plan is optional for all full-time faculty members.

The plan must maintain the level of participation of the faculty members on roll as determined by the carrier.

The University will assume the administrative costs necessary to collect deductions, to submit payments to the carrier, to enroll faculty members, and to communicate with the carrier regarding administration of the plan.

#### 9.2.14 Optical Benefits

The University agrees to contribute the full cost per faculty member of a single plan premium for eligible faculty members for a defined optical plan for all participating full-time faculty members. As soon as practicable after ratification of this Agreement, the University agrees to contribute the full cost per faculty member of a two (2) person or family plan premium for eligible faculty members.

Participation in the plan is optional for all full-time faculty members.

The plan must maintain the level of participation of the faculty members on roll as determined by the carrier.

The University will assume the administrative costs necessary to collect deductions, to submit payments to the carrier, to enroll faculty members, and to communicate with the carrier regarding administration of the plan.

9.2.15 The University will establish flexible spending accounts and premium conversion plans for health, dental, and optical expenditures for insurance premiums and deductibles as allowable by law.

## 9.2.16 Parking Fees

The University will allow faculty who complete the necessary forms to receive one (1) parking decal at no cost, and have the cost of additional parking decal fees deducted from their payroll check on a pre-tax basis.

### 9.2.17 Taxable Benefits

The University will abide by state and federal laws regarding the taxability of fringe benefits.

#### **ARTICLE X**

#### **DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL**

- Discipline, including dismissal, may only be imposed for just cause. In all such cases, the faculty member shall be provided with a written notice of the reason why the disciplinary action is being taken. This notice shall describe with reasonable particularity the reason for the action and shall be delivered at or before the disciplinary action is effected. Copies of all such notices shall be concurrently transmitted to the Grievance Officer of the Association.
- 10.2 It is understood that nonrenewal of a probationary appointment is not a disciplinary action.
- 10.3 Dismissal of Faculty with Tenure
- 10.3.1 Dismissal of a faculty member with tenure will be preceded by a discussion between the faculty member and appropriate administrative officers looking toward a mutual settlement, and a written statement of the grounds for dismissal, framed with reasonable particularity, from the appropriate academic administrator.
- 10.3.1.1 In any case where the dismissal of a Tenured faculty member is recommended, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall notify the faculty member of the faculty member's right to request a review by the Faculty Review Committee (FRC).
- 10.3.1.2 In order to initiate such an appeal to the FRC, the faculty member must communicate a written request for the review to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs within fourteen (14) calendar days.
- 10.3.1.3 Upon receipt of a request for the FRC review, the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs shall notify the FRC that a review hearing of the case is to be initiated within fourteen (14) calendar days and further that the FRC shall submit its report within three (3) calendar weeks after the conclusion of the hearing to the Provost and Vice President.
- 10.3.1.4 The report of the FRC shall indicate whether in its opinion there exists just cause to dismiss the faculty member. This opinion shall be based solely on the record established during the review hearing and the report shall detail with reasonable particularity the reasons for its opinion.
- 10.3.1.5 If the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs does not concur with the opinion of the FRC, the Provost and Vice President shall state the substantive reasons for the disagreement and shall communicate the reasons in writing to the FRC before transmitting the case to the Board of Trustees.
- 10.3.1.6 The procedures to be followed in the FRC review hearing will be established by the FRC and shall provide due process to all participants. The faculty member is entitled to be accompanied and/or represented by a person of the faculty member's choice from the University community.
- 10.3.1.7 If the faculty member is suspended before or during the FRC review hearing, the suspension shall be with pay until such time as the FRC issues its report, or should have issued its report, to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.
- 10.3.1.8 Any faculty member who is recommended for dismissal may exercise the faculty member's statutory right to address the Board of Trustees by making the appropriate request through the Office of the Secretary to the Board of Trustees.
- 10.3.2 The FRC is charged with and authorized to convene and conduct a hearing under the provisions of Section 10.3 within the established time limits without regard to any limitation to the contrary in the bylaws of the FRC. Should such a hearing have to be conducted after the conclusion of the winter semester, the committee membership shall consist of the members appointed for the immediately preceding academic year.

### **ARTICLE XI**

## **DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

This Agreement shall be in effect upon ratification by the Board and the Association and shall extend to June 30, 2006. It shall continue in effect on a year-to-year basis after June 30, 2006 unless either party gives notice of intent to terminate the Agreement on that date or notice of intent to negotiate modifications of this Agreement pursuant to Article I, Section 1.5.3. In the event that the Board and the Association undertake such negotiations to modify this Agreement, it shall expire on June 30, 2006 unless it is extended for a specified period by mutual written agreement of the Board and the Association.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES HAVE SET THEI	R HANDS:
Date Signed:	
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PROFESSORS-NORTHERN	ON BEHALF OF THE NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY
MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY CHAPTER	BOARD OF CONTROL
Carol A. Johnson President	Alfred N. Joyal, III Provost and Vice President
	for Academic Affairs
Brent M. Graves	R. Gavin Leach
Chief Negotiator	Acting Chief Financial Officer
Ratified by the Association	Approved by the Board of Control
on November 20, 2003	on December 12, 2003

### MEMBERS OF THE NEGOTIATING TEAMS

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PROFESSORS-NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY CHAPTER ON BEHALF OF THE NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF CONTROL

Ms. Krista E. Clumpner Professor, Academic Information Services Mr. R. Gavin Leach Director, Budget and Financial Planning

Dr. Brent M. Graves, Chief Negotiator

Director, Budget and Phiancial Flamming

Professor of Biology

Dr. Donald J. Rybacki Head, Communications and Performance Studies

Dr. Carol A. Johnson, President Professor of Business Dr. James H. Scheiner Dean, College of Business

Library

Dean, Conege of Business

Dr. Raymond J. Ventre Professor of English Dr. Terrance L. Seethoff, Chief Negotiator Dean, College of Arts and Sciences

# NMU Faculty Evaluation: Promotion and/or Tenure Processing Form (Please attach to front of Promotion and/or Tenure Request)

Faculty Member:							
·	(name)				(si	gnature)	
Date of Application:			_ Applying for: □ Promotion □ Tenure			Tenure	
Department:							
Present Rank:		I	Date Re	ceived:			
lighest Degree: Year Awarded:			So	chool: _			
Full-Time Years at NMU:	Years Prior Serv		e Credit	·	Da	ate Hired:	
Tenure Status:		I	Oate Aw	arded:			
COMMITTEE	DATE RECEIVED			nending:		DATE OF	DATE SENT
		Yes Yes	otion No	Yes	No No	ACTION	TO NEXT STEP
Evaluation Committee							
Department Chair							
College Advisory Council							
Dean							
Faculty Review Committee							
Academic Vice President							
Final Decision							

## NMU Faculty Evaluation Processing Form (Please attach to front of Evaluation Materials)

	Evaluation Period _		
Faculty Member:	(name)		signature)
Department:			
Present Rank:		Date Received: _	
Highest Degree:	Year Awarded:	School: _	
Full-Time Years at NMU: (excluding current academic year)			
Tenure Status:	Date	e Awarded:	

## NMU Faculty Evaluation Processing Form Part ${\bf V}$

Faculty Member:		
•	currence with the substance of	page. The following signatures below do not f the evaluation; they indicate only that the signer
If this evaluation does not involve may append a statement to this for	11	and/or tenure, the faculty member and/or the dean
Faculty Member:	(signature)	Date:
Dean:	(signature)	Date:

Updated: February 2004 Academic Affairs

## NMU/AAUP REQUEST FOR AUTHORIZATION TO PERFORM CONSULTANT SERVICE

This authorization is r	equested by:	
Name:		
Rank:		
Department:		
This work will be don	e for:	Name of firm or agency:
(Name of fi	irm, agency, etc.)	Municipal or countyState of MichiganFederalPrivate foundationPrivate industryOther
Beginning date	/Ending date	
For each month during	g the consulting period, list t	he amount of estimated hours:
		I, Section 6.6, of the Agreement between the
Signature:		Date:
ACKNOWLEDGME	NT:	
Department H	ead:	Date:
Dean or Direct	tor:	Date:
Distribution of copies:	Faculty Member Department Head Dean or Director, Provost and Vice President for	Academic Affairs

Revised: February 2004; Academic Affairs

Faculty Credit Hour

Load Banked

Semester

## **DESIGNATION OF AAUP RELEASED-TIME CREDIT**

This form must be completed and approved by your department head and dean prior to the start of the first day of the instructional assignment to be banked

(Faculty Member)				(Departme	ent)
designations development side) approve	listed large purposed by m	VI, Section 6.1.1.6.1 of the I below for released-time cred es. Pursuant to Article VI, Se by department head and dean idit is irrevocable and that I wi	it, and I affirm thection 6.1.1.6.1.d, for use of this rele	hat this credit will be use I have completed a specificated time. I understand to	ed for professional ic plan (see reverse hat my designation
		URSE DESIGNATION:			
I am requesti Agreement	ng relea	ased time in accordance with	Article VI, Section	ns 6.1.1.6.1 and 6.1.1.6.2	of the Master
Course Num	ber	Course Na	 ame	Semester	Credit Hours
		DIES DESIGNATION:	A stiple VI Contin	r (1161h of the Mostor	Aggreent
Course	ng relea	ased time in accordance with	Article VI, Section	No. of Students	Cr Hr Load
Number	Cr Hr	Course Name	Semester	(Names)	Banked
		READER OF A GRADUA	,		
		GRADUATE RESEARCE			
I am requesti	ng relea	ased time in accordance with	Article IX, Section	n 9.1.4.4 of the Master Ag	reement

Assignment

Course Number

## PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Pursuant to Article VI, Section 6.1.1.6.1.d, below is my specific plan for professional development approved by my department head and dean for use of this released time. The plan must include the expected dates (semester and year) of the professional development activity and a brief explanation of the activity.

	sional Development Activity:	Semester(s)	
		Year	
<b>Expected Released Ti</b>	me:	Credit Hours	
Expected Activity:  Research  Professional Develo  Curriculum Develo	opment pment ical Time and Pay Combinations		
Faculty wishing to a Agreement.	use released-time credits sho	uld review Sections 6.1.1.	6.3-6.1.1.6.5 of the Master
0. 00			
The department must member uses banked	notify the Provost and Vice time not in conjunction with a used time and records and fund	sabbatical leave as no other	
The department must member uses banked	time not in conjunction with a	sabbatical leave as no other	
The department must member uses banked	time not in conjunction with a	sabbatical leave as no others must be adjusted.	
The department must member uses banked processed for the relea	time not in conjunction with a used time and records and fund	sabbatical leave as no others must be adjusted.	er employment paperwork is
The department must member uses banked processed for the release.  Faculty Member	time not in conjunction with a used time and records and fund	sabbatical leave as no others must be adjusted.	er employment paperwork is
The department must member uses banked processed for the relea	time not in conjunction with a used time and records and fund	sabbatical leave as no others must be adjusted.	er employment paperwork is
The department must member uses banked processed for the release	time not in conjunction with a used time and records and fund	sabbatical leave as no others must be adjusted.	er employment paperwork is
The department must member uses banked processed for the release.  Faculty Member  Approved:	time not in conjunction with a used time and records and fund	sabbatical leave as no others must be adjusted.	er employment paperwork is

## DESIGNATION OF AAUP RELEASED-TIME CREDIT

## Form Processing Instructions and Responsibilities

#### **Faculty Member:**

- 1) Obtain a copy of the Designation of AAUP Released-Time Credit form from the department office and complete. Allow enough time for processing at the department and dean levels so as not to miss submittal deadline (prior to the first day of the instructional assignment).
- 2) Forward completed form to department head for approval and signature.

### **Department Head:**

- 1) Review form, and if approved, sign in the designated area.
- 2) The department generates employment paperwork for the faculty assignment, except for Weekend and Offcampus assignments that are processed by the Continuing Education Department.
- 3) Retain copy of form and record data for monitoring faculty released time and professional development plans, and forward form to academic dean's office.

#### **Academic Dean:**

- 1) Review form, and if approved, sign in the designated area.
- 2) Retain copy of form as desired for college files.
- 3) Forward original form to the Human Resources Office-Payroll, with a copy to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.

#### **Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs:**

1) Verify that corresponding EPS paperwork is received. Record additions and withdrawals of released time and ensure proper transfer of funds.

Article VI, Section 6.1.1.6 of the Master Agreement is reprinted on the reverse side of this document.

(over)

January, 2004 Academic Affairs

## 2003-2006 NMU-AAUP MASTER AGREEMENT Released-Time Credit

#### 6.1.1.6 Released-Time Credit

In order to provide released time for faculty research, professional development, curriculum development, and to supplement sabbatical time and pay combinations, tenured faculty and faculty with Tenure Earning or Continuing contract status positions may earn and accumulate released-time credit as described in Sections 6.1.1.6.1 through 6.1.1.6.5. This program for earning and accumulating released time is intended to qualify as a compensatory time plan within the meaning of section 547(E)(11)(A)(I) of the Internal Revenue Code but shall not be interpreted as a reference to compensatory time as used in the Fair Labor Standards Act.

- 6.1.1.6.1 Released-time credits may only be earned for teaching overload classes (defined in Section 6.1.1.6.2) for which no monetary compensation is received according to the following system:
  - One (1) released-time credit shall be earned for each credit hour for on- or off-campus credit.
  - b. Released-time credit may be earned for graduate thesis direction as provided in Article IX, Section 9.1.4.4.
  - c. One-quarter (0.25) released-time credit shall be earned for each three- (3) or four- (4) credit course taught as a directed study.
  - d. A faculty member may not accrue more than twelve (12) credits of released time during the life of the Agreement.
  - e. In order to teach any course for released-time credit, a faculty member must sign a statement on the form for released-time credit indicating that the released time earned will be used for research, professional development, curriculum development, or to supplement sabbatical time and pay combinations. (See Appendix C for form.) A faculty member must submit and have approved a specific plan describing how the released time will be used for research, professional development, curriculum development, or to supplement sabbatical time and pay combinations prior to commencement of the course for which released-time credit is requested. If an approved plan for the use of released-time credit cannot be fulfilled, the faculty member and Provost and Vice president for Academic Affairs will seek to find a mutually agreed upon substitute plan to utilize released time prior to the faculty member's retirement.
  - f. Released time is subject to one hundred percent (100%) forfeiture if not used as provided above, except it will be paid upon the faculty members' total disability after approval for benefits by the University's long-term disability carrier, or upon the employee's death while in active University service (i.e., prior to effective date of retirement or other termination). Upon death, the released-time credit will be paid to the individual designated by the faculty member on the NMU Employee Authorization to Disburse Earnings and Allowances Form on file in the Human Resources Department. Released time paid at disability or death will be paid at the rate earned.
  - g. A faculty member cannot accept an overload or additional assignment while utilizing accrued released time.
- 6.1.1.6.2 An overload course is a course assigned to a faculty member by the department head which is in addition to the normal assigned professional responsibilities.
- 6.1.1.6.3 If faculty members wish to use released-time credits which have been or will have been earned before the beginning date of the sabbatical, the faculty member must apply for a full-year, half-pay or three-quarter-(3/4) pay option and indicate on the sabbatical application the amount of released time to be used as a supplement.
- 6.1.1.6.4 A faculty member intending to use four (4) hours or less of released time must seek the approval of the department head six (6) months in advance and have a plan for the use of the released-time credit on file (Section 6.1.1.6.1.d). Approval of the plan shall be discretionary with the department head.
- 6.1.1.6.5 The faculty member=s plan for the use of more than four (4) hours of released time, other than as a sabbatical supplement, must be approved by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs six (6) months in advance and have a plan for use of the released-time credit on file (Section 6.1.1.6.1.d). Approval of the plan shall be discretionary with the Provost and Vice President. For example, approval by the Provost and Vice President must be obtained to combine eight (8) hours of accrued released time with a four- (4) hour teaching assignment in order to fulfill the normal twelve- (12) hour teaching assignment for a semester.

Note: Section on Released-Time Credit above is located under Article VI in the NMU-AAUP Master Agreement.

January, 2004

## Appendix D Page 1

### **Bylaw Submittal - Document 1**

Office of Academic Affairs

## PROCEDURE FOR SUBMITTING AND SECURING FINAL ADOPTION OF DEPARTMENTAL BYLAW PROPOSALS

Note: The <u>Submittal Form for Approval of Departmental Bylaws</u> (Appendix D) serves as an important tracking and "disposition" device and should always note action taken by the department, AAUP Grievance Officer, CAC, and Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs at each step of the process. It should also note if "no action is taken" (by the department, for example, were it to choose not to take action on a further change suggested by the AAUP Grievance Officer or CAC).

#### **Submittal Form for Approval of Departmental Bylaws:**

The department submitting proposed bylaws or bylaw changes BEARS THE RESPONSIBILITY for monitoring the progression of their proposal through the acceptance/approval process. To assist the department in this task, a <u>Submittal Form for Approval of Departmental Bylaws</u> (hereinafter referred to as Submittal Form) has been developed (Appendix D). The department must fill out the top portion of the Submittal Form and send it as part of the electronic computer file with the proposed bylaws to the various individuals/groups in the process.

The approval bodies at each step are responsible for entering appropriate information describing the action they have taken with regard to the proposal, dating their action, and sending a copy of the Submittal Form to the originating department.

#### **Submittal Procedure for Approval of Departmental Bylaws:**

It is generally desirable (but not required) for departments to consult with the AAUP Grievance Officer and/or the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs about the content of prospective bylaw changes in the interest of avoiding later problems or pitfalls. When initiating the proposed submittal process, the steps below should be followed:

- Step 1. The department must submit an electronic computer file of the proposed bylaw document, together with the Submittal Form, to the AAUP Grievance Officer (with an electronic copy to the department head and dean). See Appendix D for Format for Submittal and Final Approval of Departmental Bylaw Proposals (Appendix D).
- Step 2. The AAUP Grievance Officer will note her/his disposition of the proposal on the next line of the Submittal Form, indicate acceptance when that applies, and electronically send the Submittal Form and the proposed document to the department.
- Step 3. If the bylaw changes affect promotion and/or tenure, the department shall submit the bylaw proposal to the CAC (with or without any changes to the proposal based on an advisory from the AAUP Grievance Officer). The CAC will, after its review, note its disposition of the proposal on the electronic Submittal Form and electronically send the form and bylaw proposal to the department.
- Step 4. When Step 2 and/or 3 is completed, the department shall submit electronically the bylaw proposal to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs (with or without any changes to the proposal based on advisories from the AAUP Grievance Officer and the CAC).
- Step 5. If the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs believes that further changes in the bylaw proposal are in order, she/he will communicate this to the department and electronically return the Submittal Form and proposed document to the department head. If the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs determines that the proposed bylaws are satisfactory, she/he will communicate this to the department.
- Step 6. Once the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs has approved the bylaw proposal, the approved bylaw must be altered on the computer file such that: the header will be changed to read: "Approved by Provost and Vice President (name) on (date)," along with deleting any other header that identifies the subject matter as "proposed" changes. This computer file will be downloaded and kept in the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs Office, and a hard copy of the bylaws will be made and sent as an attachment to the following:
  - --AAUP Grievance Officer
  - -- CAC and dean of appropriate College
  - --Originating department

#### **Bylaw Submittal - Document 2**

Office of Academic Affairs

## FORMAT FOR SUBMITTAL AND FINAL APPROVAL OF DEPARTMENTAL BYLAW PROPOSALS

When submitting proposed changes or amendments to a department's bylaws it is required that:

- 1. the department use as the base document an electronic version of the departmental bylaws most recently approved by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs;
- 2. the department have the base document entered in Microsoft Word format in a computer file [for either PC or Mac], setup using a scalable font, preferably 10 or 11 point, and using bold print and/or larger point font where it will assist the reader to identify major divisions, etc. within the document;
- 3. all words, phrases, sentences, paragraphs, etc. proposed for deletion from the base document be identified by using the strikeout (strikeout) feature of Microsoft Word (see attached sample);
- 4. all words, phrases, sentences, paragraphs, etc. proposed as new language for the base document be identified by using the shading shading feature of Microsoft Word [the strikeout and shading requirements are designed to assist those who must review this document and enable them to more easily ascertain what changes are being proposed] (see attached sample);
- 5. sections of the bylaws be numbered similarly to the AAUP Master Agreement in which sections are numbered on the left hand of the page (e.g., 2.2.3.3.3), freeing up all space to the right on the page for text;
- 6. a header is typed on all pages with the following statement:

"Proposed Bylaw Changes from (department) Draft Approved on (date)"

"Base Document Approved on (date)"

[Note: The date on the first line should correspond to the date when a vote on the bylaw changes was taken by the department, verifiable in the minutes of that meeting.]

February 2004; Academic Affairs

## **Bylaw Submittal - Document 3**

## Office of Academic Affairs

## SUBMITTAL FORM FOR APPROVAL OF DEPARTMENTAL BYLAWS

	(Department submitti	ng proposal) (Date approve	ed by department)
This proposa	al 🗌 <i>includes</i> changes	in specifications of standards for tenure and/or promotion	n
	☐ does not include	changes in specifications of standards for tenure and/or	promotion
Date	Date Reviewing Body Description of Action Taken		
	L	<u></u>	
Accep	oted/Approved by	Signature	Date
AAUP Griev	ance Officer		
College Adv	isory Council		
Provost and VPAA			

Updated: February 2004; Academic Affairs

#### BULLARD PLAWECKI EMPLOYEE RIGHT TO KNOW ACT (EXCERPT)

- 423.501. Short title; definitions.
- Sec.1. (1) This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act."
- (2) As used in this act:
- (a) "Employee" means a person currently employed or formerly employed by an employer.
- (b) "Employer" means an individual, corporation, partnership, labor organization, unincorporated association, the state, or an agency or a political subdivision of the state, or any other legal, business, or commercial entity which has four (4) or more employees and includes an agent of the employer.
- (c) "Personnel record" means a record kept by the employer that identifies the employee, to the extent that the record is used or has been used, or may affect or be used relative to that employee's qualifications for employment, promotion, transfer, additional compensation, or disciplinary action. A personnel record shall include a record in the possession of a person, corporation, partnership, or other association who has a contractual agreement with the employer to keep or supply a personnel record as provided in this subdivision. A personnel record shall not include:
  - (i) Employee references supplied to an employer if the identity of the person making the reference would be disclosed.
  - (ii) Materials relating to the employer's staff planning with respect to more than one employee, including salary increases, management bonus plans, promotions, and job assignments.
  - (iii) Medical reports and records made or obtained by the employer if the records or reports are available to the employee from the doctor or medical facility involved.
  - (iv) Information of a personal nature about a person other than the employee if disclosure of the information would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of the other person's privacy.
  - (v) Information that is kept separately from other records and that relates to an investigation by the employer pursuant to Section 9.
  - (vi) Records limited to grievance investigations which are kept separately and are not used for the purposes provided in this subdivision.
  - (vii) Records maintained by an educational institution which are directly related to a student and are considered to be education records under Section 513(a) of Title 5 of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, 20 U.S.C. 1232g.
  - (viii) Records kept by an executive, administrative, or professional employee that are kept in the sole possession of the maker of the record, and are not accessible or shared with other persons. However, a record concerning an occurrence or fact about an employee kept pursuant to this subparagraph may be entered into a personnel record if entered not more than six (6) months after the date of the occurrence or the date the fact becomes known.
- 423.509. Record of investigation of criminal activity of employee which may result in loss or damage to employer's property; record of criminal justice agency involved in investigation of criminal activity of employee.
- Sec. 9. (1) If an employer has reasonable cause to believe that an employee is engaged in criminal activity which may result in loss or damage to the employer's property or disruption of the employer's business operation, and the employer is engaged in an investigation, then the employer may keep a separate file of information relating to the investigation. Upon completion of the investigation or after two (2) years, whichever comes first, the employee shall be notified that an investigation was or is being conducted of the suspected criminal activity described in this section. Upon completion of the investigation, if disciplinary action is not taken, the investigative file and all copies of the material in it shall be destroyed.

P.A. 1978, No. 397, §1, Eff. Jan. 1, 1979.

#### LOCATION OF PERSONALLY-IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION

Listed below are some offices which may hold faculty records and the types of information that they may hold. Although an attempt has been made to identify all offices and information pertaining to your file, the list is not exhaustive.

#### A HUMAN RESOURCES

Employment application/resume; Employment Processing System (EPS) forms; salary letters; sick leave/disability certificates or letters; medical records and evaluations; 'ability to work' correspondence; unemployment and Workers' Compensation claim records; tuition benefit plan records; retirement and service award records; payroll history reports; time and attendance records; salary records; retirement plan selection cards; retirement reports; insurance applications; I-9 records; W-2, W-4, and MI-W-5.

#### B. PROVOST'S OFFICE

Employment application/resume; academic transcripts; salary letters; Employment Processing System (EPS) forms; sick leave/disability certificates or letters; disciplinary records; leave of absence records; citizenship status records; faculty award records.

#### C. DEAN'S OFFICE

Employment application/resume; salary letters; Employment Processing System (EPS) forms; sick leave/disability certificates or letters; materials concerning evaluations, tenure, promotion, and reappointment; disciplinary records; sabbatical leave records; leave of absence records.

D. DEPARTMENT OFFICE (where departments exist; in colleges without departments, these records will be located in the dean's office)

Employment application/resume; academic transcripts; salary letters; Employment Processing System (EPS) forms; sick leave/disability certificates or letters; materials concerning evaluations, tenure, promotion, and reappointment; disciplinary records; sabbatical leave records; leave of absence records.

#### E. COMMUNICATIONS AND MARKETING OFFICE

Curriculum vitae; background information; news releases; pictures; summary of area of expertise.

- F. The following offices may have records if you have participated in their purpose or used their services:
  - 1. Faculty Senate Office
  - 2. Admissions Office
  - 3. Equal Opportunity Office
  - 4. Graduate Studies Office
  - 5. Counseling and Consultation Services
  - 6. Housing Office
  - 7. Dean of Students Office
  - 8. Financial Services Office
  - 9. Department of Public Safety and Police Services
  - 10. Registrar's Office
  - 11. Vielmetti Health Center
  - 12. Archives
  - 13. Continuing Education and Sponsored Programs (for grants)

Prepared by: Academic Affairs

April, 2004

## Appendix G Page 1

NAME:	DATE:	
DEPARTMENT:		
	HIGAN UNIVERSITY LUATION REPORT	
	od endar Years)	
This is a confidential evaluation report on a member will not be divulged to persons not authorized to help any member of the faculty shall be restricted to the evaluation committee, dean, College Advisory Councifor Academic Affairs, President of the University, the have a legal reason to know the contents of the evaluation	prepare or read this report. Access faculty member, his/her department, Faculty Review Committee, Provided and of Trustees and its counsel,	to the personnel file of ent head, departmental ost and Vice President
Evaluation Period: Tenured Full Professors will be evannually. A Tenured Full Professor, the department request an annual evaluation.		•
Faculty evaluation is described in the NMU/AAUP A 5.2, and 5.5 through 5.7; and Articles VI, VIII, IX also	_	
Style: Writing in the evaluations is to be a narrative th	at is to the point and supported with	h evidence.
<u>NAME</u> <u>PO</u>	<u>OSITION</u>	<u>DATE</u>
Committee Members:		
Others:		

## NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY FACULTY EVALUATION REPORT

	Evaluation Period (1-2 Calendar Years)
Name:	Department:
1.	Part I Faculty member's statement of accomplishments during the evaluation period
1.1	in teaching, counseling, or librarianship; (attach statements, materials, and supporting documents, including student evaluation information)
1.2	in research, scholarship, creative endeavors, consulting, and other activities in professional development; (attach statements, materials, and supporting documents)
1.3	in service on committees, to the student body, and professionally related community service; (attach statements, materials, and supporting documents)
2.	Faculty member's statements of plans for the coming year (or evaluation period). The faculty member is asked to be specific in identifying assignments and plans in the area of teaching, research and service. The faculty members should note when such plans are contingent upon University or outside support (e.g., travel, sabbatical request, Fulbright application, released time for research).
Statem	Part II ents by the departmental evaluation committee and the department head.
3.	The statement by the committee shall comment on each section of Part 1 above and, when appropriate, indicate any improvement needed or any goals or standards to be achieved in order to be recommended for tenure and/or promotion, as defined by departmental bylaws.
	Committee's Statement:
	Chairperson of Departmental Evaluation Committee
4.	Department head's statement will indicate concurrence or nonconcurrence with the committee's evaluation or recommendation.
	Department Head's Statement:
	Department Head

## Appendix G Page 3

The signatures below do not indicate concurrence or nonconcurrence with the substance of the evaluation; they indicate only that the signer has read the evaluation. The faculty member or the dean may append a statement if that is considered necessary.

Faculty Member:		Date:	
	(signature)		
Dean:		Date:	
	(signature)		

c: Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs

(Form approved 3/14/86; Updated 2/04) Academic Affairs

## MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #1

#### **BETWEEN**

#### NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

#### AND

## AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PROFESSORS-NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY CHAPTER

2003

This Memorandum of Understanding executed between Northern Michigan University (hereinafter referred to as the University), and the American Association of University Professors-Northern Michigan University Chapter (hereinafter referred to as the Association), the recognized bargaining unit agent for certain faculty employed by the University, whereas the parties agree as follows:

A study committee will be formed by (February 15, 2004) to develop a process for the electronic submission and review of annual evaluation documents. Specifically, the committee will address the following:

- 1. the development of forms and appropriate media to be used
- 2. security
- 3. record maintenance

The committee shall consist of four (4) persons selected by the President of the Association and four (4) persons appointed by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. The committee shall submit its conclusions and recommendations to the President of the Association and to the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs not later than (May 4, 2004).

ON BEHALF OF THE NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES	
Alfred N. Joyal, III Provost and Vice President	
for Academic Affairs	
Dated:	
R. Gavin Leach	
Acting Chief Financial Officer	
Dated:	

### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #2 BETWEEN

#### NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

## AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PROFESSORS-NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY CHAPTER

2003

This Memorandum of Understanding executed between Northern Michigan University (hereinafter referred to as the University), and the American Association of University Professors-Northern Michigan University Chapter (hereinafter referred to as the Association), the recognized bargaining unit agent for certain faculty employed by the University, whereas the parties agree as follows:

The University and the Association agree to undertake a market study in the 2004-05 academic year to address the issue of salary compression. A study committee will be formed by February 15, 2004 to explore these issues as they relate to faculty compensation.

The committee shall consist of three (3) persons selected by the President of the Association and three (3) persons appointed by the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs. This committee shall submit its conclusions and recommendations to the President of the Association and the Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs by May 1, 2005. Any recommendations submitted by the committee shall be given serious consideration by both parties as they engage in discussions leading to a new Master Agreement in 2006.

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PROFESSORS-NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY CHAPTER	ON BEHALF OF THE NORTHERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Carol A. Johnson President	Alfred N. Joyal, III Provost and Vice President
Dated:	for Academic Affairs  Dated:
Brent M. Graves	R. Gavin Leach
Chief Negotiator	Acting Chief Financial Officer
Dated:	Dated:

## **INDEX**

Pa	age
AAIIDD G ' E D L C	_
AAUP Dues or Service Fees Deduction	
Academic Advising	
Academic Advising, Registration, and Student Consultation Responsibilities	
Academic Appointments	
Academic Freedom and Responsibility	
Academic Plan	
Academic Policy and General Faculty Affairs	
Academic Senate	14
Academic Senate Executive Committee	
Academic Support, Professional Development	
Academic Titles and Minimum Criteria for Appointment	
Full-Time Adjunct	
Instructor	
Assistant Professor	
Associate Professor	22
Professor	23
Professor Emeritus	23
Visiting Appointments	23
Additional On-Campus Assignment, Compensation for	64
Adjunct, Full Time (Academic Title)	22
Advising, Academic	40
Agency Shop	4
Annual Leave	53
Annualized Appointment	38
Appeals, Tenure and Promotion	
Appendix A: Faculty Evaluation Processing Forms	
Appendix B: Request for Authorization to Perform Consultant Service Form	
Appendix C: Designation of AAUP Released-Time Credit Form	
Appendix D: Bylaw Submission Procedure - Document 1	
Bylaw Submission Format - Document 2	
Submittal Form for Approval – Document 3	
Appendix E: Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Excerpt)	
Appendix F: Location of Faculty Records	
Appendix G: Faculty Evaluation Report Forms	
Appointment, Letter of	
Appointment Procedure, Faculty	
Appointments, Board Initiated	
Appointments, Initial Faculty	
Tenured	
Tenure Earning	
Term	
Assigned Responsibilities	
Assistant and Associate Department Head	
Association Dues or Service Fees Deduction Form	
Associations Use of Facilities and Services	
Association Treasurer Certification Form (Dues and Service Fees)	
Bargaining Unit Definition	
Benefits: Dental	
Benefits: Optical	
Benefits: Taxable	
Benefits, Hospitalization and Medical	
Benefits, Same-Sex Domestic Partner	
Board Initiated Appointments	23

Pa	ge
Bookstore Discount	71
Budget Reduction: Layoff and Recall	
Bylaws for Departments	
Bylaw Submission Format (also see Appendix D)	
Bylaw Submission Procedures (also see Appendix D)	
Step One: Grievance Officer	
Step Two: College Advisory Council (CAC)	
Step Three: Vice President for Academic Affairs	
Creating Bylaws for New Departments	
Modification of Bylaws for Existing Departments	
Standards Specified in Bylaws for Promotion	
Child Care and Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave	
Child Care Leave	
College Advisory Council (CAC)	
College Level Affairs	
Compensation and General Provisions for Off-Campus Extension	
and Field Course Duties	65
Compensation for Additional On-Campus Assignments	
Compensation (Salary and Fringe Benefits)	63
Complete Agreement	7
Consultant and Outside Activities	42
Counseling and Consultation Services and Library	42
Counseling and Consultation Services Faculty	
Consulting Form, Appendix B	80
Consultation with Students/Office Hours	40
Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During Leaves	61
Continuing Contract Status Appointments	
Curriculum or Academic Program Change	
Definitions	
Dental Benefits	
Departmental Affairs	
Department Head, Definition	
Department Head Evaluation	
Department Head Selection	
Dependent Care Assistance Plan	
Directed Studies	
Disability Insurance, Long-Term	
Disability, Short-Term	
Discipline and Dismissal	
Dismissal, Discipline and	
Dismissal of Faculty with Tenure	
Distance Education	
Drug Program, Prescription	
Dues or Service Fees Checkoff	
Association Dues and Service Fees Deduction Form	
Duration of Agreement	
Educational Policy Committee (EPC)	
Emeritus Faculty, Retirement	
Emeritus, Professor (Academic Title)	
Employment Agreement	
Enrollment Bonus	
Evaluation, Department Head	
Evaluation, Faculty	
Evaluation, Faculty Three Veer Cycle	22

Evaluation, Student         27           Evaluation Report, Faculty (Appendix A)         77           Evaluations Involving Applications for Promotion and Tenure         29           Evaluations Not Involving Applications for Promotion and Tenure         29           Exbersion Teaching Assignment and Compensation         65           Extension Teaching Assignment and Compensation         65           Faculty Appointment Procedure         23           Faculty Evaluation         23           Faculty Personnel Policies         26           Faculty Personnel Policies         20           Faculty Personnel Policies         20           Faculty Personnel Records         29           Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E)         88           Faculty Record Maintenance         31           Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F)         90           Faculty Review Committee (FRC)         17           Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave         58           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fieringe Benefits         66           General Provisions         1           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65		Page
Evaluation Report, Faculty (Appendix A)         77           Evaluations Involving Applications for Promotion and Tenure         29           Expert Witness Leave         56           Extension Teaching Assignment and Compensation         65           Faculty Affairs, General         17           Faculty Parly Evaluation         23           Faculty Personnel Procedure         23           Faculty Personnel Policies         20           Faculty Personnel Policies         20           Faculty Personnel Records         29           Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E)         88           Faculty Record Maintenance         31           Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F)         90           Faculty Review Committee (FRC)         17           Family Am Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave         58           Family Care Leave         55           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           General Provisions         1           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate R	Evaluation, Student	27
Evaluations Involving Applications for Promotion and Tenure.         29           Evaluations Not Involving Applications for Promotion and Tenure.         29           Expert Witness Leave.         56           Extension Teaching Assignment and Compensation.         65           Faculty Affairs, General.         17           Faculty Appointment Procedure.         23           Faculty Participation in Academic Affairs.         10           Faculty Participation in Academic Affairs.         10           Faculty Personnel Policies.         20           Faculty Personnel Records.         29           Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E).         88           Faculty Record Maintenance.         31           Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F).         90           Faculty Review Committee (FRC).         17           Family Care Leave.         58           Felexible Spending Accounts.         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fringe Benefits.         66           Foureral Leave.         56           General Provisions         1           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65		
Evaluations Not Involving Applications for Promotion and Tenure         29           Expert Witness Leave         56           Extension Teaching Assignment and Compensation         65           Faculty Affairs, General         17           Faculty Popointment Procedure         23           Faculty Personnel Procedure         23           Faculty Participation in Academic Affairs         10           Faculty Personnel Policies         20           Faculty Personnel Policies         29           Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E)         88           Faculty Record Maintenance         31           Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F)         90           Faculty Review Committee (FRC)         17           Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave         58           Family Care Leave         58           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Ficulty Devisions         73           Ficulty Devisions         65           Fineral Leave         56           General Provisions         1           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           <		
Sexement Witness Leave		
Extension Teaching Assignment and Compensation		
Faculty Affairs, General   17   17   17   17   17   17   17   1		
Faculty Appointment Procedure.         23           Faculty Evaluation         23           Faculty Orientation Week         7           Faculty Personnel Policies         20           Faculty Personnel Records         29           Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E)         88           Faculty Record Maintenance.         31           Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F).         90           Faculty Review Committee (FRC)         17           Family And Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave         58           Family Care Leave         55           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Firinge Benefits         66           General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graulate Research, Compensation         65           Graulate Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57 <tr< td=""><td></td><td></td></tr<>		
Faculty Evaluation		
Faculty Participation in Academic Affairs		
Faculty Participation in Academic Affairs		
Faculty Personnel Policies   20   20   20   29   29   29   29   29		
Paculty Personnel Records   29     Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E)   88     Faculty Record Maintenance   31     Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F)   90     Paculty Review Committee (FRC)   17     Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave   58     Family Care Leave   55     Flexible Spending Accounts   73     Flexible Spending Accounts   73     Flexible Spending Accounts   74     Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for   65     Fringe Benefits   66     Funeral Leave   56     General Provisions   1     Grade Appeals, Student Initiated   40     Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction   65     Graduate Research, Compensation   65     Graduate Research, Compensation   65     Gratuate Research   70     Graduate Research   18     Step Two: Review Board   18     Step Two: Review Board   18     Step Three: Binding Arbitration   19     Health Benefits   66     Holidays   57     Holspitalization and Medical Benefits   66     Holidays   57     Holspitalization and Medical Benefits   40     Instructional Responsibilities   40     Instructional Responsibilities   40     Instructional Teaching Load   38     Instructional Teaching Load   38     Instructional Teaching Load   72     Insurance, Optical   72     Insurance, General Liability   72     Insurance, General Liability   72     Insurance, General Liability   72     Insurance, Optical   72     Insurance, Optical   72     Insurance, Optical   73     Independental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion   33     Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion   33     Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion   33     Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation   34     Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During   61     Leaves of Absence   48		
Bullard Plawecki Employment Right to Know Act (Appendix E).  Reaculty Record Maintenance		
Faculty Record Maintenance.         31           Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F).         90           Faculty Review Committee (FRC).         17           Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave.         58           Family Care Leave.         55           Flexible Spending Accounts.         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fringe Benefits.         66           Fenneral Leave.         56           General Provisions.         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated.         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction.         65           Graduate Research, Compensation.         65           Grant Programs.         41           Grievance Procedure.         18           Step One.         18           Step Two: Review Board.         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration.         19           Health Benefits.         66           Holidays.         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits.         66           fullness or Disability Leave.         62           instructional Responsibilities.         40           Instructional Responsibilities.         40		
Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F)	Faculty Record Maintenance.	31
Faculty Review Committee (FRC).         17           Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave.         58           Family Care Leave.         55           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fringe Benefits.         66           Founeral Leave.         56           General Provisions.         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction.         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Gratuate Research, Compensation         65           Gratuate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction.         18           Step These Research, Practicum and Theses Direction.         18           Step These Research, Practicum and Theses Direction.         19           He	Location of Faculty Records (Appendix F)	90
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave         58           Family Care Leave         55           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Frield Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fringe Benefits         66           General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Grant Programs         41           Grievance Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration/Reports         3           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, Optical         72           Joint Appointment         22           Joint Appointment         22 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>		
Family Care Leave         55           Flexible Spending Accounts         73           Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fringe Benefits         66           Forneral Leave         56           General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Step One         18		
Flexible Spending Accounts   73		
Field Course Duties, Compensation and General Provisions for         65           Fringe Benefits         66           Funeral Leave         56           General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Grant Programs         41           Grievance Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Information/Reports         3           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, Life         69           Insurance, Cife         69           Insurance, Optical         72           Joint Appointment         22           Joint Appointment, Definition		
Fringe Benefits         66           Funeral Leave         56           General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Grant Programs         41           Grievance Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Information/Reports         3           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, General Liability         72           Insurance, Optical         72           Ioint Appointment         22           Ioint Appointment         22           Indegmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Iudgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Iudgmental Crite		
Funeral Leave         56           General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Grant Programs         41           Grievance Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Instructional Responsibilities         3           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, General Liability         72           Insurance, Life         69           Insurance, Optical         72           Ioint Appointment         22           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Jury Duty Leave         57           Layoff and Recall		
General Provisions         1           Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Graduate Research, Compensation         65           Grant Programs         41           Grievance Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Information/Reports         3           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, General Liability         72           Insurance, Ufe         69           Insurance, Optical         72           Joint Appointment         22           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation         33           Jury Duty Leave         57           Layoff an		
Grade Appeals, Student Initiated         40           Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction         65           Grant Programs         41           Grievance Procedure         18           Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, Life         69           Insurance, Life         69           Insurance, Optical         72           Ioint Appointment         22           Ioint Appointment         22           Ioint Appointment         22           Indigmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Bealuation         33           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Bealuation         34		
Graduate Research, Practicum and Theses Direction65Graduate Research, Compensation65Grant Programs41Grievance Procedure18Step One18Step Two: Review Board18Step Three: Binding Arbitration19Health Benefits66Holidays57Hospitalization and Medical Benefits66Illness or Disability Leave62Immigration32Information/Reports3Instructional Responsibilities40Instructional Teaching Load38Insurance, Dental72Insurance, General Liability72Insurance, Optical72Joint Appointment22Joint Appointment22Joint Appointment22Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion33Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation33Jury Duty Leave57Layoff and Recall44Leaves of Absence48		
Graduate Research, Compensation       65         Grant Programs       41         Grievance Procedure       18         Step One       18         Step Two: Review Board       18         Step Three: Binding Arbitration       19         Health Benefits       66         Holidays       57         Hospitalization and Medical Benefits       66         Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Optical       72         Ioint Appointment       22         Ioint Appointment, Definition       2         Indigmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Judy Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves of Absence       48		
Grant Programs       41         Grievance Procedure       18         Step One       18         Step Two: Review Board       18         Step Three: Binding Arbitration       19         Health Benefits       66         Holidays       57         Hospitalization and Medical Benefits       66         Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Grievance Procedure       18         Step One       18         Step Two: Review Board       18         Step Three: Binding Arbitration       19         Health Benefits       66         Holidays       57         Hospitalization and Medical Benefits       66         Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Step One         18           Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Information/Reports         3           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Instructional Teaching Load         38           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, General Liability         72           Insurance, Life         69           Insurance, Optical         72           Joint Appointment         22           Joint Appointment, Definition         2           Indigmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation         33           Jury Duty Leave         57           Layoff and Recall         44           Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During         61           Leaves of Absence         48	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Step Two: Review Board         18           Step Three: Binding Arbitration         19           Health Benefits         66           Holidays         57           Hospitalization and Medical Benefits         66           Illness or Disability Leave         62           Immigration         32           Information/Reports         3           Instructional Responsibilities         40           Insurance, Dental         72           Insurance, General Liability         72           Insurance, Life         69           Insurance, Optical         72           Joint Appointment         22           Joint Appointment, Definition         2           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion         33           Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation         33           Jury Duty Leave         57           Layoff and Recall         44           Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During         61           Leaves of Absence         48		
Step Three: Binding Arbitration       19         Health Benefits       66         Holidays       57         Hospitalization and Medical Benefits       66         Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Health Benefits       66         Holidays       57         Hospitalization and Medical Benefits       66         Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Ioint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Indigmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48	-	
Holidays		
Hospitalization and Medical Benefits       66         Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Illness or Disability Leave       62         Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Immigration       32         Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Information/Reports       3         Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48	•	
Instructional Responsibilities       40         Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Instructional Teaching Load       38         Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Insurance, Dental       72         Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Insurance, General Liability       72         Insurance, Life       69         Insurance, Optical       72         Joint Appointment       22         Joint Appointment, Definition       2         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion       33         Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation       33         Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48		
Insurance, Life		
Insurance, Optical		
Joint Appointment22Joint Appointment, Definition2Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion33Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation33Jury Duty Leave57Layoff and Recall44Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During61Leaves of Absence48		
Joint Appointment, Definition2Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion33Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation33Jury Duty Leave57Layoff and Recall44Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During61Leaves of Absence48	•	
Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion33Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation33Jury Duty Leave57Layoff and Recall44Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During61Leaves of Absence48		
Judgmental Criteria for Tenure Evaluation33Jury Duty Leave57Layoff and Recall44Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During61Leaves of Absence48		
Jury Duty Leave       57         Layoff and Recall       44         Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During       61         Leaves of Absence       48	•	
Layoff and Recall		
Leaves, Continuation of Fringe Benefits and Coverage During		
Leaves of Absence		
Leaves, Other		
Annual Leave 53		

Pa	ge
Expert Witness Leave	
Faculty Exchange Leave	
Family Care Leave	
Funeral Leave	
Holidays, Twelve-month Faculty	57
Involuntary Sick Leave	55
Jury Duty Leave	
Personal Leave Days, Twelve-month Faculty	53
Sick Leave	54
Leaves without Pay	
Child Care Leave	57
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Leave	58
Illness or Disability Leave	
Military Leave of Absence	
Personal Leaves	
Political Activity Leave	
Professional Development Leaves	
Letter of Appointment	
Liability Insurance, General	
Library, Consulting	
Life Insurance	
Limited Appointment Status	
Load, Teaching	
Lockout, No Strike or	
Long-Term Disability Insurance	
Long-Term Disability Leave, Return from	
Tenured, Tenure Earning, Continuing, or Term Status at Return	
Management Rights Moult #2	
Market/Salary Compression Study Committee, MOU #2	
Medical Benefits, Hospitalization and	
Meet and Confer	
Merit Distribution	
Military Leave of Absence	
Minimum Criteria for Appointment	
Minimum Salaries	
MOU #1: Electronic Evaluation Study Committee	
MOU #2: Market/Salary Compression Study Committee	
Negotiations	
Negotiation Teams, Members of	
Nondiscrimination Clause	
Noninstructional Faculty Load	
Off-Campus Extension and Field Course Duties	
Office Hours/Consultation with Students	
On-Campus Assignment, Additional	64
Travel Reimbursement	65
Ongoing Faculty	1
Optical Benefits	72
Orientation Week, Faculty	. 7
Outside Activities	
Overload, Definition	
Overload Limit, Off-Campus Assignment	
Overload Limit, On-Campus Assignment	
Overload Limit, Summer College Assignment	
Overload Teaching Assignment and Compensation	

Pa	age
Dealing Free	72
Parking Fees	
Personal Leave Days	
Personal Leaves	
Personnel Records, Faculty	
Political Activity Leave	
Premium Conversion Plans	
Prescription Drug Program	
Practicum Compensation	
Probationary Period, Tenure Policy	
Professional Accomplishments	
Professional Development	
Professional Development Leaves	
Professional Responsibilities	. 38
Professional Responsibilities: Other Provisions	
Promotion and Tenure Policy	
Appeal of Promotion Recommendation	
Departmental Eligibility and Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion	
Eligibility Criteria	
General Principles	
Judgmental Criteria for Promotion and Tenure Evaluation	
Promotion Review	
Process, Promotion Review Process	. 34
Promotion Review Process, Timetable for	36
Promotion, Salary	63
Recall, Layoff and	44
Recognition, of Association (also see Article VI, Section 6.7.1)	2
Recommendations to EPC	16
Recreation Membership	71
Reduced Appointment	
Reductions or Reallocations of Academic Positions	
Registration Responsibilities	40
Released-Time, Academic Governance	
Released-Time Credit	
Released Time, Academic Information Services Faculty	
Reports/Information	
Responsibilities, Academic Advising	
Responsibilities, Instructional	
Responsibilities, Professional	
Responsibilities, Student Consultation	
Retired Faculty Benefits, Additional	
Retirement	
Additional Retired Faculty Benefits	
Definition of	
Support Services	
Teaching and Consultation	
Return from Long-Term Disability	
Sabbatical Leaves	
Application Procedure	
CAC, Role of	
Eligibility Evaluation Criteria	
FRC, Role of	
Guidelines & Requirements	
Net Replacement	
Professional Development	48

	<u>Page</u>
Purpose	48
Research, Scholarship and Creative Works	
Return Policy	
Review Procedure	
Schedule, Application	
Support	
Support from Other Sources.	
Time and Pay Combinations	
Salaries, Minimum	
Salary	
Salary Increases	
Salary Increases, Effective Dates	
Salary, Merit	
Salary, Promotions	
Salary, Summer College	
Same-Sex Domestic Partner Benefits	
Scholarship, Four Forms of (Tenure and Promotion)	
Scholarships, Tuition	
Separability; Minimum Requirements; Negotiations	
Severance Incentive Plan	
Short-Term Disability	
Sick Leave	
Sick Leave, Involuntary	
Sick Leave, Review of Physician's Evaluation	
Strike or Lockout, No	
Student Consultation Responsibilities	
Student-Initiated Appeal of Grades	
Summer College Assignment and Salary	
Supplemental Travel Funds	
Syllabus Requirement	
Taxable Benefits	73
Teaching Load	
Tenured Appointment	20
Tenure Earning Appointment	20
Tenure and Promotion Policy	31
Appeal of Tenure Recommendation	36
Departmental Eligibility and Judgmental Criteria for Tenure/Promotion	34
General Principles	31
Judgmental Criteria for Tenure and Promotion Evaluation	33
Notice of Termination	
Probationary Period	32
Tenure Review Process	34
Tenure Review Process, Timetable for	36
Term Appointment	20
Theses, Compensation	65
Time Limit, Definition	1
Travel Allocation	41
Travel, Reimbursement for Off-Campus Courses	
Travel, Supplemental	
Tuition Scholarships	
Unit Definition	
University-Wide Affairs	
Use of Facilities and Services, Association	
Visiting Appointments	23

	Page
Voluntary Authorization for Deduction of	
Association Dues or Service Fees Form	6
Workers' Compensation	55
Workload, Instructional Faculty	38
Workload, Noninstructional Faculty	38
Work of the Unit (Other Provisions)	42